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PART I
Throughout this Form 10-K we "incorporate by reference" certain information from parts of other documents filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). The SEC allows us to disclose important information by referring to it in that manner.
Please refer to such information.
In Item 1A, we discuss some of the business risks and factors that could cause the Company's actual results to differ materially
from those stated in our forward-looking statements and from our historical results.
Item 1. BUSINESS
Overview of Our Business
We are a customer focused, national supplier of high-quality consumer tissue products. We produce bulk tissue paper, known as
parent rolls, and convert parent rolls into finished products, including paper towels, bathroom tissue and paper napkins. We generally sell
parent rolls not required by our converting operation to other converters. Our integrated manufacturing facilities have flexible production
capabilities, which allow us to produce high quality tissue products within short production times for customers in our target regions. This
vertical integration, a low variable cost per unit, and the use of operating leverage in securing a higher contribution margin on added
volume, we believe, all provide competitive advantage from a cost standpoint. We predominately sell our products under private labels to
our core customer base in the “at home” market, which consists primarily of dollar stores, discount retailers and grocery stores that offer
limited alternatives across a wide range of products. Our focus historically has been the dollar stores (which are also referred to as discount
retailers) and the broader discount retail market because of their overall market growth, consistent order patterns and low number of stock
keeping units (“SKUs”). The “at-home” tissue market consists of several quality levels, including a value tier, premium tier and ultrapremium tier. To a lesser extent, we service customers in the “away from home” market. Our core customer base in the “away from home”
market consists of companies in the janitorial market and food service market. Most of the products we sell in the “away from home”
market are included in the value tier. While we expect to continue to service this market in the near term, we currently do not consider the
“away from home” market a growth vehicle for us.
Our facilities have been designed to have the flexibility to produce and convert parent rolls across different product tiers and to use
both virgin and recycled fibers to maximize quality and to control costs. We own an integrated facility in Pryor, Oklahoma with modern
paper making and converting equipment, which primarily services the central United States. We recently invested approximately $39
million at this facility for a new paper machine and a new converting line. The new paper machine commenced operations in the first
quarter of 2015 and provides us with an additional 17,000 tons of parent roll capacity. The new paper machine has improved our margins
by reducing our manufacturing cost and providing us additional parent roll capacity, resulting in total capacity of approximately 74,000
tons of parent rolls per year at our Pryor facility. In addition, our new converting line commenced operations in June 2015, adding 12,500
tons of capacity, for a total of 82,500 tons of converting capacity in our Pryor facility. In June 2014, we expanded our geographic presence
to service the United States West coast through a strategic transaction with Fabrica de Papel San Francisco, S.A. de C.V. (“Fabrica”), one
of the largest tissue manufacturers by capacity in Mexico (the “Fabrica Transaction”). The Fabrica Transaction provided us exclusive
access to Fabrica’s U.S. customers, enabling us to further penetrate the region, and the supply agreement (“Supply Agreement”) we entered
into with Fabrica has provided access to up to 19,800 tons of product each year at cost.
As part of our strategy to be a national supplier of high quality consumer tissue products, we constructed a world-class integrated
tissue operation in Barnwell, South Carolina, which is expected to be operational in the first half of 2017. We believe that this new facility
will allow us to better serve our existing customers in the Southeastern United States, while also enabling us to penetrate new customers in
this region. The facility is designed to provide highly flexible, cost competitive production across all quality tiers with paper making
capacity of between 35,000 and 40,000 tons per year and converting capacity of between 30,000 and 32,000 tons per year. The first
converting line was operational by the end of the first quarter of 2016 and the second converting line was operational by the end of the third
quarter of 2016. The paper machine will utilize a highly versatile process capable of producing all quality grades, including ultra-premium
tier products. We estimate the total costs of the project to be approximately $150 million, which are being financed through a combination
of bank debt, the proceeds from our April 2015 follow-on stock offering, financing related to a New Market Tax Credit transaction, and
operating cash flows.
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Converted Products
The capacity of our twelve converting lines in Pryor, Oklahoma and two converting lines in Barnwell, South Carolina,are highly
dependent upon the mix of products produced (e.g. bath tissue versus paper towels versus napkins) and the configuration of products
produced (e.g. one roll pack versus multi-roll packs, the size of multi-roll packs (6-count versus 8-count versus 12-count), and sheet
counts), and other factors affecting effective operational efficiencies. We have increased our capabilities to emboss, print, and scent our
converted products as part of our innovation strategy.
Parent Rolls
We purchase various types of fibers to manufacture bulk rolls of tissue paper, called "parent rolls," which we then convert into a
broad line of finished tissue products. The fiber we source to manufacture our parent rolls primarily consists of pre-consumer recycled
grades, with a lesser amount consisting of virgin kraft grades. As we continue our efforts to expand our product offerings into the higher
quality tiers of the market, the percentage of virgin kraft grades that we purchase will likely increase. Our paper mill in Pryor has a pulping
process, which takes recycled fibers and kraft fibers and processes them for use in our three paper machines. Our pulping operation has the
ability to selectively process our mixed basket of fibers to achieve maximum quality and to control costs. In 2015, we replaced two of our
older paper machines in Pryor with a new paper machine, which increased our tissue paper making capacity from approximately 57,000
tons to approximately 74,000 tons, depending upon the mix of paper grades produced. The new machine also reduced our manufacturing
costs, improved product quality and increased manufacturing flexibility.
Generally, our parent roll production operation runs on a 24/7 operating schedule. Parent rolls we produce in excess of converting
production requirements are sold, subject to other inventory management considerations, on the open market. Our strategy is to sell all of
the parent rolls we manufacture as converted products (such as paper towels, bathroom tissue and napkins), which generally carry higher
margins than non-converted parent rolls. Parent rolls are a commodity product and thus are subject to market pricing. We plan to continue
to sell any excess parent roll capacity on the open market as long as market pricing is profitable. When converting production requirements
exceed paper mill capacity, we supplement our paper making capacity by purchasing parent rolls on the open market, which we believe has
an unfavorable impact on our gross profit margin. During the construction phase of our new paper machine, our total tissue paper
production was reduced and we were required to purchase parent rolls on the outside market during the fourth quarter of 2014 and first
quarter of 2015 to meet our converting requirements. In 2014, we ran all of our paper machines on a full-time basis until we began
decommissioning two older paper machines in September of 2014 in preparation of construction and installation of the new paper machine.
Customers
We supply both large national customers and regional customers while targeting high growth regions of the United States and high
growth distribution channels. Our largest customers are Dollar General and Family Dollar, which accounted for 50% of our converted
product sales in 2016. Our products are a daily consumable item. Therefore, the order stream from our customer base is fairly consistent
with limited seasonal fluctuations. Changes in the national economy do not materially affect the market for our products due to their nondiscretionary nature and high degree of household penetration; however, discount stores, a principal element of our customer base, may
have higher sales during economic downturns. Demand for tissue typically grows in line with overall population, and our customers are
typically located in regions of the U.S. where the population is growing faster than the national average. Private label markets have been
growing as more consumers watch for value; however, competition between brand names and private labels continue a give and take. We
are also introducing and expanding upon our brand-lines.
We focus our sales efforts on areas within approximately 500 miles of our manufacturing facilities, as we believe this radius
maximizes our freight cost advantage. Our target region around our Oklahoma facility includes the lower Mid-West. The Fabrica
Transaction allowed us to more effectively service customers that are located in the Southwest. We believe our manufacturing facility in
Barnwell, South Carolina will help us meet the growing demand in the Southeast. Demand for tissue in the “at home” tissue market has
historically been closely correlated to population growth and, as such, performs well in a variety of economic conditions. Our expanded
target region has experienced strong population growth in the past years relative to the national average, and these trends are expected to
continue.
2

Our products are sold primarily under our customers’ private labels and, to a lesser extent, under our brand names such as Orchids
Supreme, Clean Scents, Tackle®, Colortex®, My Size®, Velvet®, and Big Mopper®. The Fabrica Transaction gave us the exclusive right
to sell products under Fabrica’s brand names in the United States, including under the names Virtue®, Truly Green®, Golden Gate Paper®
and Big Quality®. All of our converted product net sales are derived through truckload purchase orders from our customers. Parent roll net
sales are derived from purchase orders that generally cover a one-month time-period. We do not have supply contracts with any of our
customers, which is the standard practice within our industry.
In 2016, we generated net revenue of $164.5 million, of which 96% came from the sale of converted products and 4% came from
the sale of parent rolls. Our converted product revenue consisted of 46% from paper towels, 52% from bathroom tissue, and 2% from paper
napkins. In 2016, 50% of our converted product net revenue came from two discount retailers. The balance of 2016 converted product net
sales came from other discount retailers, grocery stores, grocery wholesalers and cooperatives, convenience stores, janitorial supply
companies and companies in the food service market.
Our profitability depends on several key factors, including but not limited to:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

the volume of converted product sales;
the cost of fiber used in producing paper;
the market price of our products;
the efficiency of operations in both our paper mill and converting facilities; and
the cost of energy.
the costs of labor and maintenance;
financial leverage undertaken, inclusive of its impacts upon interest expense and debt service;
capital spending requirements, inclusive of impacts upon depreciation; and
working capital and other cash flow management

The private label tissue market is highly competitive, and many discount retail customers are extremely price sensitive. As a
result, it is difficult to affect price increases. We expect these competitive conditions to continue.
History
We were formed in April 1998 following the acquisition of our present facilities located in Pryor, Oklahoma and subsequently
changed our name to Orchids Paper Products Company. In July 2005, we completed our initial public offering, and in July 2009, we
completed a follow-on stock offering. In 2014, in conjunction with the Fabrica Transaction, we acquired certain papermaking and
converting assets located in Mexicali, Mexico, as well as Fabrica’s U.S. business. In April 2015, we completed a follow-on stock offering.
The proceeds of $32.1 million were used to help fund the construction of our greenfield site in Barnwell, South Carolina.
Competitive Conditions
We believe the principal competitive factors in the markets in which we operate are product-quality attributes, price, customer
service, positive customer-relationships, low cost, investing capital wisely in modern equipment and technologies, a strategically located
manufacturing footprint, innovation to differentiate our products, an experienced management team with a proven track record, a broad line
of product offering, and flexible converting capabilities. This flexibility allows us to meet the particular demands of individual retailers.
We believe the product quality attributes that can be produced from our converting lines, new processes on our newest paper machines and
other new product development initiatives will allow us to effectively compete in the higher tier markets.
Competition in the tissue market is significantly affected by geographic location, as freight costs represent a material portion of
end-product costs. We believe it is generally economically feasible for us to ship within an approximate 900-mile radius of the production
site; however, we primarily focus on an approximate 500-mile radius, as we believe this radius maximizes our freight cost advantage over
our competitors. In our markets, we believe there are the following significant private-label competitors: Georgia Pacific, Cascades,
Sofidel, Clearwater Paper Corporation, Kruger Inc., Resolute Forest Products, Royal Paper, and Asia Pulp and Paper.
The private label tissue market is highly fragmented. Large capital expenditures required to establish a paper mill and converting
facility and difficulties in obtaining environmental and local permits for parent roll manufacturing facilities may discourage new entrants
into the market. A number of competitors have been announcing their own capacity expansions, principally in structured tissue, intended to
service the ultra-premium market. Population growth and other trends may consume the added capacity within the next three years, but the
greater impact may be upon the ultra-premium products and their margins, a market that Orchids has only be servicing on the West Coast,
prior to constructing its Barnwell, South Carolina, facility. The Barnwell, South Carolina, facility is the only private-label manufacturer, of
whom we are aware, using a relatively new ultra-premium tissue capability developed by Valmet that is expected to produce a high-quality
structured tissue at a lower cost than the NTT technology announced by others.
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Product Overview
We offer our customers an array of private label products, including bathroom tissue, paper towels and paper napkins, across the
value, premium and ultra-premium market segments. In 2016, 49% of our converted product case shipments were paper towels, 49% were
bathroom tissue and 2% were paper napkins. Of our converted products sold in 2016, 71% were packaged as private label products in
accordance with our customers' specifications. The remaining 29% were packaged under our brands and those licensed from Fabrica. We
have not actively promoted our brand names and do not believe our brand names have significant market recognition, however through
innovation and future promotions, we hope to change this. Our core customer base consists of discount retailers (including dollar stores).
We also sell our products to grocery stores, grocery wholesalers and cooperatives, convenience stores, janitorial supply stores and stores in
the food service market. Our recent growth has come from providing products from all market tiers to discount retailers, primarily dollar
stores, as well as grocery stores. We believe we were among the first to focus on serving customers in the discount retail channel and we
have benefited from their increased emphasis on consumables, such as tissue products and the expansion of their private label product line
into higher tiers as part of their merchandising strategies. By seeking to provide improved product quality, consistently competitive prices,
and superior customer service, we believe we have differentiated ourselves from our competitors and generated momentum with discount
retailers. In 2016, approximately 67% of our converted product net sales were derived from sales to the discount retail channel.
With strategic capital investments and new product development work on our paper machines and converting equipment, we are
increasingly able to provide higher quality products and broaden our product offering into the higher tier markets through improved quality
of paper, increased packaging configurations, enhanced graphics, improved embossing, and use of scents. The following graph shows
shipments of our premium and ultra-premium tier products as a percentage of total cases shipped. Shipments of premium tier and ultrapremium tier products as a percentage of total cases shipped decreased following the Fabrica Transaction in June 2014 as a majority of the
products shipped under the Supply Agreement are considered value tier products. Further, demand for our value products has outpaced that
for higher grades. The Barnwell, South Carolina, paper mill, when completed in 2017 will have the flexibility to produce all grades of
paper whereas Pryor’s mill has the ability to produce value and premium grades.
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Our ability to increase net sales depends significantly upon our ability to win private label bids and grow our own brands. We have
been bidding, with new and existing retailers, into new distribution channels and into premium and ultra-premium tier markets. We are
focusing on diversifying our customer base and reducing customer concentration by implementing private label programs with grocery store
customers and new discount retailers.
Our largest customers are Dollar General and Family Dollar. Sales to these two customers represented 50% of our converted
product sales in 2016. The following provides additional details regarding our relationships with our largest customers:
Dollar General. Dollar General is our largest customer, accounting for approximately 36% of our net sales in 2016. With annual
revenue of $20.4 billion and 13,000 stores in 43 states, Dollar General is the largest small-box discount retailer in the United States. We
currently supply value tier products to six of Dollar General's 14 distribution centers and supply premium tier products to all of Dollar
General's distribution centers.
Family Dollar. Family Dollar, which became a wholly owned subsidiary of Dollar Tree in 2015, is our second largest customer,
accounting for approximately 14% of our net sales in 2016. Family Dollar is a leading discount retailer with more than 8,200 stores in 46
states. Family Dollar currently has eleven distribution centers throughout the United States. We currently supply value tier products to all
of Family Dollar's distribution centers and premium tier products to five of Family Dollar's distribution centers.
Sales and Marketing Team
We maintain an internal sales team of seven employees led by our Vice President of Sales and Marketing. Our sales staff directly
services seven customers representing approximately 72% of our sales in 2016 and indirectly services all other customers by supervising
our network of approximately 40 brokers. Our sales staff and broker network are instrumental in establishing and maintaining strong
relationships with our customers. Our management team recognizes that these brokers have relationships with many of our customers, and
we work with these brokers in an effort to increase our business with these accounts. Our sales and marketing organization seeks to
collaborate with our brokers to leverage these relationships. With each of our key customers, however, our senior management team
participates with the independent brokers in all critical customer meetings to establish and maintain direct customer relationships.
A majority of our brokers provide marketing support to their retail accounts, which includes shelf placement of products and instore merchandising activities to support our product distribution. We generally pay our brokers commissions ranging from 1% to 3% of
the sales they generate. Commissions totaling $1.1 million and $1.1 million were paid in the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.
Manufacturing
We own and operate a paper mill, converting facility and a finished goods warehouse, located in Pryor, Oklahoma. Additionally,
we own and operate a new converting facility in Barnwell, South Carolina, which began production during 2016, with one converting line
beginning operations in first quarter and the second converting line beginning operations in the third quarter. As a result of the Fabrica
Transaction, we own papermaking and converting assets in Mexicali, Mexico, which are operated by Fabrica under a lease agreement
(“Equipment Lease Agreement”). The following table sets forth our volume, in tons, of parent rolls manufactured, sold, purchased and
converted for each of the past five years, including products produced in Mexico by Fabrica subsequent to the Fabrica Transaction in June
2014:
Year Ended December 31,
2014
2013
(In tons)
91,326
68,023
57,734
(7,436)
(4,922)
(6,726)
2,963
492
1,155
86,853
63,593
52,163

2016
Total manufactured
Sold to third parties
Purchased from third parties
Converted

2015

92,580
(7,048)
261
85,793
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2012
56,775
(10,334)
46,441

Pryor, Oklahoma Facility
Our Oklahoma paper mill, which consists of two facilities totaling 162,000 square feet and a 29,400 square foot paper warehouse,
produces parent rolls that are then converted into tissue products at our adjacent converting facility or are sold to other converters. The
paper mill facility has three paper machines, which produce paper made primarily from pre-consumer solid bleached sulfate paper, or "SBS
paper." We utilize these high grades of recycled fiber along with a basket of other fibers, including virgin bleached pulp kraft fiber such as
northern bleached softwood, eucalyptus and northern bleached hardwood, to produce our parent rolls. The mix of fiber used is dependent
upon the quality attributes required for the particular grades of product. As we continue our efforts to gain converted product business in
the higher quality premium and ultra-premium tier markets, we expect to increase our use of virgin bleached pulp kraft fiber to produce a
portion of the paper that will service these higher tier markets. However, new de-inking technologies may permit the use of an increased
percentage of recycled fiber in the higher-grade papers in the future.
Generally, our Oklahoma paper mill operates 24 hours a day, 363 days a year, with a two-day annual planned maintenance
shutdown. Our parent roll production capacity has typically exceeded the requirements of our converting operation and any excess parent
rolls that we have we sell into the open market. However, in September of 2014, we demolished two older paper machines in order to begin
construction of the new paper machine, which started up in March 2015. As a result, we purchased parent rolls from third parties during the
fourth quarter of 2014 and the first quarter of 2015.
We convert parent rolls into finished tissue products at our converting facility. The converting process, which varies slightly by
product category, generally includes embossing, laminating, and perforating or cutting the parent rolls as they are unrolled; pressing two or
more plies together in the case of multiple-ply products; printing designs for certain products and cutting into rolls or stacks; wrapping in
polyethylene film; the addition of scents to the core when specified, and packing in corrugated boxes or on display-ready pallets for
shipment.
In our 300,000 square-foot Oklahoma converting facility, we operate our higher-speed, more flexible converting lines 24 hours a
day 7 days a week and utilize our other converting lines as needed. We believe this schedule allows us to provide world-class customer
service while optimizing our operating costs. In 2015, we installed another high-speed, flexible converting line. The converting facility
produced approximately 8.6 million cases, or 58,000 tons, in 2016, under available capacity due to reduction in demand brought on by
increased brand promotions with key retailers.
One of the key advantages of our converting plant is its flexible manufacturing capabilities, which enables us to provide our
customers with a variety of package sizes and format options and enables our customers to fit products into particular price categories. We
believe our converting facility, together with our low direct labor costs and overhead, combine to produce relatively low overall operating
costs.
Our 245,000 square foot finished goods warehouse is located adjacent to our converting facility and has the capacity to hold
approximately 600,000 cases of finished product. Our targeted finished goods inventory level is three to four weeks of sales. We utilize
third party warehousing from time to time to accommodate changes in inventory carry levels to support customer shipment requirements.
Mexicali, Mexico Assets
The papermaking and converting equipment we own in Mexico, which had a net book value of $6.1 million at December 31,
2016, is operated by Fabrica under the Equipment Lease Agreement entered into in conjunction with the Fabrica Transaction. In
accordance with the terms of the transaction, Fabrica has discretion on the most effective manner in which to use these assets. Fabrica may
use these assets to provide parent rolls or products under the Supply Agreement or may utilize its other assets to produce products
purchased under the Supply Agreement, depending on quality requirements and machine capabilities. The terms of the Supply Agreement
allow us to purchase up to 19,800 annual tons of converted products from Fabrica.
Barnwell, South Carolina Facility
We have completed a 300,000 square foot converting facility, housing two converting lines with annual converting capacity
between 30,000 and 32,000 tons. A 115,000 square foot paper mill, housing one tissue paper machine with annual paper making capacity
between 35,000 and 40,000 tons, remains under construction and is expected to be completed around the end of the first quarter of 2017,
with the principal ramp-up expected in the second quarter of 2017. The facility will also include a recycling / de-inking facility, expected to
be completed in June of 2017, with a ramp-up principally scheduled for the third quarter of 2017.
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The first converting line began producing converted products in the first quarter of 2016, and the second converting line began
production late in the third quarter of 2016. The converting facility produced approximately 600,000 cases, or 4,500 tons, in 2016.
Construction of the paper machine began in 2015, with completion and ramp-up projected in the first half of 2017.
Distribution
Our products are delivered to our customers in truckload quantities. For our facilities in Oklahoma and South Carolina, most of our
customers arrange for transportation of our products to their distribution centers at their cost. In 2016, approximately 77% of our shipments
from Pryor and Barnwell were picked up by the customer or their agent. For our remaining shipments, we arrange for third-party freight
companies to deliver the products. In 2016, Fabrica arranged for and Orchids paid for third-party freight companies to deliver shipments
under the Supply Agreement.
Raw Materials and Energy
In our Oklahoma facility, the principal raw materials used to manufacture our parent rolls are fiber, primarily recycled fibers and
to a lesser extent virgin kraft fibers, and water. Currently, recycled fiber accounts for a majority of the fiber used to produce our parent
rolls. The pulping process at the paper mill is currently configured to primarily process a particular class of recycled fiber known as SBS
paper. Pursuant to an exclusive supply agreement, Dixie Pulp and Paper, Inc. supplies all of our recycled fiber needs under an evergreen
contract. Under the terms of the contract, unless either party gives notice at least ninety days prior to the end of the term, the agreement
automatically renews each year for another five-year term. This agreement is intended to ensure our long-term supply of quality recycled
fiber on terms that we believe are reasonable. If we were unable to purchase a sufficient quantity of SBS paper or if prices materially
increased, we could reconfigure our pulping plant to process other forms of fiber, or we could use an alternative type of fiber with our
existing pulping process. Reconfiguring our pulping plant would require additional capital expenditures, which could be substantial.
Purchasing alternative types of fiber could result in higher fiber costs. We use virgin kraft fibers in the production of premium and ultrapremium tier products. As our business in that market segment grows, we expect our consumption of virgin kraft fiber will increase.
Energy is a key cost factor in our business operations. Electricity for all facilities is being provided by local public utilities. We use
natural gas to fire boilers to supply our own steam to our mills. We utilize third-party energy suppliers to purchase all of our natural gas
requirements through a combination of a fixed price contract and at-market purchases.
Under a supply contract, a natural gas vendor will supply approximately 80% to 90% of our natural gas requirements at our Pryor
facilities through December 2017 as follows:
Period
January 2017
April 2017
July 2017
October 2017

-

MMBTUs
114,850
117,050
118,550
117,055

March 2017
June 2017
September 2017
December 2017

$
$
$
$

Price per
MMBTU
4.06
4.06
4.06
4.06

The remainder of Pryor’s natural gas requirements through December 2017 are expected to be purchased on the open market.
As we begin production at our Barnwell mill in 2017, we will increase our exposure to changes in the price of natural gas. We
have entered into a supply agreement for Barnwell whereby all of its natural gas requirements will be met through October of 2018 under a
variable rate, established as $0.36 per MMBTU over the then current NYMEX rate.
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Backlog
Our tissue products generally require short production times. Typically, we have a backlog of approximately two weeks of sales.
As of December 31, 2016, our backlog of customer orders was 615,774 cases, or approximately $8.0 million, of finished converted
products and 103 tons of parent rolls, or approximately $0.1 million. As of December 31, 2015, our backlog of customer orders was
638,904 cases, or approximately $8.8 million, of finished converted products and 1,264 tons of parent rolls, or approximately $1.2 million.
Trademarks and Trade Names
We sell some of our tissue products under our various brand names, including Orchids Supreme, Clean Scents, Tackle®,
Colortex®, My Size®, Velvet®, and Big Mopper®. We also sell tissue products under brand names licensed from Fabrica, such as,
Virtue®, Truly Green®, Golden Gate Paper® and Big Quality®. Our brand names are trademarked with the United States Patent and
Trademark Office. We intend to renew our registered trademarks prior to expiration. We do not believe these trademarks are presently
significant corporate assets.
Employee and Labor Relations
As of December 31, 2016, we had approximately 406 full-time employees of whom 270 were union hourly employees, 42 were
non-union hourly and 94 were non-union salaried employees. Of our employees, approximately 371 were engaged in manufacturing and
production and 35 were engaged in sales, clerical and administration. This includes approximately 53 employees in Barnwell, all non-union.
Fabrica supplies all labor, material, etc. in Mexicali for production under the Supply Agreement, so we have no employees in Mexico. Our
hourly employees in Oklahoma are represented under collective bargaining agreements with the United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber,
Manufacturing, Energy, Allied Industrial & Service Workers International Union Local 5-930 and Local 5-1480 at the mill and converting
facility, respectively. In 2015, we negotiated a new three-year contract with our hourly employees at the mill, which expires in February
2018. In 2012, we negotiated a new four-year contract with our hourly employees in the converting plant, which expired on June 25, 2016,
at which time it was extended for six months with limited modifications. We are currently operating under the terms of the interim
agreement and expect to finalize negotiations for a new contract in the first quarter of 2017. We have not experienced a work stoppage in
the last ten years and no material grievance proceedings, material arbitrations, labor disputes, strikes or labor disturbances are currently
pending or threatened against us. We believe we have good relations with our union employees at our facilities in Pryor.
Environmental, Health and Safety Matters
Our operations are subject to various environmental, health and safety laws and regulations promulgated by federal, state and local
governments. These laws and regulations impose stringent standards on us regarding, among other things, air emissions, water discharges,
use and handling of hazardous materials, use, handling and disposal of waste, and remediation of environmental contamination. Since our
products are made primarily from SBS paper, we have not made extensive use of chemicals.
The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the "EPA") requires that certain pulp and paper mills meet stringent air emissions and
waste water discharge standards for toxic and hazardous pollutants. These standards are commonly known as the "Cluster Rules." Our
operations are not subject to the current Cluster Rules. If, however, due to a revision in the rules or a change in our operations we were to
become subject to the Cluster Rules, we might need to incur significant capital expenditures in order to become compliant.
We believe our manufacturing facilities are in compliance in all material respects with all existing federal, state and local
environmental regulations, but we cannot predict whether more stringent air, water and solid waste disposal requirements will be imposed
by government authorities in the future. Pursuant to applicable federal, state and local statutes and regulations, we believe that we possess,
either directly or through the Oklahoma Ordinance Works Authority ("OOWA") and the City of Barnwell, all of the environmental permits
and approvals necessary for the operation of our Oklahoma and South Carolina facilities.
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OOWA, the operator of the industrial park in which we operate in Oklahoma, holds the waste water permit that covers our
Oklahoma facilities and controls, among other things, the level of biological oxygen demand ("BOD") and total suspended solids ("TSS")
we are allowed to send to the OOWA following pre-treatment at our facility. The OOWA reduced our BOD and TSS limits effective with a
permit issued August 1, 2007. We have invested capital in recent years to improve the capability and increase capacity in our Oklahoma
waste water treatment facility and believe our facility is well suited to meet our current permit limits.
The City of Barnwell (the “City”) holds the waste water permit that covers our South Carolina facilities and controls, among other
things, the level of TSS we are allowed to send to the City following pre-treatment at our facility. We believe our South Carolina facility is
engineered to well suit our permit limits once our paper machine begins operating in 2017.
Our assets in Mexicali are operated by Fabrica under the Equipment Lease Agreement entered into as part of the Fabrica
Transaction. In accordance with the terms of this agreement, Fabrica has indemnified us from and against any and all claims, actions, suits,
losses, damage, demands and liabilities of every nature in any way arising directly or indirectly from the use, possession, maintenance,
operations or control of the equipment located in Mexico, including environmental matters.
Executive Officers and Key Employees
Set forth below is the name, age as of March 9, 2017, position and a brief account of the business experience of each of our
executive officers. Each of Messrs. Schoen and Gloss served in the capacities set forth below as of December 31, 2016 and continue to serve
in such capacities as of the date of this report.
Name
Jeffrey S. Schoen
Rodney D. Gloss

Age
56
60

Position
Chief Executive Officer and President, Director
Chief Financial Officer

Jeffrey S. Schoen, 56, Chief Executive Officer and President, Director
Mr. Schoen was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of Orchids Paper Products in November 2013. Mr. Schoen
joined the Board of Directors of Orchids Paper Products in February 2007 and served as Chairman from May 2013 to November 2013. Mr.
Schoen worked for Cumberland Swan Holdings, Inc., a manufacturer of private label personal care products, from 2002 to 2006, last
serving as Executive Vice President and General Manager. Mr. Schoen worked for Paragon Trade Brands, Inc., a manufacturer of private
label disposable diapers and training pants, from 1999 to 2002, last serving as Vice President-Operations. Mr. Schoen held various
positions when he worked for Kimberly Clark—Infant Care, from 1985 to 1993, last serving as Maintenance & Stores Manager.
Rodney D. Gloss, 60, Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Gloss has been our Chief Financial Officer since September 2016. Prior to joining us, he served as Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer for Atna Resources Ltd., a public gold mining company, from 2011 to 2016 and as Corporate Controller of Alacer Gold
Corporation, a public international gold mining and exploration company, from 2010 to 2011. Prior to 2010, Mr. Gloss served in senior
financial positions with Intrepid Potash, Inc., a publicly traded potash producer, and Timminco Ltd., a public manufacturer, principally of
magnesium products. Mr. Gloss is a certified public accountant and holds an MBA from UCLA.
Available Information
We file annual, quarterly and current reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC").
You may read and copy any document we file with the SEC at the SEC's public reference room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for information on the public reference room. The SEC maintains an internet site that
contains annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy and information statements and other information that issuers (including Orchids
Paper Products Company) file electronically with the SEC. The SEC's internet site is www.sec.gov. In addition, we make available free of
charge our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K through our website at
www.orchidspaper.com. Such reports are made available as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the SEC.
Information available on the website is not incorporated by reference and is not deemed to be part of this Form 10-K.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
We operate in a changing environment that involves numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could materially
affect our operations. The risks, uncertainties and other factors set forth below may cause our actual results, performances or achievements
to be materially different from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. If any of these risks or events occur, our
business, financial condition or results of operations may be adversely affected. The risk factors set forth below are not exhaustive and are
not the only risks that may affect our business. Our business could also be affected by additional risks not currently known to us or
described below. We may amend or supplement the risk factors described below from time to time in other reports we file with the SEC in
the future.
Risks Related To Our Business
There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete the construction project of our South Carolina facility on schedule or at all.
Our failure to realize the benefits that we anticipate from this investment could substantially adversely affect our strategic plans and our
financial position and results of operations.
There can be no assurance that the paper mill construction, installation of the paper machines, installation of the recycling
equipment, ramp-up of the mill, or ramp-up of the converting production lines at our Barnwell, South Carolina facility will proceed on
schedule for the anticipated cost or at all. If the equipment suppliers fail to timely deliver the proper equipment or the construction of the
paper mill facility is delayed due to unforeseen issues, we may be unable to complete the construction project and bring the facility to full
capacity in a timely and cost effective manner, and as a result our business and projections could be adversely impacted.
We have indebtedness, which subjects us to restrictive covenants relating to the operation of our business.
As a result of closing the Fabrica Transaction, the expansion of our Pryor facility, and the construction of our South Carolina
facility, our indebtedness is now substantially greater than our indebtedness prior to these events. At December 31, 2016, we had $142.0
million of indebtedness. In 2017, under the terms of our existing loan agreement, we anticipate making principal payments of $7.6 million
and interest payments of more than $6 million. Interest payments are principally variable with our leverage ratio and with LIBOR rates.
Operating with this amount of leverage and with variable interest rates may require us to direct a significant portion of our cash flow from
operations to service debt, which reduces the funds otherwise available for operations, capital expenditures, payment of dividends, the
pursuit of future business opportunities and other corporate purposes. It may also limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes
in our business and our industry and may impair our ability to obtain additional financing.
The terms of our loan agreements require us to meet specified financial ratios and other financial and operating covenants, which
restrict our ability to incur additional debt, place liens on our assets, make capital expenditures, effect mergers or acquisitions, dispose of
assets or pay dividends in certain circumstances. The financial covenants include that we must maintain a certain debt to Adjusted EBITDA
ratio for a given period. Adjusted EBITDA is defined in the Credit Agreement, and is as quoted by the Company. Specifically this covenant
ratio requires that we maintain, as determined at the end of each of our fiscal quarters, a ratio of (i) the aggregate amount of all debt
(exclusive of capitalized loan amortization fees), to (ii) (Adjusted) EBITDA of not less than 5.75:1, 5.5:1, 4.5:1, 4:1 and 3.5:1 for the
periods ending March 31, 2017, June 30, 2017, September 30, 2017, December 31, 2017, and March 31, 2018 and each quarter thereafter,
respectively. The financial covenants also include that Fixed Charges, as defined in the Credit Agreement, will not exceed a ratio 1.2:1 of an
alternative Adjusted EBITDA figure, also defined in the Credit Agreement. If we fail to meet those financial ratios and covenants and our
lenders do not waive them, we may be required to pay fees and penalties, and our lenders could accelerate the maturity of our debt and
proceed against any pledged collateral, which could force us to seek alternative financing, or otherwise adversely affect our business
operations and/or liquidity. If this were to happen, we may be unable to obtain additional financing or it may not be available on terms
acceptable to us.
At December 31, 2016, our debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio was 4.26, and the Fixed Charge Coverage ratio was 1.86. These ratios
are highly sensitive to changes in Adjusted EBITDA, and relatively sensitive to levels of debt and Fixed Charges. If we do not comply with
these covenants in the current quarter or future quarters, it could result in a default under the Credit Agreement, which may require us to
seek and obtain a waiver from our lender, seek other amendments to our Credit Agreement, raise additional equity funds to pay-down debt,
limit fixed charges inclusive of dividends, refinance the debt under more favorable terms, and/or undertake some combination of these in
order to remain in compliance with the covenants. In such an event, there can be no assurance that we will be able to be successfully
undertake such efforts and remain in compliance with the covenants, particularly in the short-term given the sensitivity to unforeseen
changes in Adjusted EBITDA. Also, if a default under the Credit Agreement is not cured or waived, the default could result in the
acceleration of debt under our Credit Agreement, which could require us to repay debt prior to the date it is otherwise due and could
adversely affect our financial condition.
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Additionally, our indebtedness is secured by all or substantially all of our assets. Therefore, if we default on any of our debt
obligations, it could result in the lenders foreclosing on our assets. In such an event, the lenders' rights to such assets would likely be
superior to those of our shareholders.
We face intense competition and if we cannot successfully compete in the marketplace, our business, financial condition and operating
results may be materially adversely affected.
The consumer market for private label tissue products is highly competitive. Many of our competitors have greater financial,
managerial, sales and marketing and capital resources than we do, which may allow them to respond more quickly to new opportunities or
changes in customer requirements. These competitors may also be larger in size or scope than us, which may allow them to achieve greater
economies of scale or allow them to better withstand periods of declining prices and adverse operating conditions.
By promoting their branded products, brand-competitors may erode private label tissue sales. Three large companies, Proctor and
Gamble, Kimberly-Clark, and Georgia Pacific, have material shares of the brand-market in the United States, and their size may allow
them to achieve greater economies of scale or allow them to better withstand adverse competition, declining prices, and adverse operating
conditions. As a general business observation, consumers seem to prefer branded products over private-label unless a greater value
proposition is perceived, hence competition between brands and private label can be intense.
Our ability to successfully compete depends upon a variety of factors, including:
●
●
●
●

aggressive pricing by competitors, which may force us to decrease prices in order to maintain market share;
our ability to improve plant efficiencies and operating rates and lower manufacturing costs;
the availability, quality and cost of labor and raw materials, particularly recycled fiber; and
the cost of energy.

Our tissue paper products are commodity products, and if we do not maintain competitive prices, we may lose significant market
share. Our ability to keep our prices at competitive levels depends in large part on our ability to control our costs. In addition, consolidation
among retailers may put additional pressure on us to reduce our prices in order to maintain market share. If we are unable to effectively
adjust our cost structure to address such increased competitive pressures, our sales level and profitability could be harmed and our
operations could be materially adversely affected.
Increased competition in our region may affect our business.
Orchids has diversified regionally and by developing new channels and products. We anticipate continuing to diversify, but
increased competition remains a significant risk. Private label manufacturers have announced greenfield capacity additions, principally in
structured tissue lines, and while not generally in the same geographic regions in which we have operated, capacity additions may always
affect the existing business and/or delay inroads into new higher-end product and brand markets. Continued or increased competition from
brands may also affect our business by diminishing consumer demand for private-label products or delaying our inroads into brand markets.
A substantial percentage of our net sales are attributable to two large customers, any or all of which may decrease or cease purchases at
any time.
Our two largest customers, Dollar General and Family Dollar accounted for 36% and 14%, respectively, of our net sales in 2016.
We expect that sales to a limited number of customers will continue to account for a substantial portion of our net sales for the foreseeable
future. Sales to these customers are made pursuant to purchase orders and not supply agreements. We may not be able to keep our key
customers, or these customers may cancel purchase orders or reschedule or decrease their level of purchases from us. Any substantial
decrease or delay in sales to one or more of our key customers would harm our sales and financial results. In particular, the loss of sales to
one or more distribution centers would result in a sudden and significant decrease in our sales. If sales to current key customers cease or are
reduced, we may not obtain sufficient orders from other customers necessary to offset any such losses or reductions.
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We primarily use pre-consumer solid bleached sulfate paper, or SBS paper, and, to a lesser extent, virgin kraft fibers to produce parent
rolls and any disruption in our supply or increase in the cost of pre-consumer SBS paper or virgin kraft could disrupt our production
and harm our ability to produce tissue at competitive prices.
We do not produce any of the fiber we use to produce our parent rolls. We depend heavily on access to sufficient, reasonably
priced quantities of fiber to manufacture our tissue products. Our paper mill is configured to convert recycled fiber, specifically SBS paper,
and virgin kraft fiber into paper pulp for use in our paper production lines. In 2016, we purchased approximately 79,000 tons of SBS paper
at a total cost of $19.1 million compared to 73,000 tons of SBS paper at a total cost of $19.7 million in 2015. In 2016, we purchased
approximately 9,000 tons of virgin kraft at a total cost of $5.5 million compared to 11,000 tons of virgin kraft at a total cost of $6.8 million
in 2015. Prices for SBS paper and virgin kraft have fluctuated significantly in the past and will likely continue to fluctuate significantly in
the future, principally due to market imbalances between supply and demand. In addition, the market price of SBS fiber can also be
influenced by market swings in the price of virgin pulp and other fiber grades. If either the available supply of SBS paper and/or virgin
kraft diminishes or the demand for SBS paper and/or virgin kraft increases, it could substantially increase our cost of fiber, require us to
purchase alternate fiber grades at increased costs, or cause a production slow-down or stoppage until we are able to identify new sources of
fiber or reconfigure our pulping plant to process other available forms of paper fiber. We could experience a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations should the price or supply of SBS paper and/or virgin kraft be disrupted. Further, we
currently obtain all of our recycled fiber from a single supplier, Dixie Pulp and Paper, Inc. ("Dixie") and the majority of our virgin kraft
from Itochu Pulp and Paper Corp. (“Itochu”). If our relationship with Dixie and/or Itochu is altered or terminated for any reason, we will
have to seek alternative channels to obtain our recycled and virgin kraft fiber, and there can be no assurance that we would be able to make
arrangements that adequately meet our needs or on reasonable terms. Furthermore, we may not be able to pass increased fiber costs on to
our customers if the market does not allow us to raise the prices of our finished products.
Fabrica’s failure to execute under the Supply Agreement could adversely affect our business.
Under the Supply Agreement with Fabrica de Papel San Francisco, S.A. de C.V. (“Fabrica”), we have the right to purchase up to
19,800 tons of parent rolls and equivalent converting capacity for certain specified product during each twelve-month period following the
effective date of the Supply Agreement, which has an initial term of twenty years. Fabrica’s failure to execute under this agreement could
result in our inability to service existing customers, thereby reducing sales volumes and profitability. A failure to execute would also harm
the relationships we have established with those customers serviced under the Supply Agreement. Furthermore, Fabrica’s failure to execute
under this agreement could require us to look for other sources of capacity that are less favorable to us, thereby increasing costs and
reducing profits.
Our foreign activities are subject to additional inherent risks.
We currently source a significant amount of our converted products from Mexico, i.e. the 19,800 tons from the Supply Agreement,
and we expect to continue to do so. Accordingly, we are subject to political, legal, tax and economic risks such as:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

the effects of local political, labor and economic developments and unrest;
significant or abrupt changes in the applicable regulatory or legal climate;
significant changes to regulations or laws or the interpretation or enforcement of them, including with respect to tax and profit
sharing matters arising out of the use of outsourced suppliers;
exchange controls and export restrictions;
currency fluctuations, particularly in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Mexican Peso;
failure to maintain compliance with corruption and transparency statutes, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;
laws or policies of foreign countries and the United States affecting trade, investment and taxation; and
civil disturbances, war and terrorist actions.

The occurrence of any one or combination of these events, many of which are beyond our control, could materially adversely
affect our financial condition or results of operations.
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Increased competition and or deterioration in business conditions could adversely affect our ability to realize anticipated growth from
the Fabrica Transaction.
We desired to acquire assets and certain operations from Fabrica with the expectation that the acquisition will result in various
benefits for us, including, among others, a competitive manufacturing cost, business and growth opportunities, and increased revenue
streams. Increased competition and/or deterioration in business conditions may limit our ability to expand upon Fabrica’s former business.
As such, we may not be able to realize the synergies, goodwill, business opportunities and growth prospects anticipated in connection with
the Fabrica Transaction.
Changes in the policies of our retail trade customers and increasing dependence on key retailers in developed markets may adversely
affect our business.
Our products are sold in a highly competitive marketplace, which is experiencing increased concentration and the growing
presence of large format retailers and discounters. With the consolidation of retail trade, especially in developed markets, we are
increasingly dependent on key retailers, and some of these retailers, including the large format retailers, may have greater bargaining power
than we do. They may use this leverage to demand higher trade discounts or allowances, which could lead to reduced profitability. We may
also be negatively affected by changes in the policies of retail trade customers, such as inventory de-stocking, limitations on access to shelf
space, and delisting of our products. If we lose a significant customer or if sales of our products to a significant customer materially
decrease, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
Excess supply in the markets may reduce the prices we are able to charge for our products.
New paper machines or new converting equipment may be built or idle machines may be activated by other paper companies,
which would add more capacity to the tissue markets. Increased production capacity could cause an oversupply resulting in lower market
prices for our products and increased competition, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and operating results.
The availability of and prices for energy will significantly impact our business.
The production of our products requires a significant amount of energy and we rely primarily on natural gas and electricity for our
energy needs. The prices of these inputs are subject to change based on many factors that are beyond our control, such as worldwide supply
and demand and government regulation. In particular, natural gas prices are highly volatile. Beginning in April 2009 and continuing
through December 2017, approximately 70% to 90% of our natural gas requirements at our Pryor facilities were/are covered by a fixed
price contract. The remainder of our requirements through December 2017 are expected to be purchased at market rates. Our natural gas
requirements at our Barnwell paper mill, when it begins production in the first half of 2017 through October of 2018, are covered by a
contract calling for deliveries at $0.36 per MMBTU greater than NYMEX market index (See Item 1—Business, Raw Materials and
Energy). Our average price per MMBTU was $3.92 in 2016 compared to $4.11 in 2015 and $5.05 in 2014. During the year ended
December 31, 2016, we consumed 515,000 MMBTU of natural gas at a total cost of $2.0 million and 62.1 million kilowatt hours of
electricity at a total cost of $3.1 million. If our energy costs increase, our cost of sales will increase, and our operating results may be
materially, adversely affected. Furthermore, we may not be able to pass increased energy costs on to our customers if the market does not
allow us to raise the prices of our finished products. If price adjustments significantly trail the increase in energy costs or if we cannot
effectively hedge against these costs, our operating results may be materially adversely affected.
Failure to purchase the contracted quantity of natural gas may result in financial exposure.
As discussed above in Item 1—Business, Raw Materials and Energy, we have entered into a fixed price contract to purchase
approximately 80% to 90% of our natural gas requirements at our Pryor facilities, or 467,505 MMBTUs in 2017, with the remainder
purchased on the open market. A significant interruption in our parent roll production due to tornado, fire or other natural disaster, adverse
market conditions or mechanical failure could reduce our natural gas requirements to a level below that of our contracted amount. If we are
unable to purchase the contracted amounts and the market price at that time is less than the contracted price, we would be obligated under
the terms of our agreement to reimburse an amount equal to the difference between the contracted amount and the amount actually
purchased multiplied by the difference between our contract price and a price designed in the contract, which typically approximates spot
price.
Our exposure to variable interest rates may affect our financial health.
Debt incurred under our existing revolving credit and most of our term loan agreements accrues interest at a variable rate.
Specifically, our interest is calculated on LIBOR or the base rate plus an interest rate margin, which is calculated quarterly. As of December
31, 2016, our weighted average bank debt interest rate was 2.64% compared to a weighted average interest rate of 2.17% at December 31,
2015. In addition to varying with the underlying LIBOR rates, most of our rates vary dependent on our debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio as
of the end of each prior quarter. Presently, the maximum margin added to LIBOR when the leverage ratio climbs to 5:1 or higher, is 4.0%.
Any increase in the interest rates on our debt would result in a higher interest expense, which would require us to dedicate more of our cash
flow from operations to make payments on our debt and reduce funds available to us for our operations and future business opportunities,
which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. For more information on our liquidity, see "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources."
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We depend on our management team to operate the Company and execute our business plan.
We are highly dependent on the principal members of our management staff, in particular Jeffrey Schoen, our Chief Executive
Officer, and Rodney Gloss, our Chief Financial Officer. We have entered into employment arrangements with Jeffrey Schoen and Rodney
Gloss, under which their employment is "at will" and, subject to certain conditions, may be terminated by either party at any time, for any
reason, with or without notice. The loss of either of our executive officers or our inability to attract and retain other qualified personnel
could harm our business and our ability to compete.
Labor interruptions would adversely affect our business.
All of our hourly paid employees in Oklahoma are represented by the United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing,
Energy, Allied Industrial & Service Workers International Union. The collective bargaining agreement with Local 5-930, which represents
the paper mill workers, will expire in February 2018, and the collective bargaining agreement with Local 5-1480, which represents the
converting facility workers, expired in June 2016, at which time it was extended for six months with limited modifications. We are
currently operating under the terms of the interim agreement and expect to finalize negotiations for a new contract in the first quarter of
2017. Negotiations of new collective bargaining agreements may result in significant increases in the cost of labor or could break down and
result in a strike or other disruption of our operations. If any of the preceding were to occur, it could impair our ability to manufacture our
products and result in increased costs and/or decreased operating results. In addition, some of our key customers and suppliers are also
unionized. Disruption in their labor relations could also have an adverse effect on our business.
Our manufacturing operations may experience shutdowns due to unforeseen operational problems or maintenance outages, which may
cause significant lost production which would adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.
We currently manufacture and process the majority of our tissue paper products in Pryor, Oklahoma. Any natural disaster or other
serious disruption to our facilities due to tornado, fire or any other calamity could damage our capital equipment or supporting
infrastructure and materially impair our ability to manufacture and process tissue paper products. Even a short-term disruption in our
production output could damage relations with our customers, causing them to reduce or eliminate the amount of finished products they
purchase from us. Any such disruption could result in lost sales, increased costs and reduced profits.
Furthermore, unexpected production disruptions due to any number of circumstances, including shortages of raw materials,
disruptions in the availability of transportation, labor disputes and mechanical or process failures, could cause us to shut down our paper
mill or our converting operation, or any part thereof.
If any part of our facilities is shut down, it may experience a prolonged start-up period, regardless of the reason for the shutdown.
Those start-up periods could range from several days to several months, depending on the reason for the shutdown and other factors. The
shutdown of our facilities for a substantial period of time for any reason could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and
results of operations.
Our operations require substantial capital, and we may not have adequate capital resources to provide for all of our cash requirements.
Our operations require substantial capital. Expansion or replacement of existing facilities or equipment may require substantial
capital expenditures. For example, in 2016 we built two new converting lines in our new Barnwell facility, which cost approximately $43
million. In 2015 in Pryor, we built a new paper machine and installed a new converting line, which cost approximately $39 million. In
2010, we built a new finished goods warehouse and installed a new converting line, which cost approximately $27 million. In 2009 and
2010, under new environmental standards we were required to build a water treatment facility costing approximately $7 million to reduce
BOD and TSS from our discharge water. We are currently building a new facility in Barnwell, South Carolina, which is expected to cost
approximately $150.0 million, of which we have incurred $119.2 million to date, including the $43 million for the converting lines that
began production in 2016. If our capital resources are inadequate to provide for our operating needs, capital expenditures and other cash
requirements, this shortfall could have a material adverse effect on our business and liquidity.
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Our business is subject to governmental regulations and any imposition of new regulations or failure to comply with existing
regulations could involve significant additional expense.
Our operations are subject to various environmental, health and safety laws and regulations promulgated by federal, state and local
governments. These laws and regulations impose stringent standards on us regarding, among other things, air emissions, water discharges,
use and handling of hazardous materials, use, handling and disposal of waste, and remediation of environmental contamination. Any failure
to comply with applicable environmental laws, regulations or permit requirements may result in civil or criminal fines or penalties or
enforcement actions. These may include regulatory or judicial orders enjoining or curtailing operations or requiring corrective measures,
installing pollution control equipment or remedial actions, any of which could involve significant expenditures. Future development of such
laws and regulations may require capital expenditures to ensure compliance. We may discover currently unknown environmental problems
or conditions in relation to our past or present operations, or we may face unforeseen environmental liabilities in the future. These
conditions and liabilities may require site remediation or other costs to maintain compliance or correct violations of environmental laws and
regulations; or result in governmental or private claims for damage to person, property or the environment, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we may be subject to strict liability and, under
specific circumstances, joint and several liabilities for the investigation and remediation of the contamination of soil, surface and ground
water, including contamination caused by other parties, at properties that we own or operate and at properties where we or our predecessors
arranged for the disposal of regulated materials.
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent
fraud and, as a result, our business could be harmed and current and potential stockholders could lose confidence in us, which could
cause our stock price to fall.
We have completed an evaluation of our internal control systems to allow management to report on, and our independent
registered public accounting firm to attest to, our internal control over financial reporting in compliance with the management assessment
and auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. In our report under Section 404, which is included
in Item 9A of this report, we have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting is effective.
A material weakness or significant deficiency in internal control over financial reporting could materially affect our reported
financial results and the market price of our stock could significantly decline. Additionally, adverse publicity related to the disclosure of a
material weakness or significant deficiency in internal controls could have a negative effect on our reputation, business and stock price.
Although management's assessment and auditor's attestation may provide some level of comfort to the investing public, even the best
designed and executed systems of internal controls can only provide reasonable assurance against misreported results and the prevention of
fraud.
The parent roll market is a commodity market and subject to fluctuations in demand and pricing.
Overall demand for parent rolls can fluctuate due to changes in the demand for converted products and due to new paper machine
start-ups. A significant reduction in demand or increase in paper making capacity can result in an over-supply of parent rolls, which could
negatively affect the market price for parent rolls. A significant reduction in parent roll selling prices could reduce our net sales, decrease
our profits and cause us to shut down some of our excess paper making capacity.
If we are unable to continue to implement our business strategies, our financial conditions and operating results could be materially
affected.
Our future operating results will depend, in part, on the extent to which we can successfully implement our business strategies in a
cost effective manner. However, our strategies are subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and
contingencies, many of which are beyond our control. If we are unable to successfully implement our business strategies, our business,
financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected.
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We may not be able to sell the capacity generated from our converting lines.
We continue to focus on increasing the capacity of our twelve converting lines at our Pryor location. Additionally, the two
converting lines at our South Carolina facility are believed to have added an additional 30,000 to 32,000 tons of annual capacity. However,
we may not be able to sell enough of our products to fully utilize such capacity. . While the winning of private label bids and new branded
sales business, previously announced, are expected to contribute greatly, there are no assurances that the promised volumes will be ordered
by the customers. Our strategy includes converting and selling more of our parent roll tonnage as converted product. Converted products
sell at a higher price per ton than parent rolls and typically carry a higher margin on a tonnage basis. If we are unable to increase our sales
of converted product to fully utilize the capacity from our converting lines, it could result in lost opportunity for increased margins and the
need to temporarily or permanently curtail the production of one or more of our converting lines.
Risks Related To Our Common Stock
We may not sustain our quarterly dividend.
On February 21, 2011, our Board of Directors initiated a quarterly cash dividend. We paid dividends totaling $1.40 per share in
2016, 2015 and 2014. However, we may not sustain regular quarterly dividend payments. The declaration and payment of future dividends
to holders of our common stock will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors, and will depend upon many factors, including our
financial condition, earnings, capital requirements of our businesses, legal requirements, regulatory constraints, industry practice and other
factors that the Board of Directors deems relevant. Further, our Credit Agreement contains an indirect restriction on the payment of
dividends, as dividends paid are included in calculating the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio under our Credit Agreement. If payments of
dividends would otherwise result in us not meeting the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, we will be unable to pay dividends. We cannot
assure you that our business will generate cash flow from operations in an amount sufficient to enable us to make distributions on our
common stock.
Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could discourage a takeover.
Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that might enable our management to resist a
takeover. These provisions may:
●
●
●

discourage, delay or prevent a change in the control of the Company or a change in our management;
adversely affect the voting power of holders of common stock; and
limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

Our future operating results may be below securities analysts' or investors' expectations, which could cause our stock price to decline.
Our revenue and income potential depends on maintaining and expanding our production capacity and realizing buyers for our
additional production, and we may be unable to generate significant revenues or grow at the rate expected by securities analysts or
investors. In addition, our costs may be higher than we, securities analysts or investors expect. Further, if financial leverage and related
risks escalate, capital spending required to complete the Barnwell project, and/or unforeseen cash flow disruptions were to occur, our stock
prices could be adversely affected. If we fail to generate sufficient revenues or our costs are higher than we expect, our results of operations
will suffer, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline. Our results of operations will depend upon numerous factors, including:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

the market price of our product;
the cost of fiber used in producing paper;
the efficiency of operations in both our paper mill and converting facility;
the cost of energy.
the costs of labor and maintenance;
financial leverage undertaken, inclusive of its impacts upon interest expense and debt service;
capital spending requirements, inclusive of impacts upon depreciation; and
working capital and other cash flow management.

Our operating results in any particular period may not be a reliable indication of our future performance. In some future quarters,
our operating results may be below the expectations of securities analysts or investors. If this occurs, the price of our common stock will
likely decline.
16

Our common stock has low average trading volume, and we expect that the price of our common stock could fluctuate substantially.
The average daily trading volume of our common stock in 2016 was approximately 75,000 shares. The market price for our
common stock is affected by a number of factors, including:
●
●
●

actual or anticipated variations in our results of operations or those of our competitors;
changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts or our failure to achieve analysts' earnings estimates; and
developments in our industry.

The stock prices of many companies in the paper products industry have experienced wide fluctuations that have often been
unrelated to the operating performance of these companies. Because of the low trading volume, our stock price is subject to greater
potential volatility. Following periods of volatility in the market price of a company's securities, stockholders have often instituted class
action securities litigation against those companies. Class action securities litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs
and a diversion of our management resources, which could significantly harm our business.
Our directors have limited personal liability and rights of indemnification from us for their actions as directors.
Our certificate of incorporation limits the liability of directors to the maximum extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law
provides that directors of a corporation will not be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duties as directors,
except liability for:
●
●
●
●

any breach of their duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders;
acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions; or
any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and executive officers and other officers
and employees and agents to the fullest extent permitted by law.
We entered into separate indemnification agreements with each of our directors and officers, which are broader than the specific
indemnification provision under Delaware law. Under these agreements, we are required to indemnify them against all expenses,
judgments, fines, settlements and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred, in connection with any actual, or any threatened,
proceeding if any of them may be made a party because he or she is or was one of our directors or officers.
If any litigation or proceeding were pursued against any of our directors, officers, employees or agents where indemnification is
required or permitted, we could incur significant legal expenses and be responsible for any resulting settlement or judgment.
Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
Item 2. PROPERTIES
We own a 36-acre property in Pryor, Oklahoma that serves as the Company’s main production facility. Parent roll production is
housed in our paper mill, which consists of two facilities. The older paper making facility is approximately 135,000 square feet and, as of
March 2015, houses two paper machines and related processing equipment. The newer paper making facility is approximately 27,000
square feet and houses one paper machine and a 29,400 square foot parent roll warehouse. Adjacent to our paper mill, we have an
approximately 300,000 square feet converting facility, which has twelve lines of converting equipment. We also own a 245,000 square foot
finished goods warehouse, which adjoins the converting facility. Under the Supply Agreement we have with Fabrica, up to 19,800 tons
(27,500 tons in the first two years of the agreement) of our products or parent rolls may be manufactured at Fabrica’s location in Mexicali,
Mexico.
17

We are currently constructing an integrated facility in Barnwell, South Carolina on an 86-acre property that was donated to the
Company by the state of South Carolina. This facility will include a 115,000 square foot paper mill with one tissue paper machine and a
300,000 square foot converting facility housing two converting production lines. Additionally, the property will include a recycling facility
and storage space for raw materials and finished goods. The first converting line began production in the first quarter of 2016, and the
second converting line began production late in the third quarter of 2016. Construction of the paper mill began in 2015, with completion
projected in the first half of 2017.

Facility
Paper Mill
Paper Mill - Paper Warehouse
Converting
Converting - Warehouse
Converting

Location
Pryor, OK
Pryor, OK
Pryor, OK
Pryor, OK
Barnwell, SC

Sq. Ft.
162,000
29,400
300,000
245,000
300,000

Paper Mill

Barnwell, SC

115,000

(1)

Owned or
Leased
Owned
Owned
Owned
Owned
Owned
Under
Construction

Annual
Estimated
Capacity (1) (in tons)
74,000

2015
Production
(in tons)
69,806

82,500

57,558

30,000 - 32,000
35,000 - 40,000

Annual estimated capacity can vary significantly depending upon several factors. Paper mill capacity is heavily dependent upon the
mix of paper grades produced, including the effects of basis weight on tonnage produced. Converting capacity is heavily dependent
upon the mix of converted products produced, including the product configurations. We believe we can effectively use 85% to 90%
of the converting capacity and still maintain a high level of customer service.

Additionally, in conjunction with the Fabrica Transaction, we acquired certain papermaking and converting equipment, which is
located in Mexico and operated by Fabrica under the terms of the Equipment Lease Agreement signed as part of the transaction. This
equipment includes one paper machine and two converting lines with capacity of approximately 19,800 annual tons. In accordance with the
terms of the transaction, Fabrica has discretion on the most effective manner in which to use these assets. Fabrica may use these assets to
provide converted products under the Supply Agreement or may use these assets to manufacture products sold to its customers.
Furthermore, in accordance with terms of the transaction, items produced under the Supply Agreement may be manufactured on Fabrica’s
paper making assets, which can produce quality grades ranging from the value tier to the ultra-premium tier, using the latest paper machine
technology.
We believe our facilities in Pryor, Oklahoma are well maintained and, with the addition of the capacity obtained under the Fabrica
Transaction and the construction of our facility in South Carolina, are adequate to serve our present and near term operating requirements.
While we currently do not have any specific plans to do so, we believe we have adequate land available to add additional paper making
capacity at our Oklahoma site. Any future expansion of converting capacity at the Pryor location would likely result in the need to acquire
land adjacent to our facility and to construct additional manufacturing space. During 2013, we entered into an option to purchase land
adjacent to our converting facility in Oklahoma, which expires in May of 2017. We have third-party storage agreements that provide offsite warehousing options when additional storage facilities are necessary.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time, we are involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business. As
of the date of this report, we were not engaged in any legal proceedings, which are expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a
material adverse effect on us.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information
Since July 15, 2005, our common stock has been traded on the NYSE MKT (formerly known as NYSE Amex), under the symbol
"TIS". The following table sets forth the high and low closing prices of our common stock for the periods indicated and reported by the
NYSE MKT.
High
Year Ended December 31, 2016:
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Year Ended December 31, 2015:
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

Low

$

30.54
35.61
36.01
27.99

$

24.80
27.01
26.89
23.35

$

29.01
26.32
27.27
32.10

$

25.35
21.49
22.86
26.07

As of March 6, 2017, there were 10 holders of record of an aggregate 10,302,891 shares of our common stock. The actual number
of stockholders is greater than the number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are
held in street name by brokers and other nominees. We estimate that we have 15,200 beneficial owners of our common stock. On March 1,
2017, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the NYSE MKT was $29.30.
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Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock since December 31, 2011, with the
cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor's Small Cap Price Index, the Standard & Poor's Composite 600 Paper Products Index and our
selected peer group companies comprised of Clearwater Paper Corporation, Resolute Forest Products, and Cascades. These comparisons
assume the investment of $100 on December 31, 2011, and the reinvestment of dividends.
These indices are included only for comparative purposes as required by the SEC and do not necessarily reflect management's
opinion that such indices are an appropriate measure of the relative performance of the common stock. They are not intended to forecast
possible future performance of our common stock.

Orchids Paper Products Company
Peer Group
S & P Small Cap
S & P Composite 600 Paper Products

$
$
$
$

2011
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

$
$
$
$

2012
111.10
101.81
114.82
109.80

$
$
$
$

December 31
2013
2014
180.44 $
159.95
132.49 $
161.94
160.34 $
167.46
173.89 $
180.43

$
$
$
$

2015
169.89
100.31
161.84
148.79

$
$
$
$

2016
143.85
125.76
201.88
177.18

Common Stock Dilution
As of December 31, 2016, we had 10,296,891 shares of common stock outstanding. We have outstanding options to purchase
shares of our common stock, which once fully vested, represent approximately 8% of the current outstanding shares. As of December 31,
2016, we had options outstanding to purchase 838,300 shares of our common stock at an exercise price ranging from $7.48 to $31.33. The
options expire on various dates from 2017 to 2026.
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Dividends
On February 21, 2011, our Board of Directors initiated a quarterly cash dividend. We paid the following dividends on each share
of the Company's common stock then outstanding in 2016, 2015 and 2014:
2016
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Total

$

$

2015
0.35
0.35
0.35
0.35
1.40

$

$

2014
0.35
0.35
0.35
0.35
1.40

$

$

0.35
0.35
0.35
0.35
1.40

On February 14, 2017, the Board of Directors authorized a quarterly cash dividend of $0.35 per outstanding share of the
Company's common stock to be paid on April 3, 2017, to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 27, 2017.
The declaration and payment of future dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the discretion of our Board of
Directors, and will depend upon many factors, including our financial condition, earnings, capital requirements of our business, legal
requirements, regulatory constraints, industry practice and other factors that the Board of Directors deems relevant. Our credit agreement
contains an indirect restriction on the amount of cash dividends we may pay in that the amount of any dividends paid is included in the
calculation of our fixed charge coverage ratio.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Repurchase of Equity Securities
We do not have any programs to repurchase shares of our common stock and no such repurchases were made during the year
ended December 31, 2016.
Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" following this section and our financial statements and related notes included in Item 8 of this Form
10-K. The following tables set forth selected financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013, and 2012,
which were derived from our audited financial statements. Our audited financial statements as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016, are included below under Item 8 of this Form 10-K. The historical results
are not necessarily indicative of the operating results to be expected in any future period. The results for the years ended December 31,
2016, 2015 and 2014 include the impacts of the Fabrica Transaction discussed in Note 2 of the notes to the audited financial statements
included below under Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
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2016
Converted product net sales
Parent roll net sales
Total net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, general and
administrative expenses
Intangibles amortization
Operating income
Interest expense
Other (income) expense, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

$

Net income per common share - diluted
Cash dividends declared per share

$

$

Operating Data
Converted product (tons shipped)
Parent roll (tons shipped)
Total tons shipped
Cash Flow Data
Cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

Working capital
Net property, plant and equipment
Total assets
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Total stockholders' equity

158,102
6,392
164,494
134,345
30,149

Year Ended December 31
2015
2014
2013
(In thousands, except per share data and tons)
$
161,052 $
138,382 $
109,611
7,394
4,342
6,763
168,446
142,724
116,374
137,949
115,985
88,494
30,497
26,739
27,880

10,244
1,219
18,686
1,678
(214)
17,222
4,411
12,811 $
1.24
1.40

$

81,430
7,048
88,478

$

1.38
1.40

$

82,972
7,436
90,408

27,827 $
(77,679)
54,241

2016
26,995
249,184
319,880
133,989
133,245

9,540
1,507
19,450
521
(683)
19,612
6,055
13,557 $

$
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1.11
1.40

$
$

67,870
4,922
72,792

18,791 $
(75,189)
59,738

2015
19,453
173,378
248,737
70,357
133,783

11,675
753
14,311
271
181
13,859
4,394
9,465

20,152 $
(37,434)
11,098

As of December 31,
2014
$
4,140 $
119,720
169,935
33,472
100,513

2012
$

90,505
10,314
100,819
78,253
22,566

9,471
18,409
371
(173)
18,211
4,892
13,319 $

8,456
14,110
407
302
13,401
4,144
9,257

1.67
1.35

$

52,592
6,726
59,318

43,661
10,334
53,995

20,796 $
(12,179)
(7,146)

2013
21,888
95,745
126,500
13,887
84,849

1.18
0.85

$

17,451
(9,788)
(6,226)

2012
20,061
91,188
118,918
15,032
77,178

Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the audited
financial statements and the notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should specifically consider the various risk factors identified in this filing that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in these forward- looking statements.
Business Overview
We are a customer-focused, national supplier of high-quality consumer tissue products. We produce bulk tissue paper, known as
parent rolls, and convert parent rolls into finished products, including paper towels, bathroom tissue and paper napkins. We generally sell
parent rolls not required by our converting operation to other converters. Our integrated manufacturing facilities have flexible production
capabilities, which allow us to produce high quality tissue products within short production times for customers in our target regions. This
vertical integration, a low variable cost per unit, and the use of operating leverage in securing a higher contribution margin on added
volume, we believe, all provide competitive advantage from a cost standpoint. We predominately sell our products under private labels to
our core customer base in the “at home” market, which consists primarily of dollar stores, discount retailers and grocery stores that offer
limited alternatives across a wide range of products. Our focus historically has been the dollar stores (which are also referred to as discount
retailers) and the broader discount retail market because of their overall market growth, consistent order patterns and low number of stock
keeping units (“SKUs”). The “at-home” tissue market consists of several quality levels, including a value tier, premium tier and ultrapremium tier. To a lesser extent, we service customers in the “away from home” market. Our core customer base in the “away from home”
market consists of companies in the janitorial market and food service market. Most of the products we sell in the “away from home”
market are included in the value tier.
●

Net income decreased 5.5% to $12.8 million in 2016 from $13.6 million in 2015.

●

Our EBITDA in 2016 increased to $31.8 million compared to $31.4 million in 2015 and our EBITDA margin increased to 19.4%
from 18.6% in 2015 as improved cash margins and cost cutting helped offset the impact of a decline in sales.

●

Cash flows – Operating cash flows excluding changes in working capital increased $3.8 million year over year, reflecting increases
in cash-earnings and the deferral of tax payments. Additionally, a net decrease in the change in working capital accounts of $5.2
million as compared to 2015 was principally due to the timing of receivable collections. Increased borrowings in both periods were
used to finance investments in the Barnwell facility. In 2015, $12.0 million of restricted cash was set aside for the Barnwell project
within Investing activities, whereas $10.7 million of this restricted cash was used and applied against capital spending in 2016. The
Company paid dividends of $14.4 million and $13.8 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively, which are included in Financing
activities.

●

Our net sales in 2016 decreased 2% to $164.5 million from $168.4 million in 2015, primarily due to heavy promotional activity by
brand-competitors and other competitive pressures.

●

Net sales of converted product decreased 2% to $158.1 million in 2016 compared to $161.1 million in 2015, reflecting the
competitive pressures that resulted in a decrease in the number of tons sold, as the average selling price did not change year-overyear.

●

Our earnings per diluted common share in 2016 decreased to $1.24 per diluted common share from $1.38 per diluted common share
in 2015, including the effects of a follow-on stock offering of 1.5 million shares of common stock in April 2015, primarily due to
higher interest costs associated with debt incurred to finance our new manufacturing facility in Barnwell, South Carolina and
increased administrative expenses, which costs were partially offset by tax benefits resulting from our capital investments.
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Comparative Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Net Sales
Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
(In thousands, except tons)
158,102 $
161,052 $
138,382
6,392
7,394
4,342
164,494 $
168,446 $
142,724

2016
Converted product net sales
Parent roll net sales
Total net sales

$
$

Converted product (tons shipped)
Parent roll (tons shipped)
Total tons shipped

81,430
7,048
88,478

82,972
7,436
90,408

67,870
4,922
72,792

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased $3.9 million, or 2%, to $164.5 million compared to $168.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2015. These net sales figures include gross selling price, including freight, less discounts and sales
promotions. Net sales of converted product decreased $3.0 million, or 2%, to $158.1 million compared to $161.1 million in 2015. The
decrease in converted product sales was due to a 2% decrease in converted product tonnage shipped, as the average selling price did not
change year-over-year. Net sales of parent rolls decreased $1.0 million, or 14%, in 2016, to $6.4 million compared to $7.4 million in 2015,
primarily due to a lower average selling price in 2016. The lower volume of parent roll sales in 2016 reflects parent roll product that was
used in part for the Barnwell, South Carolina start-up, thereby forgoing margin we would have received on parent roll sales in favor of
margin on tonnage sold as converted product.
Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased $25.7 million, or 18%, to $168.4 million compared to $142.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2014. Net sales of converted product increased $22.7 million, or 16%, to $161.1 million compared to
$138.4 million in 2014. Net sales of parent rolls increased $3.1 million, or 70%, in 2015, to $7.4 million compared to $4.3 million in 2014.
The increase in converted product sales was primarily due to a 22% increase in converted product tonnage shipped, which was partially
offset by a 5% decrease in net selling prices per ton. A full-year of sales under the Fabrica Transaction accounted for 72% of the increase in
tonnage shipped. Shipments from our Oklahoma site increased 8% in 2015. The decrease in selling price is due to the mix of products sold,
including a full-year of “away from home” shipments under the Fabrica Transaction, which typically have a lower selling price per ton. The
increase in parent roll sales was due to a 51% increase in parent roll tons shipped and a 13% increase in the net sales price per ton. The
increase in parent roll shipments was primarily due to the new paper machine project in Oklahoma, which resulted in a higher amount of
tons produced and available for sale in the open market. The increase in selling price per ton was primarily due to strong demand for parent
rolls in 2015.
Cost of Sales

Cost of goods sold
Depreciation
Cost of sales

$

Gross profit
Gross profit margin %

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(in thousands, except gross profit margin %)
122,629
$
128,232
$
107,049
11,716
9,717
8,936
134,345
$
137,949
$
115,985
30,149
$
18.3%

30,497
$
18.1%

26,739
18.7%

Major components of cost of sales are the cost of internally produced paper, raw materials, direct labor and benefits, freight on
products shipped to customers, insurance, repairs and maintenance, energy, utilities, maintenance, depreciation and the cost of converted
products purchased under the Supply Agreement with Fabrica.
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Cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased $3.6 million, or 3%, to $134.3 million compared to $137.9 million
in the year ended December 31, 2015. Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was 81.7% in the 2016 period compared to 81.9% in the
2015 period. Cost of sales as a percent of net sales was positively affected in 2016 by lower fiber costs, the devaluation of the peso and a
recovery under a business interruption policy for an incident that curtailed production in our Oklahoma converting operation in 2015. These
benefits were partially offset by higher depreciation and production inefficiencies associated with the start-up and ramp-up at Barnwell
Lower fiber costs in the United States are estimated to have reduced our cost of sales by approximately $2.5 million during 2016,
and the devaluation of the peso reduced year-over-year cost of sales by approximately $1.4 million. Additionally, an incident in our
converting operation in the fourth quarter of 2015 resulted in lost sales and the resultant margins on approximately 300,000 cases in 2015.
This incident was covered by a business interruption insurance policy, under which we recovered approximately $1.1 million when settled
in 2016. Depreciation expense increased by $2.0 million in 2016 due to 2016 and 2015 capital expenditures.
Cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased $22.0 million, or 19%, to $137.9 million compared to $116.0
million in the year ended December 31, 2014. Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was 81.9% in the 2015 period compared to 81.3%
in the 2014 period. Cost of sales as a percent of net sales was negatively affected by the effects of our new paper machine project in the
first quarter of 2015, higher fiber costs, higher production costs in our Oklahoma converting operation, an incident in our Oklahoma
converting operation that curtailed production in the fourth quarter, resulting in lost sales, and higher depreciation. These factors were
partially offset by lower paper production costs in our Oklahoma facility following the start-up of the new paper machine in March 2015.
Our cost of goods sold were negatively affected in the first quarter of 2015 by two main factors resulting from the new paper
machine project. The de-commissioning of two paper machines in late 2014 resulted in lower overall production, which had the effect
reducing fixed cost absorption and resulted in the need to purchase parent rolls to support our converting requirements. We consumed
approximately 3,000 tons of parent rolls during the project period, which increased our cost of goods sold by approximately $3.4 million.
Average fiber prices across our fiber basket increased approximately 4% in 2015 compared to the same period of 2014, which also
increased our cost of sales by approximately $2.4 million. Production costs in our converting operation were higher primarily due to higher
labor and higher repair and maintenance expenses. Additionally, an incident in our converting operation in the fourth quarter of 2015
resulted in lost sales and the resultant margins on approximately 300,000 cases. Depreciation expense increased by $781,000 in 2015 due to
2015 and 2014 capital expenditures.
Gross Profit
Gross profit was $30.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $30.5 million in 2015. As a percentage of net
sales, gross profit increased to 18.3% in 2016 compared to 18.1% in 2015. The increase in gross profit margin was primarily due to lower
fiber costs, the devaluation of the peso, and a recovery under a business interruption policy for an incident that curtailed production in our
Oklahoma converting operation in 2015, the benefits of which were partially offset by higher depreciation and production inefficiencies
associated with the start-up and ramp-up at Barnwell.
Gross profit increased by $3.8 million, or 14%, to $30.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to $26.7 million
in 2014. As a percentage of net sales, gross profit decreased to 18.1% in 2015 compared to 18.7% in 2014. The decrease in gross profit
margin was primarily due to higher fiber costs, the effect of the new paper machine project on our first quarter 2015 results, higher
production costs in our converting operation, higher depreciation, and an incident in our converting operation in the fourth quarter of 2015
that curtailed production and resulted in lost sales.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(In thousands, except SG&A as a % of net sales)
$
1,121
$
1,117
$
1,587
9,123
8,423
10,088
$
10,244
$
9,540
$
11,675

Commission expense
Other selling, general & administrative expense
Selling, general & administrative expenses (SG&A)
SG&A as a % of net sales

6.2%
25

5.7%

8.2%

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses include salaries, commissions to brokers and other miscellaneous expenses.
SG&A expenses increased $0.7 million, or 7%, to $10.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $9.5 million in 2015.
The increase in SG&A reflects increases in administrative compensation, recruiting and relocation, and legal and professional fees. As a
percentage of net sales, SG&A increased to 6.2% in 2016 compared to 5.7% in 2015.
SG&A expenses decreased $2.1 million, or 18%, to $9.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $11.7 million
in 2014. The reduction in SG&A was primarily due to lower commissions in 2015 related to mix of products sold and lower non-cash
compensation expense related to stock options granted to management. Additionally, $1.6 million of expenses recorded in 2014 related to
the Fabrica acquisition did not reoccur in 2015. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A decreased to 5.7% in 2015 compared to 8.2% in 2014.
Amortization of Intangibles
The Company recognized $1.2 million, $1.5 million and $0.8 million of amortization expense related to the intangible assets
acquired in the Fabrica Transaction during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Operating Income
As a result of the foregoing factors, operating income for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $18.7 million,
$19.5 million, and $14.3 million, respectively.
Interest and Other (Income) Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
(In thousands)
1,678 $
521 $
271
(214)
(683)
181

2016
Interest expense
Other (income) expense, net

$

Income before income taxes

$

17,222

$

19,612

$

13,859

Interest expense includes interest paid and accrued on all debt and amortization of deferred debt issuance costs. See "Liquidity and
Capital Resources" below. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $1.7 million compared to $0.5 million in the same
period in 2015. Interest expense for 2016 excludes $1.7 million of interest capitalized on significant projects during the period, compared to
$0.5 million of capitalized interest in the same period in 2015. The higher level of total interest in 2016 resulted from higher debt balances
in 2016, primarily due to additional debt incurred in conjunction with our converting line project in Oklahoma and construction of our
South Carolina facility and the full-year effect of debt incurred in conjunction with the paper machine project in Oklahoma in 2015.
Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $0.5 million compared to $0.3 million in the same period in 2014.
Interest expense for 2015 excludes $0.5 million of interest capitalized on significant projects during the period, compared to $0.3 million of
capitalized interest in the same period in 2014. The higher level of total interest in 2015 resulted from higher debt balances in 2015 due
primarily to additional debt incurred in conjunction with paper machine and converting line projects in Oklahoma and construction of our
South Carolina facility, and the full-year effect of debt incurred in conjunction with the Fabrica Transaction in June 2014.
Income Before Income Taxes
As a result of the foregoing factors, income before income taxes decreased $2.4 million, or 12%, to $17.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016 compared to $19.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. Income before income taxes increased $5.8
million, or 42%, to $19.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $13.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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Income Tax Provision
For the year ended December 31, 2016, income tax expense was $4.4 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of 25.6%. This rate
is lower than the statutory rate primarily due to South Carolina Investment Tax Credits (“SCITC”) and Oklahoma Investment Tax Credits
(“OITC”) associated with investments in the Company’s manufacturing operations in Barnwell, South Carolina and Pryor, Oklahoma,
respectively, and federal credits, including Indian Employment Credits (“IEC”), foreign tax credits and research and development credits.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, income tax expense was $6.1 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of 30.9%. This rate
is lower than the statutory rate primarily due to OITC associated with investments in our manufacturing operations, manufacturing tax
deductions and federal IEC.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, income tax expense was $4.4 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of 31.7%. This rate
is lower than the statutory rate primarily due to a change in estimate recognized in 2014, as we believe our deferred assets and liabilities
will be recognized at rates other than previously estimated, manufacturing tax deductions and OITC associated with investments in our
manufacturing operations.
Our current Oklahoma tax obligations for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 were satisfied by using our OITC
carryforward.
In 2014, due to effects of the Fabrica Transaction, we began recording current and deferred income taxes in the country of
Mexico. The effects of foreign taxes were not material to our effective tax rate due to U.S. income tax credits related to foreign-sourced
income.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview
Liquidity refers to the liquid financial assets available to fund our business operations and pay for near-term obligations. Liquid
financial assets consist of cash and unused borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility. Liquidity is also generated through the
management of working capital, for example, the collection of trade or tax receivables. Our cash requirements have historically been
satisfied through a combination of cash flows from operations, equity financings and debt financings. We expect this trend to continue.
However we may issue equity to decrease leverage, which would also provide head-room that could be used to support the Barnwell rampup and later be used to facilitate growth opportunities.
As of December 31, 2016, we had unrestricted cash of $8.8 million, compared to $4.4 million as of December 31, 2015.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, we had $1.3 million and $12.0 million, respectively, of cash that is restricted to use for
construction of our South Carolina greenfield facility. During 2016, the most significant event effecting liquidity and capital needs was the
construction of our integrated converting facility in Barnwell, South Carolina, consisting of two converting lines, a converting building, a
paper mill building, a paper machine capable of producing structured tissue, equipment capable of utilizing recycled paper, warehouse
facilities, and other supporting equipment and facility-space at a total estimated cost of $150 million. During 2016 and 2015, we incurred
$88.9 million and $63.2 million, respectively, of capital expenditures, including $79.4 million and $41.8 million, respectively, of assets
associated with our South Carolina facility. Financing for this project was provided through a combination of: (i) a follow-on offering of 1.5
million shares of our common stock, which provided net proceeds of $32.1 million; (ii) refinancing and expansion of our credit facility
with U.S. Bank, and (iii) a New Market Tax Credit (“NMTC”) transaction, under which we received $16.2 million of proceeds.
In April 2015, we amended our credit facility with US. Bank National Association (“U.S. Bank”) to add $40 million of borrowing
capacity under a delayed draw term loan. In June 2015, we again amended our credit facility with U.S. Bank to obtain additional borrowing
capacity, which will primarily be utilized to finance capital expenditures associated with our South Carolina facility and planned capital
expenditures at our Oklahoma facility. This amendment combined $20.0 million outstanding under an existing revolving line of credit and
$27.3 million outstanding under an existing term loan into a $47.3 million term loan, increased the delayed draw facility from $40 million
to $115 million, extended the maturity of the delayed draw facility from August 2015 to June 2020 and added a $50 million accordion
feature. Proceeds from the delayed draw term loan must be used solely to finance the purchase and installation of new equipment and
construction at our South Carolina facility. On January 19, 2017, we again amended our credit facility with U.S. Bank to increase the total
loan commitment, modify the pricing grid applicable to interest rates and the unused commitment fee, increase the permitted total leverage
ratio for fiscal quarters ending on or prior to March 31, 2018, and amend the terms of the draw loan to provide for additional advance
amounts available for the purpose of acquiring or improving real estate.
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In December 2015, we entered into a NMTC transaction, which provided $16.2 million of loan proceeds, which is being used to
finance capital expenditures associated with our South Carolina facility. This transaction allowed the Company to fix the interest on $11.1
million of its long-term debt for seven years and includes the potential for future debt forgiveness of approximately $5.1 million in seven
years. In connection with this transaction, the maximum borrowing capacity under our delayed draw facility was reduced from $115.0
million to $99.6 million, and was subsequently increased to $108.5 million with the January 2017 amendment to our credit facility. This
transaction is discussed in further detail in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
On February 21, 2011, we initiated a quarterly cash dividend. The initial quarterly dividend payment was established at $0.10 per
share and the per share dividends that have been paid in the past three years are as follows:
2016
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Total

$

2015
0.35
0.35
0.35
0.35
1.40

$

$

$

2014
0.35
0.35
0.35
0.35
1.40

$

0.35
0.35
0.35
0.35
1.40

$

On February 14, 2017, the Board of Directors authorized a quarterly cash dividend of $0.35 per outstanding share of the
Company's common stock to be paid on April 3, 2017 to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 27, 2017.
Quarterly dividends are approved and the payment amount is established based on our Board of Directors' review of our expected
future cash flows, our balance sheet leverage and future capital requirements. The Board of Directors will evaluate the appropriate
dividend payment on a quarterly basis. While we expect to continue to declare quarterly dividends, the payment of future dividends is at the
discretion of the Board of Directors and the timing and amount of any future dividends will depend upon earnings, cash requirements and
financial condition of the Company.
We estimate that capital expenditures for our Oklahoma facility in 2017 will be roughly $3.3 million, while capital expenditures
for our South Carolina facility in 2017 will be roughly $31.0 million. As discussed above, we expect to fund the improvement projects with
a combination of cash from operations, restricted cash from the NMTC transaction and additional borrowings principally under our delayed
draw term loan. Significant future expansion or capacity improvement projects beyond those discussed would likely be funded consistent
with our past practices.
As of December 31, 2016, we estimate that OITC will likely eliminate all Oklahoma income tax liability for the next few years. As
of December 31, 2016, a total of $8.7 million was recorded as income tax receivable, which represents refunds due of approximately $5.5
million from overpayments of estimated quarterly tax payments in prior years and the remainder representing credits due against taxes, with
respect to the Company, resulting from net operating loss carryovers. $1.9 million of the tax refund was received in February of 2017.
The following table summarizes key cash flow information for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:

2016
Cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$
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Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
(In thousands)

27,827 $
(77,679)
54,241

18,791 $
(75,189)
59,738

20,152
(37,434)
11,098

Cash flows provided by operating activities increased from $18.8 million in 2015 to $27.8 million in 2016. Operating cash flows
excluding changes in working capital increased $3.8 million year over year, reflecting increases in cash-earnings and the deferral of tax
payments. Additionally, a net decrease in the change in working capital accounts of $5.2 million as compared to 2015 was principally due
to the timing of receivable collections.
Cash flows used in investing activities increased from $75.2 million in 2015 to $77.7 million in 2016 due to $88.9 million of
capital expenditures, including $79.4 million for our South Carolina facility, while restricted cash from the NMTC transaction decreased by
$10.7 million. This cash may only be used to purchase assets for our South Carolina facility. Cash flows used in investing activities in 2015
included $63.2 million of capital expenditures, of which $41.8 million were for our South Carolina facility, and $12.0 million of cash
restricted in the NMTC transaction.
Cash flows provided by financing activities decreased from $59.7 million in 2015 to $54.2 million in 2016, primarily due to
borrowings of $70.3 million under our credit facility and $1.9 million in proceeds from economic incentives associated with our South
Carolina facility, which were partially offset by dividend payments to stockholders of $14.4 million and principal debt repayments of $3.9
million. In comparison, in 2015 we received $32.1 million of net proceeds from a follow-on offering of 1.5 million shares of the
Company’s common stock, borrowed $41.9 million under our credit facility and term loans with U.S. Bank and received $5.1 million of net
proceeds under the NMTC transaction. These inflows were partially offset by dividend payments to stockholders of $13.8 million, $2.7
million of debt principal repayments, a decrease in bank overdrafts of $1.7 million, and $1.3 million of debt issuance costs incurred in
2015.
Cash flows provided by operating activities decreased from $20.2 million in 2014 to $18.8 million in 2015 primarily due to an
increase in deferred income taxes and income taxes receivable, an increase in inventories and an increase in accounts receivable. The
increases in deferred income taxes and income taxes receivable were primarily due to the ratification of the Indian Employment Tax Credit
and accelerated depreciation extenders in December 2015 and state investment tax credits that were higher than previously estimated. The
increase in inventories was primarily due to an increase in parent roll inventory as we prepared for the start-up of the converting lines in our
South Carolina facility. The increase in accounts receivable was primarily due to the timing of sales to customers and related cash receipts.
Cash flows used in investing activities increased from $37.4 million in 2014 to $75.2 million in 2015 due to $63.2 million of
capital expenditures, including $41.8 million for our South Carolina facility, and $12.0 million of cash restricted in the NMTC transaction.
This cash may only be used to purchase assets for our South Carolina facility. Cash flows used in investing activities in 2014 included $25.8
million of capital expenditures and $16.7 million of cash paid for the Fabrica Transaction, which were partially offset by $5.0 million of
proceeds from the sale of short-term investments.
Cash flows provided by financing activities increased from $11.1 million in 2014 to $59.7 million in 2015, primarily due to $32.1
million of net proceeds received from a follow-on offering of 1.5 million shares of the Company’s common stock in April 2015.
Additionally, we borrowed $41.9 million under our credit facility and term loans with U.S. Bank and received $5.1 million of net proceeds
under the NMTC transaction. These inflows were partially offset by dividend payments to stockholders of $13.8 million in 2015, $2.7
million of debt principal repayments, a decrease in bank overdrafts of $1.7 million, and $1.3 million of debt issuance costs incurred. In
comparison, we borrowed $39.4 million under our credit facility with U.S. Bank in 2014, including $1.7 million of bank overdrafts, which
were partially offset by $16.4 million of debt principal repayments and $11.8 million of dividends paid to stockholders.
As noted above, in June 2015, the Company entered into the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) with U.S. Bank. Additionally, on January 19, 2017 the Company entered into Amendment No. 3 (“the Amendment”) which
increases the total loan commitment, modifies the pricing grid applicable to interest rates and the unused commitment fee, amends the
financial covenant related to the maintenance of a maximum total leverage ratio by increasing the permitted total leverage ratio for fiscal
quarters ending on or prior to March 31, 2018, and amends the terms of the draw loan to provide for additional advance amounts available
to the Company for the purposes of acquiring or improving real estate. Specifically, the amended financial covenants provide that we must
maintain at all times, as determined at the end of each of our fiscal quarters, a ratio of (i) the aggregate amount of all debt (exclusive of
capitalized loan amortization fees), to (ii) (Adjusted) EBITDA of not less than 5.75:1, 5.5:1, 4.5:1, 4:1 and 3.5:1 for the periods ending
March 31, 2017, June 30, 2017, September 30, 2017, December 31, 2017, and March 31, 2018 and each quarter thereafter, respectively.
The financial covenants also include that Fixed Charges, as defined in the Credit Agreement, will not exceed a ratio 1.2:1 of an alternative
Adjusted EBITDA figure, also defined in the Credit Agreement.
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The terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended, consist of the following:
●

a $25.0 million revolving credit line due June 2020;

●

a $47.3 million term loan with a 5-year term and payable in quarterly installments of $675,000 through June 2016 and $1.0 million
per quarter thereafter;

●

a $115.0 million delayed draw term loan with a 2-year draw period due June 2020 and payable in quarterly installments beginning in
September 2017 of 1.5% of the June 30, 2017 outstanding balance. In December 2015, in connection with the NMTC transaction,
the maximum borrowing capacity under the delayed draw term loan was reduced from $115.0 million to $99.6 million and in
January 2017, under the terms of the Amendment, the maximum borrowing capacity was increased to $108.5 million; and

●

an accordion feature allowing the revolving credit line and/or delayed draw commitment under the Credit Agreement to be increased
by up to $50.0 million at any time on or before the expiration date of the Credit Agreement.

Proceeds from the delayed draw term loan must be utilized solely to finance the purchase and installation of new equipment and
construction at our South Carolina facility.
Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended, amounts outstanding will bear interest at a variable rate of LIBOR or the
base rate plus a specified margin, depending upon the Company’s quarterly Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement.
Additionally, the Company will pay a commitment fee for the available portion of its revolving credit line at the applicable rate, as follows:
LIBOR
Margin
1.25%
1.50%
1.75%
2.25%
2.50%
3.00%
3.50%
4.00%

Leverage Ratio
Less than 1.00
Greater than or equal to 1.00 but less than 2.00
Greater than or equal to 2.00 but less than 3.00
Greater than or equal to 3.00 but less than 3.50
Greater than or equal to 3.50 but less than 4.00
Greater than or equal to 4.00 but less than 4.50
Greater than or equal to 4.50 but less than 5.00
Greater than or equal to 5.00

Base
Commitment
Margin
Fee
0.00%
0.15%
0.00%
0.20%
0.00%
0.25%
0.00%
0.30%
0.25%
0.35%
0.75%
0.40%
1.25%
0.45%
1.75%
0.50%

The Company’s leverage ratio at December 31, 2016 was 4.26.
The amount available under the revolving credit line may be reduced in the event that the Company's borrowing base, which is
based upon qualified receivables and qualified inventory, is less than $25.0 million. As of December 31, 2016, our borrowing base was
$15.0 million, including $6.1 million of eligible accounts receivable and $8.9 million of eligible inventory.
Obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the Company's assets. The Credit Agreement contains
representations and warranties, and affirmative and negative covenants customary for financings of this type, including, but not limited to,
limitations on additional borrowings, additional investments and asset sales. The financial covenants, which are tested as of the end of each
fiscal quarter, require the Company to maintain the following specific ratios: fixed charge coverage (minimum of 1.20 to 1.0) and leverage
(maximum of 5.0 to 1.0 on December 31, 2016; maximum of 5.75 to 1.0 on March 31, 2017; maximum of 5.5 to 1.0 on June 30, 2017,
maximum of 4.5 to 1.0 on September 30, 2017, maximum of 4.0 to 1.0 on December 31, 2017, and maximum of 3.5 to 1.0 on March 31,
2018 and thereafter). The table below compares the actual ratios as of December 31, 2016 with the limits specified in the credit agreement.
Actual as of
12/31/16
Leverage ratio
Fixed charge coverage ratio

4.26
1.86
30

Required in
Credit
Agreement
5.00
1.20

Excess
0.74
0.66

Contractual Obligations
As of December 31, 2016, our contractual cash obligations were our long-term debt and associated interest, our natural gas
contract, and equipment purchase obligations primarily related to the construction of our South Carolina facility. We do not have any
material debt guarantees outstanding as of December 31, 2016. We do not have any defined benefit pension plans or any obligation to fund
any postretirement benefit obligations for our work force.
Maturities of these contractual obligations consist of the following:
Payments Due by Period
Years
Contractual Cash Obligations

Total

Long-term debt (1)
Interest payments (2)
Lease obligations (3)
Natural gas contract (4)
Equipment purchase obligations (5)
Total

$

$

141,966
13,166
782
1,898
10,318
168,130

1
$

$

6,728
3,743
76
1,898
10,318
22,763

2 and 3
(In thousands)
$
17,873
6,841
308
$
25,022

4 and 5
$

$

after 5

109,839
2,258
317
112,414

$

$

7,526
324
81
7,931

(1) Under our revolving credit and term loan agreements, the maturity of outstanding debt could be accelerated if we do not maintain
certain financial covenants. At December 31, 2016, we were in compliance with our loan covenants.
(2) The majority of our long-term debt carries interest at variable rates. These amounts have been calculated based on the interest rates
in effect as of December 31, 2016, which ranged from 2.36% to 3.75% on variable rate loans and was 4.4% on our fixed rate loan,
resulting in a weighted average rate of 2.64%.
(3) Effective January 1, 2017, we entered into a five-year operating lease for our corporate office located in Brentwood, Tennessee.
(4) Effective April 1, 2009, we entered into a fixed price contract to supply approximately 60% of our natural gas requirements at our
Pryor facilities, or 334,000 MMBTUs per year. Subsequently, the agreement has been extended to supply approximately 80% to
90% of our natural gas requirements at Pryor through December 2017 as follows:
Period
January 2017
April 2017
July 2017
October 2017

-

MMBTUs
114,850
117,050
118,550
117,055

March 2017
June 2017
September 2017
December 2017

$
$
$
$

Price per
MMBTU
4.06
4.06
4.06
4.06

If we are unable to purchase the contracted amounts and the market price at that time is less than the contracted price, we would be
obligated under the terms of our agreements to reimburse an amount equal to the difference between the contracted amount and the
amount actually purchased, multiplied by the difference between our contract price and a price designated in the contract
(approximates spot price).
(5) In April 2015, we announced plans to build a new integrated paper converting facility in Barnwell, South Carolina, which is now
estimated to have a total cost of approximately $150.0 million. This project includes the construction and installation of two
converting lines, a paper machine and a de-inking plant. As of December 31, 2016, obligations under purchase orders related to the
Barnwell projects totaled approximately $9.0 million.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not entered into any transactions, agreements or other contractual arrangements that would result in significant offbalance sheet liabilities.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of our financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect our reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our
estimates and assumptions based upon historical experience and various other factors and circumstances. Management believes that our
estimates and assumptions are reasonable under the circumstances; however, actual results may vary from these estimates and assumptions
under different future circumstances. We have identified the following critical accounting policies that affect the more significant
judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements:
Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable consist of amounts due to us from normal business activities. Our management must
make estimates of accounts receivable that will not be collected. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit
limits based upon payment history and the customer's creditworthiness as determined by our review of their current credit information. We
continuously monitor collections and payments from our customers and maintain a provision for estimated losses based on historical
experience and specific customer collection issues that we have identified. Trade receivables are written-off when all reasonable collection
efforts have been exhausted, including, but not limited to, external third-party collection efforts and litigation. While such credit losses have
historically been within management's expectations and the provisions established, there can be no assurance that we will continue to
experience the same credit loss rates as in the past. During 2016, no accounts receivable were written off against the allowance for doubtful
accounts, while the provision for bad debts was decreased by $125,000 based on sales levels, historical experience and an evaluation of the
quality of existing accounts receivable. During 2015, no accounts receivable were written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts,
nor was the provision for bad debts increased or decreased based on sales levels, historical experience and an evaluation of the quality of
existing accounts receivable, resulting in no change to the allowance. During 2014, no accounts receivable were written off against the
allowance for doubtful accounts, while the provision was increased by $19,000 based on sales levels, historical experience and an
evaluation of the quality of existing accounts receivable. Additionally, $1,000 of accounts receivable previously written off were recovered,
resulting in a net increase in the allowance of $20,000.
Inventory. Our inventory consists of converted finished goods, bulk paper rolls and raw materials stated at the lower of cost or net
realizable value (market). Cost is based on standard cost, specific identification, or first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. Standard costs
approximate actual costs on a FIFO basis. Material, labor and factory overhead necessary to produce the inventories are included in the
standard cost to the extent such input costs do not result in values in excess of net realizable value. Our management regularly reviews
inventory quantities on hand and records a provision for excess and obsolete inventory based on the age of the inventory and forecasts of
product demand. A significant decrease in demand could result in an increase in the amount of excess inventory quantities on hand. During
the year ended December 31, 2016, the inventory allowance was increased $434,000 based on a specific review of estimated slow moving
or obsolete inventory items and decreased $510,000 due to actual write offs of obsolete inventory items, resulting in a net decrease in the
allowance of $76,000. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the inventory allowance was increased $239,000 based on a specific
review of estimated slow moving or obsolete inventory items and decreased $296,000 due to actual write offs of obsolete inventory items,
resulting in a net decrease in the allowance of $57,000. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the inventory allowance was increased
$193,000 based on a specific review of estimated slow moving or obsolete inventory items and decreased $100,000 due to actual write offs
of obsolete inventory items, resulting in a net increase in the allowance of $93,000.
Property, plant and equipment. Significant capital expenditures are required to establish and maintain a paper mill and converting
facilities. Our property, plant and equipment consists of land, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, vehicles, parts and
spares and construction-in-process, which are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Our management regularly reviews estimated
useful lives to determine whether any changes are necessary to reflect the related assets' actual productive lives. The lives of our property,
plant and equipment currently range from 2.5 to 40 years. As of December 31, 2016, we estimate that a 1-year decrease in useful lives
would have increased our depreciation expense by approximately $1.3 million, which would result in a corresponding reduction in our
gross profit and operating income. We capitalize interest for major capital projects. Capitalized interest is added to the cost of the
underlying assets and is depreciated over the useful lives of those assets. We capitalized interest of $1.7 million, $0.5 million and $0.3
million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.
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Stock-based compensation. U.S. GAAP requires equity-classified, share-based payments to employees, including grants of
employee stock options, to be valued at fair value on the date of grant and to be expensed over the applicable vesting period. We recognize
this expense on a straight-line basis over the options’ expected terms. We issue stock options that vest over a specified period (time-based
vesting) and stock options that vest when the price of the Company’s common stock reaches a certain price (market-based vesting). We also
issue restricted stock.
We granted options to purchase 65,000, 136,600 and 585,000 shares of our common stock in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
We recorded stock-based compensation expense of $563,000, $1,003,000 and $1,828,000 during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, in
connection with the option grants. During 2013, we granted 16,000 shares of restricted stock pursuant to the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan. We
recorded stock-based compensation expense of $4,000, $44,000 and $51,000 during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, in connection with
the restricted stock grants. Grants of restricted stock are valued using the closing market price of our common stock on the date of grant.
We estimate the grant date fair value of time-based stock option awards using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, which
requires assumptions involving an estimate of the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, the expected term of the
options, volatility, discount rate and dividend yield. Separate values were determined for options having exercise prices ranging from $7.48
to $31.33. For options valued using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, we calculated expected option terms based on the
“simplified” method for “plain vanilla” options, due to the Company’s limited exercise information. The “simplified method” calculates the
expected term as the average of the vesting term and the original contractual term of the options. We calculated volatility using the daily
volatilities of our common stock since our Initial Public Offering (“IPO”), while the discount rate was estimated using the interest rate for a
treasury note with the same contractual term as the options granted. Dividend yield is estimated at our current dividend rate, which
adjustments for any known future changes in the rate.
We have engaged a valuation specialist to estimate the grant date fair value of market-based stock option awards. Separate values
were determined for options having exercise prices ranging from $25.24 to $31.13. The specialist utilizes a Monte Carlo valuation method
to estimate the grant date fair value of the options granted in order to simulate a range of our possible future stock prices. Significant
assumptions to the Monte Carlo method include the expected life of the option, volatility and dividend yield. The expected life of the
option is based on the average of the service period and the contractual term of the option, using the “simplified” method for “plain vanilla”
options. Volatility is calculated based on a mix of historical and implied volatility during the expected life of the options. Historical
volatility is considered since our IPO and implied volatility is based on the publicly traded options of a three-company peer group within
the paper industry. Dividend yield is estimated based on our average historical dividend yield and our current dividend yield as of the grant
date. The Monte Carlo analysis is performed under a risk-neutral premise, under which price drift is modeled using treasury note yields
matching the expected life of the options.
Under U.S. GAAP, we expense the compensation cost related to the marked-based stock option awards on a straight- line basis
over the derived service periods of the options as calculated under the Monte Carlo valuation method. However, if the market condition is
achieved for any tranche of these options prior to the end of the derived service period, all remaining expense related to that tranche would
be recognized in the period in which the market condition is achieved. Additionally, if the service period is met but the share price target
required for the options to become exercisable is never achieved, no compensation cost may be reversed. As such, we may recognize
expense for options that never become exercisable.
In addition, we are required to develop an estimate of the number of share-based awards that will be forfeited due to employee
turnover. The guidance on stock compensation requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates in order to derive our best estimate of awards ultimately expected to vest.
We estimate forfeitures based on historical experience related to our own stock-based awards granted. We anticipate that these estimates
will be revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
Intangible Assets and Goodwill. We allocate the cost of business acquisitions to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition (commonly referred to as the purchase price allocation). As part of the purchase
price allocations for our business acquisitions, identifiable intangible assets are recognized as assets apart from goodwill if they arise from
contractual or other legal rights, or if they are capable of being separated or divided from the acquired business and sold, transferred,
licensed, rented or exchanged. We have engaged a valuation specialist to estimate the fair value of our purchase price and the related
intangible assets acquired.
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During 2014, we acquired certain assets and the U.S. business of Fabrica. Due to these transactions, we separately recognized the
fair values of a combined Supply and Lease Agreement, trademarks, a non-compete agreement and customer relationships. The fair value
of these assets was determined using an income approach, as follows: Supply and Lease Agreement - discounted cash flows method,
trademarks — “relief from royalty” method, non-compete agreement - “with and without” method, and customer relationships - excess
earnings method. An income approach requires estimates of future income. Under the discounted cash flow method, we utilized
assumptions related to the term of the agreements, the net benefit from the agreements and any changes in that benefit over the term of the
agreement, future tax rates and discount rates. Under the relief from royalty method, we estimated the useful lives of the trademarks, future
revenues associated with the trademarks, a royalty rate and a discount rate. The with and without method requires assumptions related to
the probability of competition in the absence of the non-compete agreement, the loss of future revenues due to competition and discount
rates. Under the excess earnings method, we must estimate future revenues, including growth and attrition rates, income tax rates, a rate of
return on assets, and discount rates. Future revenues and estimated benefits from the agreements are based on management’s knowledge of
the industry, customers, operations and the agreements. Tax rates are based on current effective tax rates. The royalty rate is based on
analysis of current royalty rates for corporate and product trademarks for similar products and evaluation of factors such as alternative
trademarks available, legal defensibility, remaining useful life, licensing power, net revenue margin, market share, barriers to entry, capital
requirements and customers’ bargaining power. The discount rate used to determine the present value of future cash flows was based on
the weighted average cost of capital method.
The value assigned to goodwill equals the amount of the purchase price of the business acquired in excess of the sum of the
amounts assigned to identifiable acquired assets, both tangible and intangible, less liabilities assumed. At December 31, 2016, we had
goodwill of $7.6 million and identifiable intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, of
$14.5 million.
Intangible assets are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives ranging from two to twenty years. The useful life of an
intangible asset is the period over which the asset is expected to contribute directly or indirectly to our future cash flows rather than the
period of time that it would take us to internally develop an intangible asset that would provide similar benefits. The estimate of the useful
lives of our intangible asset is based on an analysis of all pertinent factors, in particular:
●
●
●
●
●
●

the expected use of the asset by the entity;
the expected useful life of another asset or group of assets to which the useful life of the intangible asset may relate;
any legal, regulatory or contractual provisions that may limit the useful life;
any legal, regulatory, or contractual provisions that enable renewal or extension of the asset’s legal or contractual life without
substantial cost (provided there is evidence to support renewal or extension and renewal or extension can be accomplished without
material modifications of the existing terms and conditions);
the effects of obsolescence, demand, competition and other economic factors (such as the stability of the industry, known
technological advances, legislative action that results in an uncertain or changing regulatory environment, and expected changes in
distribution channels); and
the level of regular maintenance expenditures (but not enhancements) required to obtain the expected future cash flows from the
asset (for example, a material level of required maintenance in relation to the carrying amount of the asset may suggest a limited
useful life).

If no legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic, or other factors limit the useful life of an intangible asset, the useful
life of the asset is considered to be indefinite. The term indefinite does not mean infinite. An intangible asset with a finite useful life is
amortized over that useful life; an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized. We have no intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives. Under U.S. GAAP, goodwill is not amortized.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We review long-lived assets such as property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
goodwill for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be
recoverable, and also review goodwill annually. U.S. GAAP requires that goodwill be tested, at a minimum, annually for each reporting
unit. The first step in testing goodwill to assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that goodwill is impaired
as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative impairment test. If the first step indicates a quantitative test
must be performed, the second step is to identify any potential impairment by comparing the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair
value. If a potential impairment is identified, the third step is to measure the impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of
goodwill with the carrying value of goodwill of the reporting unit. Alternatively, the Company may bypass the qualitative assessment in
any period and proceed directly to performing the second step.
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The Company performed its initial goodwill impairment test on October 1, 2016 by performing the first step, a qualitative
impairment test, to determine whether it was more likely than not that goodwill was impaired. Goodwill is tested at a level of reporting
referred to as the “reporting unit”. The Company has two reporting units, which are defined as the “at home” business and the “away from
home” business. Based on this qualitative test, we determined it was more likely than not that the fair value of the Company’s reporting
units was greater than their carrying amounts; as such, we determined that performing the second and third steps of the impairment test
were not necessary and that goodwill was not impaired. In performing this qualitative assessment, we considered factors including, but not
limited to, the following:
●
●
●
●
●
●

Macroeconomic conditions, including general economic conditions, limitations on accessing capital, and other developments in
equity and credit markets;
Industry and market considerations, including any deterioration in the environment in which we operate, an increased
competitive environment, a decline in market-dependent multiples or metrics, a change in the market for our products or
services, and regulatory or political developments;
Cost factors such as increases in raw materials, labor, exchange rates or other costs that have a negative effect on earnings and
cash flows;
Overall financial performance, including negative or declining cash flows or a decline in actual or planned revenue or earnings
compared with actual and projected results of relevant prior periods;
Other relevant entity-specific events, such as changes in management, key personnel, strategy, customers, or litigation; and
Whether a sustained, material decrease in share price had occurred.

Subsequent to October 1, 2016, we did not note any additional qualitative factors that would indicate that the Company’s goodwill
was impaired.
New Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to the discussion of recently adopted/issued accounting pronouncements under Item 8, Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data, Footnote 1—New accounting pronouncements.
Non-GAAP Discussion
In addition to our GAAP results, we also consider non-GAAP measures of our performance for a number of purposes including
EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Net Debt, each of which is defined below.
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
We use EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as supplemental measures of our performance that is not required by, or presented in
accordance with, GAAP. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net income, operating income or
any other performance measure derived in accordance with GAAP, or as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities or a measure
of our liquidity.
EBITDA represents net income before net interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization. Amortization of
deferred debt issuance costs is included in net interest expense. Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA before non-cash stock
compensation expense and sporadic expenses, such as costs of business acquisitions and costs to demolish property, plant and equipment.
We believe EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA facilitate operating performance comparisons from period to period by eliminating potential
differences caused by variations in capital structures (affecting relative interest expense), tax positions (such as the impact on periods or
companies of changes in effective tax rates or net operating losses), the age and book depreciation of facilities and equipment (affecting
relative depreciation expense), non- cash compensation and valuation (affecting stock compensation expense) and sporadic expenses
(including costs of business acquisitions, demolition costs and change in estimated state tax liabilities).
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EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation, or as a substitute
for any of our results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations include:
●
●
●
●
●
●

they do not reflect our cash expenditures for capital assets;
they do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital requirements;
they do not reflect cash requirements for cash dividend payments;
they do not reflect the interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our
indebtedness;
although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be
replaced in the future, and EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect cash requirements for such replacements; and
other companies, including other companies in our industry, may calculate these measures differently than we do, limiting their
usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash
available to us to invest in the growth of our business or to reduce our indebtedness. We compensate for these limitations by relying
primarily on our GAAP results and using EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA on a supplemental basis.
The following table reconciles EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to net income for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and
2014:
Year Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(In thousands, except % of net sales)
Net income
Plus: interest expense, net
Plus: income tax expense
Plus: depreciation
Plus: intangibles amortization
EBITDA
% of net sales

$

$

Plus: stock compensation expense
Plus: relocation costs
Plus: foreign exchange loss
Plus: acquisition costs
Plus: demolition costs
Adjusted EBITDA
% of net sales

$

12,811
$
1,678
4,411
11,716
1,219
31,835
$
19.4%

13,557
$
521
6,055
9,717
1,507
31,357
$
18.6%

9,465
271
4,394
8,936
753
23,819
16.7%

566
550
401
33,352
$
20.3%

1,048
241
32,646
$
19.4%

1,879
234
1,572
400
27,904
19.6%

Adjusted EBITDA increased $0.8 million to $33.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $32.6 million in
the same period in 2015. Adjusted EBITDA as a percent of net sales increased from 19.4% in 2015 to 20.3% in 2016. EBITDA increased
$0.4 million to $31.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $31.4 million in the same period in 2015. EBITDA as a
percent of net sales increased from 18.6% in 2015 to 19.4% in 2016. The foregoing factors discussed in the net sales, cost of sales, and
selling, general and administrative expenses sections are the reasons for the change.
Adjusted EBITDA increased $4.7 million to $32.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to $27.9 million in
the same period in 2014. Adjusted EBITDA as a percent of net sales decreased from 19.6% in 2014 to 19.4% in 2015. EBITDA increased
$7.5 million to $31.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to $23.8 million in the same period in 2014. EBITDA as a
percent of net sales increased from 16.7% in 2014 to 18.6% in 2015. The foregoing factors discussed in the net sales, cost of sales, and
selling, general and administrative expenses sections are the reasons for the change.
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Net Debt
We use Net Debt as a supplemental measure of our leverage that is not required by, or presented in accordance with, GAAP. Net
Debt should not be considered as an alternative to total debt, total liabilities or any other performance measure derived in accordance with
GAAP. Net Debt represents total debt reduced by cash. We use this figure as a means to evaluate our ability to repay our indebtedness and
to measure the risk of our financial structure.
Net Debt represents the amount that Cash is less than total Debt of the Company. The amounts included in the Net Debt
calculation are derived from amounts included in the historical Balance Sheets. We have reported Net Debt because we regularly review
Net Debt as a measure of the Company's leverage. However, the Net Debt measure presented in this document may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures reported by other companies due to differences in the components of the calculation.
Net Debt increased from $71.2 million on December 31, 2015 to $133.2 million on December 31, 2016, primarily as a result of an
increase in total debt, which was partially offset by an increase in our total cash. The increase in total debt is primarily due to additional
borrowings to fund capital expenditures in 2016. The increase in cash was primarily due to increased cash provided by operating activities
in 2016 and increased borrowings under our credit facility.
The following table presents Net Debt as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015:
Net Debt Reconciliation:
Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt
Total debt
Less cash
Net debt

$

$

2016
6,728 $
135,238
141,966
(8,750)
133,216 $

2015
3,882
71,699
75,581
(4,361)
71,220

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Form 10-K, including the sections entitled "Business," "Risk Factors" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations," contains forward-looking statements. These statements relate to, among other things:
●
●
●
●
●

our business strategy;
the market opportunity for our products, including expected demand for our products;
our estimates regarding our capital requirements;
our sales and earnings; and
any of our other plans, objectives, expectations and intentions contained in this Form 10-K that are not historical facts.

These statements relate to future events or future financial performance, and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievement to be materially different from any future
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "may," "should," "could," "expects," "plans," "intends," "anticipates,"
"believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," “will” or "continue" or the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievements. These statements are only predictions.
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You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties, and other factors that are, in some cases, beyond our control and that could materially affect actual results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements. Factors that could materially affect our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements
include, but are not limited to, those detailed under the caption "Risk Factors" and the following items:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

failure to complete the construction of our South Carolina facility on schedule or at all;
intense competition in our markets and aggressive pricing by our competitors could force us to decrease our prices and reduce our
profitability;
a substantial percentage of our converted product revenues are attributable to a small number of customers who may decrease or
cease purchases at any time;
disruption in our supply or increase in the cost of fiber;
Fabrica’s failure to execute under the Supply Agreement;
the additional indebtedness incurred to finance the construction of our South Carolina facility;
new competitors entering the market and increased competition in our region;
changes in our retail trade customers' policies and increased dependence on key retailers in developed markets;
excess supply in the market may reduce our prices;
the availability of, and prices for, energy;
failure to purchase the contracted quantity of natural gas may result in financial exposure;
our exposure to variable interest rates;
the loss of key personnel;
labor interruption;
natural disaster or other disruption to our facilities;
ability to meet loan covenant conditions or renegotiate such conditions with lenders;
ability to finance the capital requirements of our business;
cost to comply with existing and new laws and regulations;
failure to maintain an effective system of internal controls necessary to accurately report our financial results and prevent fraud;
the parent roll market is a commodity market and subject to fluctuations in demand and pricing;
indebtedness limits our free cash flow and subjects us to restrictive covenants relating to the operation of our business;
failure to perform as projected in our financial forecasts;
an inability to continue to implement our business strategies; and
inability to sell the capacity generated from our converting lines.

You should read this Form 10-K completely and with the understanding that our actual results may be materially different
from what we expect. We undertake no duty to update these forward-looking statements after the date of this Form 10-K, even
though our situation may change in the future. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk
Our market risks relate primarily to changes in interest rates. Our revolving line of credit and most of our term loans carry a
variable interest rate that is tied to market indices and, therefore, our statement of income and our cash flows will be exposed to changes in
interest rates. As of December 31, 2016, we had floating-rate borrowings of $131.4 million. The amounts outstanding under all variable
rate loans bear interest at a variable rate of LIBOR or the base rate plus a specified margin or 2.36% to 3.75% as of December 31, 2016.
The margin is set quarterly and based on our leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2016, we also had fixed-rate borrowings of $10.6 million
at 4.4%, resulting in a weighted average interest rate of 2.64%.
We considered the historical volatility of short-term interest rates and determined that it would be reasonably possible that an
adverse change of 100 basis points could be experienced in the near term. Based on current borrowing levels and interest rate structures, a
100 basis point increase in interest rates would result in a pre-tax $1.3 million increase to our annual interest expense. We attempt to
mitigate interest rate risk by refinancing our debt at lower interest rates when it is deemed cost-effective to do so.
Commodity Price Risk
We are subject to commodity price risk, the most significant of which relates to the price of fiber. Selling prices of tissue products
are influenced by the market price of fiber, which is determined by industry supply and demand. The effect of a fiber price increase of
$10.00 per ton would be approximately $0.9 million per year. As previously discussed under Item 1A, "Risk Factors," increases in fiber
prices could adversely affect earnings if selling prices are not adjusted or if such adjustments trail the increase in fiber prices. We attempt to
mitigate commodity price risk by entering into supply agreements that provide discounts to current market prices.
Natural Gas Price Risk
We are exposed to market risks for changes in natural gas commodity pricing. We partially mitigate this risk through our natural
gas fixed price contract that continues through December 2017 for approximately 80% to 90% of our natural gas requirements at our Pryor
facilities. As we begin production at our Barnwell paper mill in 2017, we will increase our exposure to changes in the price of natural gas.
The effect of a $1.00/MMBTU increase on the 10% to 20% not under a fixed price contract at Pryor and on the estimated natural gas
demands of fully operational Barnwell facilities would be approximately $0.8 million per year.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Orchids Paper Products Company
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Orchids Paper Products Company and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2016, and the financial statement schedule of Orchids Paper Products Company listed in Item
15(a). We also have audited Orchids Paper Products Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in 2013. Orchids Paper Products Company's management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement
schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule and an opinion on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of
the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (a) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (b) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Orchids Paper Products Company and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the threeyear period ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and in
our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein. Also in our opinion, Orchids Paper Products Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013.
/s/ HOGANTAYLOR LLP
Tulsa, Oklahoma
March 15, 2017
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ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)
As of December 31,
2016
2015
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $30 in 2016 and $155 in 2015
Receivables from related party
Inventories, net
Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

8,750
8,954
491
18,414
8,735
925
868
47,137

$

4,361
10,509
1,325
13,501
5,628
1,136
1,853
38,313

Property, plant and equipment
Accumulated depreciation
Net property, plant and equipment

320,442
(71,258)
249,184

232,925
(59,547)
173,378

Restricted cash
VAT receivable
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $3,479 in 2016 and $2,260 in 2015
Goodwill
Total assets

1,276
212
14,511
7,560
319,880

12,005
1,751
15,730
7,560
248,737

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accounts payable to related party
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, less current portion
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Commitment and contingencies (Note 4)
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $.001 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized, 10,296,891 and 10,268,891 shares
issued and outstanding in 2016 and 2015, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

$

7,739
3,130
2,545
6,728
20,142

$

$

7,211
3,887
3,880
3,882
18,860

133,989
5,170
27,334

70,357
5,098
20,639

10
98,885
34,350
133,245
319,880

10
97,834
35,939
133,783
248,737

$

ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Net sales

2016
164,494

$

Cost of sales
Gross profit

$

2015
168,446

$

2014
142,724

134,345
30,149

137,949
30,497

115,985
26,739

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Intangibles amortization
Operating income

10,244
1,219
18,686

9,540
1,507
19,450

11,675
753
14,311

Interest expense
Other (income) expense, net
Income before income taxes

1,678
(214)
17,222

521
(683)
19,612

271
181
13,859

(3,159)
7,570
4,411

1,820
4,235
6,055

6,774
(2,380)
4,394

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes:
Current
Deferred

Net income

$

12,811

$

13,557

$

9,465

Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

1.25
1.24

$
$

1.39
1.38

$
$

1.12
1.11

Weighted average common shares used in calculating net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Dividends per share

10,286,373
10,349,274
$

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1.40

9,778,167
9,844,221
$

1.40

8,462,875
8,538,752
$

1.40

ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Years ended December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016
(In thousands, except share data)

Balance at December 31, 2013
Acquisition of Fabrica assets and U.S. business
Stock based compensation
Stock options exercised
Dividends paid to stockholders
Net income
Excess tax benefit of stock options exercised
Balance at December 31, 2014
Stock based compensation
Stock options exercised
Net proceeds from follow-on stock offering
Land donation
Dividends paid to stockholders
Net income
Excess tax benefit of stock options exercised
Balance at December 31, 2015
Stock based compensation
Stock options exercised
Dividends paid to stockholders
Net income
Excess tax benefit of stock options exercised
Balance at December 31, 2016

Common Stock
Shares
Value
8,066,809 $
8
686,083
1
(667)
5,750
8,757,975 $
9
(334)
11,250
1,500,000
1
10,268,891 $
10
28,000
10,296,891 $
10

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$
46,298
15,999
1,879
79
20
$
64,275
1,048
210
32,118
189
(6)
$
97,834
566
314
171
$
98,885

Retained
Earnings
$
38,543
(11,779)
9,465
$
36,229
(13,847)
13,557
$
35,939
(14,400)
12,811
$
34,350

Total
84,849
16,000
1,879
79
(11,779)
9,465
20
$ 100,513
1,048
210
32,119
189
(13,847)
13,557
(6)
$ 133,783
566
314
(14,400)
12,811
171
$ 133,245
$

ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands)
2016
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Deferred income taxes
Stock compensation expense
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Changes in cash due to changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

12,811

2015
$

13,557

2014
$

9,465

13,229
(125)
7,570
566
17

11,420
4,235
1,048
-

9,749
20
(2,491)
1,879
8

2,514
(4,913)
(3,107)
211
2,237
(973)
(2,210)
27,827

(1,640)
(3,852)
(4,994)
149
(972)
(293)
133
18,791

(2,556)
1,272
(634)
(422)
(3,560)
7,706
(284)
20,152

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisition of Fabrica assets and U.S. business
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from insurance settlement related to capital investment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash
Purchases of short-term investments
Proceeds from the sale of short-term investments
Net cash used in investing activities

(88,862)
420
34
10,729
(77,679)

(63,184)
(12,005)
(75,189)

(16,700)
(25,769)
(2)
5,037
(37,434)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Borrowings under long-term debt
Proceeds from economic incentive
Net proceeds under New Market Tax Credit financing
Principal payments on long-term debt
Net borrowings on revolving credit line
Bank overdrafts
Proceeds from follow-on stock offering
Dividends paid to stockholders
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Excess tax benefit of stock options exercised
Deferred debt issuance costs
Net cash provided by financing activities

1,900
(3,882)
70,267
(14,400)
314
171
(129)
54,241

31,109
5,098
(2,700)
10,810
(1,706)
32,119
(13,847)
210
(6)
(1,349)
59,738

30,000
(16,429)
7,712
1,706
(11,781)
79
20
(209)
11,098

4,389
4,361
8,750

3,340
1,021
4,361

(6,184)
7,205
1,021

Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash, beginning
Cash, ending

$
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands)
Supplemental Disclosure:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid, net
Tax benefits realized from stock options exercised
Capital expenditures invoiced but not yet paid
Stock issued for Fabrica assets and U.S. business
Value of donated land

$
$
$
$
$
$

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2,907
13
211
744
-

$
$
$
$
$
$

720
6,722
23
189

$
$
$
$
$
$

499
7,301
16
16,000
-

ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Note 1—Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Business
Orchids Paper Products Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Orchids” or the “Company”) produce bulk tissue paper,
known as parent rolls, and convert parent rolls into finished products, including paper towels, bathroom tissue and paper napkins. The
Company predominately sells its products for use in the "at home" market under private labels to a customer base consisting primarily of
dollar stores, discount retailers and grocery stores that offer limited alternatives across a wide range of products, and, to a lesser extent, the
“away from home” market. The Company has owned and operated its manufacturing facility in Pryor, Oklahoma since 1998. On June 3,
2014, the Company completed the acquisition of certain assets from Fabrica de Papel San Francisco, S.A. de C.V. (“Fabrica”) pursuant to
an Asset Purchase Agreement (see Note 2). In connection with the acquisition of these assets, the Company formed three wholly owned
subsidiaries: Orchids Mexico DE Holdings, LLC, Orchids Mexico DE Member, LLC, and OPP Acquisition Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
(“Orchids Mexico”). In April 2015, the Company announced the construction of a new manufacturing facility in Barnwell, South Carolina.
In conjunction with this project, the Company established a wholly owned subsidiary: Orchids Paper Products Company of South Carolina.
Furthermore, in connection with a New Market Tax Credit (“NMTC”) transaction in December 2015 (see Note 12), the Company created
Orchids Lessor SC, LLC, another wholly owned subsidiary.
The Company's stock trades on the NYSE MKT under the ticker symbol "TIS."
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Orchids Paper Products Company, its wholly owned
subsidiaries, as described above, and variable interest entities for which Orchids is the primary beneficiary. All significant intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
Cash
Cash includes cash on hand and cash in banks that management expects to utilize for operational activities.
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables based on a review of all
outstanding amounts. A trade receivable is considered to be past due if it is outstanding for more than five days past terms. Management
determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by regularly evaluating individual customer receivables and considering a customer's
financial condition, credit history, and current economic conditions. Receivables are written-off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of
receivables previously written-off are recorded when received. The Company does not typically charge interest on trade receivables.
Inventories
Inventories consist of converted finished goods, bulk paper rolls and raw materials stated at the lower of cost or net realizable
value (market). The Company's cost is based on standard cost, specific identification, or FIFO (first-in, first-out) method. Standard costs
approximate actual costs on a FIFO basis. Material, labor, and factory overhead necessary to produce the inventories are included in the
standard cost to the extent such input costs do not result in values in excess of net realizable value.
47

ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Note 1—Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The Company expenses normal maintenance and repair costs as incurred. Spare parts
that are maintained to keep the Company’s machinery and equipment in working order are capitalized and expensed when used rather than
depreciated. Gain and loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the period incurred. The Company capitalizes
interest for major capital projects. Capitalized interest is added to the cost of the underlying assets and is depreciated over the useful lives of
those assets.
Goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets
The Company records the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed as goodwill. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as well as when an event, or change in circumstances,
indicates that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”), the Company may first assess qualitative
factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair
value of its reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, the Company
determines it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, there is no need to perform
any further testing. However, if the Company concludes otherwise, it is required to perform the first step of a two-step impairment test by
calculating the fair value of the reporting unit and comparing the fair value with the carrying amount of the reporting unit. If the fair value
of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, it is required to perform the second step of the two-step impairment test, in which an
impairment loss is calculated and recorded to the extent that the implied fair value of the goodwill of the reporting unit is less than its
carrying value. Alternatively, the Company may bypass the qualitative assessment in any period and proceed directly to performing the
first step of the two-step goodwill impairment test.
The Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test on October 1, 2016 by performing the first step (e.g. “step zero”), a
qualitative impairment test, to determine whether it was more likely than not that goodwill was impaired. Goodwill is tested at a level of
reporting referred to as the “reporting unit”. The Company has two reporting units, which are defined as the “at home” business and the
“away from home” business. Based on this qualitative test, we determined it was more likely than not that the fair value of the Company’s
reporting units were greater than their carrying amounts; as such, we determined that performing the second and third steps of the
impairment test were not necessary and that goodwill was not impaired.
Intangible assets consist of the Supply Agreement and Equipment Lease Agreements with Fabrica (see Note 2), licenses,
trademarks, customer relationships and a non-compete agreement. The Company amortizes these assets on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the assets, which range from 2 to 20 years.
The Company reviews its long-lived assets, primarily property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. Impairment evaluation is based on
estimates of remaining useful lives and the current and expected future profitability and cash flows. The determination of future
profitability and cash flows require significant estimates to be made by the Company’s management. The Company had no impairment of
long-lived assets during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 or 2014.
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ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Note 1—Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Income taxes
Income taxes are computed in accordance with the tax rules and regulations of the taxing authorities where the income is earned.
Deferred income taxes are computed using the liability method and are provided on all temporary differences between the financial basis
and the tax basis of the Company's assets and liabilities. Future tax benefits are recognized to the extent that realization of those benefits is
considered to be more likely than not. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets for which realization is not likely. The
Company uses the flow through method to account for Oklahoma and South Carolina investment tax credits earned on eligible capital
expenditures in the respective states. Under this method, the investment tax credits are recognized as a reduction to income tax expense
when earned.
Deferred debt issuance costs
Costs incurred in obtaining debt funding are deferred and amortized on an effective interest method over the terms of the loans.
Amortization expense for 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $294,000, $198,000, and $60,000, respectively, and has been classified as interest
expense in the statement of income.
Stock compensation expense
Grant-date cost of stock options and restricted stock are recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the
respective options and shares, based on the fair value of the award on the grant date. The fair value of stock options that have time-based
vesting requirements is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of stock options that have market-based
vesting requirements is estimated using a Monte-Carlo option-pricing model. The fair value of restricted stock awards is calculated as the
arithmetic mean of the high and low market price of the Company’s stock on the grant date.
Excess tax benefits related to share-based compensation that are available to absorb future tax deficiencies related to share-based
compensation are recorded in additional paid-in capital ("APIC pool") when realized. If the amount of tax deficiencies is greater than the
available APIC pool, the excess is recorded as current income tax expense in the statement of income.
Revenue recognition
Revenues for products loaded on customer trailers are recognized when the customer has accepted custody and left the Company's
dock. Revenues for products shipped to customers are recognized when title passes upon shipment. Customer discounts and pricing
allowances are included in net sales.
Shipping and handling costs
Shipping and handling costs incurred to ship raw materials to the Company's facilities are included in inventory and cost of sales in
the statement of income. Shipping and handling costs incurred to ship finished goods to customer locations and warehouse locations are
included in cost of sales in the statement of income.
Business interruption insurance
In 2016, the Company received $1.1 million of proceeds under a business interruption insurance policy for an incident that
occurred in its Oklahoma converting operation in 2015. This amount is recorded as a reduction of cost of sales in the statement of income.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Note 1—Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Advertising costs
Advertising costs, which include costs related to artwork and packaging development, totaled approximately $438,000, $319,000,
and $292,000, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. These costs are expensed when incurred and included
in selling, general and administrative expenses.
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.
Reclassifications
Certain immaterial prior period amounts in the accompanying financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current
period presentation. These reclassifications did not affect previously reported amounts of net income.
New and recently adopted accounting pronouncements
In November 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No.
2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes (“ASU 2015-17”). ASU 2015-17 requires that deferred
tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. ASU 2015-17 is effective for public
companies for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016. During 2016, we elected to early adopt ASU 2015-17 on a
retrospective basis. As such, we reclassified $1.3 million of current deferred tax assets to noncurrent (netted within noncurrent liabilities)
on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2015. The adoption of ASU 2015-17 did not affect our consolidated statements of
income.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-05, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40);
Customer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement (“ASU 2015-05”). ASU 2015-05 provides guidance to
customers about whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license. If a cloud computing arrangement includes a
software license, then the customer should account for the software license element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition of
other software licenses. If a cloud computing arrangement does not include a software license, the customer should account for the
arrangement as a service contract. The guidance does not change the accounting for a customer’s service contracts. ASU 2015-05 became
effective for the Company on January 1, 2016. Adoption of ASU 2015-05 did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the
Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (“ASU 2015-03”). ASU 2015-03 requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability
be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. In
August 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2015-15, “Interest – Imputation of Interest: Presentation and Subsequent
Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements” (“ASU 2015-15). ASU 2015-15 states that since ASU
2015-03 does not address presentation or subsequent measurement of debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit arrangements, the SEC
staff will not object to an entity deferring and presenting debt issuance costs as an asset and subsequently amortizing the deferred debt
issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of-credit arrangement, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings on the
line-of-credit arrangement. ASU 2015-03 became effective for the Company on January 1, 2016. As such, we reclassified $1.3 million of
unamortized debt issuance costs, including costs associated with our revolving lines of credit, as of December 31, 2015, to offset long-term
debt in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 7). Adoption of ASU 2015-03 and ASU 2015-15 did not affect our consolidated
statements of income.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Note 1—Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04 , Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for
Goodwill Impairment (“ASU 2017-04”). ASU 2017-04 provides for a one-step quantitative impairment test, whereby a goodwill
impairment loss will be measured as the excess of a reporting unit’s carrying amount over its fair value (not to exceed the total goodwill
allocated to that reporting unit). It eliminates Step 2 of the current two-step goodwill impairment test, under which a goodwill impairment
loss is measured by comparing the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. ASU 201704 is effective, on a prospective basis, for SEC filers for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption
permitted. Management is currently assessing the impact ASU 2017-04 will have on the Company, but it is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01 , Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business
(“ASU 2017-01”). ASU 2017-01 clarifies the definition of a business with the objective of adding guidance to assist entities with
evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. ASU 2017-01 is effective, on
a prospective basis, for public companies for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Management is
currently assessing the impact ASU 2017-00 will have on the Company, but it is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial statements.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash (“ASU 2016-18”).
ASU 2016-18 requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and
amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. Therefore, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents
should be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the
statement of cash flows. ASU No 2016-18 is effective, on a retrospective basis, for public companies for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. Management is currently assessing the impact ASU 2016-18 will have
on the Company, but it is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s cash flows.
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than
Inventory (“ASU 2016-16”). ASU 2016-16 requires the recognition of the income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset,
other than inventory, when the transfer occurs. ASU 2016-16 is effective for public companies for interim and annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The amendments in this ASU should be applied on a modified
retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption.
Management is currently assessing the impact ASU 2016-16 will have on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments (“ASU 2016-15”). ASU 2016-15 will make eight targeted changes to how cash receipts and cash payments
are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-15 is effective for public companies for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The new standard will require adoption on a retrospective basis unless it
is impracticable to apply, in which case it would be required to apply the amendments prospectively as of the earliest date practicable.
Management is currently assessing the impact ASU 2016-15 will have on the Company, but it is not expected to have a material impact on
the Company’s cash flows.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology in current GAAP
with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable
information to inform credit loss estimates. ASU 2016-13 is effective for SEC filers for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2019. Management is currently assessing the impact ASU 2016-13 will have on the Company, but it is not expected to have
a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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Note 1—Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to
Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 requires, among other things, that excess tax benefits and tax
deficiencies be recognized as income tax expense or benefit in the income statement rather than as additional paid-in capital, changes the
classification of excess tax benefits from a financing activity to an operating activity in the statement of cash flows, and allows forfeitures to
be accounted for when they occur rather than estimated. ASU 2016-09 is effective for the Company on January 1, 2017. Adopting ASU
2016-09 will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to
recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet but did not make significant changes to the effects of lessee accounting on
the income statement or statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-02 is effective for public companies for annual and interim periods beginning
after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. Management is currently assessing the impact ASU 2016-02 will have on the
Company’s financial position.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (“ASU 2016-01”). ASU 2016-01 addresses certain aspects of recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial instruments, specifically equity investments and financial instruments measured at
amortized cost. ASU 2016-01 is effective for public companies for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017.
Management is currently assessing the impact ASU 2016-01 will have, if any, on the Company’s financial position, results of operations
and cash flows.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory (“ASU 201511”). ASU 2015-11 requires inventory measured using all methods other than the last-in, first-out (LIFO) or retail methods to be measured
at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. ASU 2015-11 is effective for the Company on January 1, 2017.
Adopting ASU 2015-11 will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU
2014-09 clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue and develops a common revenue standard under U.S. GAAP under which an entity
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Due to the issuance of ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606); Deferral of the Effective Date (“ASU 2015-14”), in July 2015, the effective date of ASU 2014-09
was deferred for one year and becomes effective for the Company for interim and annual periods beginning on or after December 15,
2017. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net) (“ASU 2016-08”). ASU 2016-08 clarifies implementation guidance on principal
versus agent considerations in ASU 2014-09. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing (“ASU 2016-10”). In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients (“ASU 2016-12”). ASU
2016-10 and ASU 2016-12 do not change the guidance under ASU 2014-09, but clarify certain aspects of this guidance. In May 2016, the
FASB issued ASU No. 2016-11 , Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) (“ASU 2016-11”). ASU
2016-11 rescinds certain SEC accounting guidance that is inconsistent with guidance in ASU 2014-09. Management is currently assessing
the impact these ASUs will have on the Company, but they are not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.
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Note 2—Fabrica Transaction
On May 5, 2014, Orchids Paper Products Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Orchids Mexico, entered into an asset
purchase agreement (“APA”) with Fabrica to acquire certain assets and 100% of the U.S. business of Fabrica. On June 3, 2014, the
Company closed on the transaction set forth in the APA, and in connection therewith, entered into a supply agreement (“Supply
Agreement”) and an equipment lease agreement (“Equipment Lease Agreement”) (collectively, the “Fabrica Transaction”).
Asset Purchase Agreement and Assignment and Assumption of Supply Agreement
Pursuant to the terms of the APA, Orchids Mexico acquired a paper machine, two converting lines, Fabrica’s U.S. customer list,
exclusive rights to all of Fabrica’s trademarks in the United States, and Fabrica’s covenant not to compete in the United States. The
purchase price consisted of 411,650 shares of Orchids’ common stock, which were valued at $12.0 million based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the closing date and had a fair market value of $9.6 million on the closing date due to restrictions on the sale of the
stock. In connection with closing the APA, Orchids Paper Products Company also entered into an Assignment and Assumption of Supply
Agreement with Elgin Finance & Investment Corp. (“Elgin”) for $16.7 million in cash and 274,433 shares of Orchids’ common stock,
which were valued at $8.0 million based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the closing date and had a fair market value of
$6.4 million on the closing date due to restrictions on the sale of the stock, in exchange for the assignment to Orchids of Elgin’s supply
agreement with Fabrica which provided Elgin exclusive supply rights with respect to Fabrica’s U.S. business.
Under the Supply Agreement, the Company has the right to purchase from Fabrica up to 19,800 tons of parent rolls and equivalent
converting capacity for certain specified product during each twelve-month period following the effective date of the Supply Agreement.
The Supply Agreement also allowed the Company to purchase up to an additional 7,700 tons annually in each of the first two years of the
agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Supply Agreement, Fabrica and its affiliates will be subject to a non-compete provision with respect
to business in the U. S. The Supply Agreement has an initial term of twenty years. In the event of a termination of the Supply Agreement
due to (i) a material breach as a result of intentional, willful or grossly negligent conduct by Fabrica, (ii) a breach of Fabrica’s covenant not
to compete, or (iii) a voluntary filing of bankruptcy by Fabrica, Fabrica must pay the Company $100 million in liquidated damages. In the
event of a change of control of Fabrica, the Company will have a two-year right to terminate the Supply Agreement, and in such event,
Fabrica would be required to pay the Company liquidated damages of $36.7 million.
Equipment Lease Agreement
Pursuant to the terms of the Equipment Lease Agreement, Orchids Mexico will lease the paper making and converting assets
acquired under the APA back to Fabrica. The rental fee will be based upon the number of metric tons shipped by Fabrica to the Company,
subject to annual adjustment based on the calculation of the purchase price for product under the Supply Agreement. The Equipment Lease
Agreement has a term of twenty years, but will terminate automatically upon termination of the Supply Agreement.
Upon the earlier of (i) the termination of the Equipment Lease Agreement or (ii) the purchase by Orchids of a separate
papermaking or converting asset and the entry into of an equipment lease agreement between Orchids and Fabrica with respect to such
purchased asset, Orchids Mexico shall have the right to sell to Fabrica the paper assets leased under the Equipment Lease Agreement on an
as-is-where-is basis, for $12.0 million.
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Purchase Price Allocation
The acquisition of Fabrica’s U.S. business in the Fabrica Transaction is being accounted for under the Financial Accounting
Standards Board’s (the “FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification 805, “Business Combinations”. The $32.7 million purchase price of
$16.7 million in cash (financed by a term loan) and $16.0 million in common stock was allocated as follows (in thousands):
Total purchase price
Less: net assets acquired
Machinery & equipment
Intangible asset - supply and equipment lease agreements
Intangible asset - licenses/trademarks
Intangible asset - non-compete agreement
Intangible asset - customer relationships
Goodwill

$

32,700

$

7,150
12,800
1,350
1,150
2,690
7,560

Intangibles and goodwill
Intangible assets at December 31, 2016 were:
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Life
(in years)
Intangible asset - supply and equipment lease agreements
Intangible asset - licenses/trademarks
Intangible asset - non-compete agreement
Intangible asset - customer relationships

20
20
2
12

$

$

12,800
1,350
1,150
2,690
17,990

Accumulated
Amortization
(in thousands)
$
1,600
169
1,150
560
$
3,479

Net
Carrying
Value
$

$

11,200
1,181
2,130
14,511

Intangible assets at December 31, 2015 were:
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Life
(in years)
Intangible asset - supply and equipment lease agreements
Intangible asset - licenses/trademarks
Intangible asset - non-compete agreement
Intangible asset - customer relationships

20
20
2
12

$

$

12,800
1,350
1,150
2,690
17,990

Accumulated
Amortization
(in thousands)
$
960
101
863
336
$
2,260

Estimated future intangible amortization expense is $0.9 million in 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively.
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Net
Carrying
Value
$

$

11,840
1,249
287
2,354
15,730
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Note 2—Fabrica Transaction (Continued)
Goodwill of $7.6 million represents the premium the Company was willing to pay to enter into a long-term relationship with
Fabrica and the benefits the Company expects to receive from being able to cost effectively serve its current customers and to develop
relationships with new customers with distribution centers in the western United States. The relationship with Fabrica is expected to
provide opportunities for future production capacity and sales growth. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested at least annually for
impairment, or if circumstances occur that more likely than not will reduce the fair value of the reporting unit to below its carrying amount.
No goodwill impairment has been recorded as of December 31, 2016. There were no other changes in the carrying amount of goodwill
subsequent to the acquisition. All of the goodwill related to the Fabrica Transaction is expected to be tax-deductible.
Operating Results of Business Acquired
The consolidated statements of income include the following revenues and operating income related to the U.S. business acquired
from Fabrica:
Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
(In thousands)
42,045 $
46,316 $
25,498
10,583
10,569
4,896

2016
Revenues
Operating income

$

Operating income included in the above table does not include an allocation of any of the Company’s overhead or selling, general
and administrative expenses.
Transaction costs of $1.6 million related to the Fabrica Transaction are recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses
in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2014.
Pro Forma Information (unaudited)
The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of the operating results of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2014 as if the U.S. business acquired from Fabrica had been included in the Company’s results of operations as of January 1,
2014 (dollars in thousands, except per share data):
Pro forma net sales
Pro forma net income
Pro forma net income per share - basic
Pro forma net income per share - diluted

$

156,886
11,537
1.32
1.31

Pro forma adjustments to net income include amortization costs related to the intangibles acquired, acquisition related costs, and
the tax effect of the historical results of operations of Fabrica’s U.S. business, excluding certain mark-up and selling, general and
administrative costs that will not be incurred by Orchids.
The pro forma amounts are presented for informational purposes only and are not intended to represent or be indicative of the
Company’s consolidated results of operations or financial condition that would have been reported had the acquisition been completed as
of the beginning of the periods presented and should not be taken as indicative of the Company’s future consolidated results of operations
or financial condition.
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Related party transactions
The Company incurred the following transactions with Fabrica during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:
Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
(In thousands)
31,974 $
37,373 $
22,726
1,647 $
2,172 $
1,912
1,777 $
6,119 $
-

2016
Products purchased under the Supply Agreement
Amounts billed to Fabrica under the Equipment Lease Agreement
Parent rolls purchased by Fabrica

$
$
$

Note 3—Fair Value Measurements
The valuation hierarchy included in U.S. GAAP considers the transparency of inputs used to value assets and liabilities as of the
measurement date. The less transparent or observable the inputs used to value assets and liabilities, the lower the classification of the assets
and liabilities in the valuation hierarchy. A financial instrument's classification within the valuation hierarchy is based on the lowest level
of input that is significant to its fair value measurement. The three levels of the valuation hierarchy and the classification of the Company's
financial assets and liabilities within the hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at
the measurement date.
Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. If an
asset or liability has a specified term, a Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Company does not report any assets or liabilities at fair value in the financial statements. However, the fair value of the
Company's long-term debt is estimated by management to approximate the carrying value of $142.0 million and $75.6 million at December
31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Management's estimates are based on periodic comparisons of the characteristics of the Company's
obligations, including floating interest rates, credit rating, maturity and collateral, to current market conditions as stated by an independent
third-party financial institution. Such valuation inputs are considered a Level 2 measurement in the fair value valuation hierarchy.
As the Company has no assets or liabilities reported at fair value in the financial statements, there were no transfers among Level
1, Level 2 or Level 3 assets during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.
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The Company may be involved from time to time in litigation arising from the normal course of business. In management's
opinion, as of the date of this report, the Company is not engaged in legal proceedings, which individually or in the aggregate are expected
to have a materially adverse effect on the Company's results of operations or financial condition.
Gas purchase commitments
The Company has entered into a natural gas fixed price contract to purchase 467,505 MMBTUs of natural gas, which provides
approximately 80% to 90% of the natural gas requirements at Pryor through December 31, 2017. Commitments under this contract are as
follows:
Period
January 2017
April 2017
July 2017
October 2017

MMBTUs
114,850
117,050
118,550
117,055

- March 2017
- June 2017
- September 2017
- December 2017

Price per
MMBTU
$
$
$
$

4.06
4.06
4.06
4.06

Purchases under the gas contract were $1.7 million, $1.7 million, and $1.9 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. If the
Company is unable to purchase the contracted amounts and the market price at that time is less than the contracted price, the Company
would be obligated under the terms of the agreements to reimburse an amount equal to the difference between the contracted amount and
the amount actually purchased, multiplied by the difference between the contract price and a price designated in the contract (approximates
spot price).
Other purchase commitments
In April 2015, Orchids announced projects to build a new integrated paper converting facility in Barnwell, South Carolina. This
project has a total estimated cost of approximately $150.0 million. As part of this project, the Company entered into significant purchase
orders for two converting lines and construction of a paper machine. As of December 31, 2016, obligations under purchase orders related to
the Barnwell projects totaled approximately $9.0 million.
Note 5—Inventories
Inventories at December 31 were:

Raw materials
Bulk paper rolls
Converted finished goods
Inventory valuation reserve

$

$
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2016
2015
(In thousands)
4,855 $
4,467
3,765
3,789
9,859
5,386
(65)
(141)
18,414 $
13,501
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Note 6—Property, Plant and Equipment
The principal categories and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at December 31 were:

Land
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles
Nondepreciable machinery and equipment (parts and spares)
Construction-in-process

$

$

2016
2015
(In thousands)
1,316 $
1,316
37,356
24,321
186,863
141,811
1,830
1,796
11,976
10,250
81,101
53,431
320,442 $ 232,925

Estimated
Useful
Lives
7 to 40
2.5 to 40
3 to 5
-

In January 2016, the Company received $1.9 million of proceeds from an economic incentive related to the construction of the
South Carolina facility. While there currently are no US GAAP pronouncements relating to the accounting treatment of government grants,
the Company recorded these proceeds as a reduction in the property, plant and equipment related to this project in accordance with nonauthoritative guidance issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, which recommended that grants related to
developing property be recognized over the useful lives of the assets by recognizing receipt as the related asset is depreciated.
The Company capitalizes interest for major capital projects. Capitalized interest is added to the cost of the underlying assets and is
depreciated over the useful lives of those assets. Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 excludes $1.7
million, $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively, of interest capitalized on significant projects during the year.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, other (income) expense includes $.04 million of expenses related to the demolition of two
paper machines in the Company’s paper mill, which were replaced with a new paper machine.
Note 7—Long-Term Debt and Revolving Line of Credit
In June 2015, the Company entered into the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”), with U.S.
Bank National Association (“U.S. Bank”). Additionally, on January 19, 2017, the Company entered into Amendment No. 3 (“the
Amendment”) which increases the total loan commitment, modifies the pricing grid applicable to interest rates and the unused commitment
fee, amends the financial covenant related to the maintenance of a maximum total leverage ratio by increasing the permitted total leverage
ratio for fiscal quarters ending on or prior to March 31, 2018, and amends the terms of the draw loan to provide for additional advance
amounts available to the Company for the purposes of acquiring or improving real estate. The terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended,
consist of the following:
·

a $25.0 million revolving credit line due June 2020;

·

a $47.3 million Term Loan with a 5-year term due June 2020 and payable in quarterly installments of $675,000 through June
2016 and $1.0 million per quarter thereafter;

·

a $115.0 million delayed draw term loan with a 2-year draw period due June 2020 and payable in quarterly installments
beginning in September 2017 of 1.5% of the June 30, 2017 outstanding balance. In December 2015, in connection with the
NMTC transaction (see Note 12), the maximum borrowing capacity under the delayed draw term loan was reduced from
$115.0 million to $99.6 million and in January 2017, under the terms of the Amendment, the maximum borrowing capacity
was increased to $108.5 million; and
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·

an accordion feature allowing the revolving credit line and/or delayed draw commitment under the Credit Agreement to be
increased by up to $50.0 million at any time on or before the expiration date of the Credit Agreement.

Proceeds from the delayed draw term loan must be utilized solely to finance the purchase and installation of new equipment and
construction at the Company’s Barnwell, South Carolina facility.
Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended, amounts outstanding will bear interest at a variable rate of LIBOR plus a
specified margin, or the base rate plus a specified margin, at the Company’s option. The specified margin is based on the Company’s
quarterly Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended. The following table outlines the specified margins and the
commitment fees payable under the Credit Agreement:
LIBOR
Margin
1.25%
1.50%
1.75%
2.25%
2.50%
3.00%
3.50%
4.00%

Leverage Ratio
Less than 1.00
Greater than or equal to 1.00 but less than 2.00
Greater than or equal to 2.00 but less than 3.00
Greater than or equal to 3.00 but less than 3.50
Greater than or equal to 3.50 but less than 4.00
Greater than or equal to 4.00 but less than 4.50
Greater than or equal to 4.50 but less than 5.00
Greater than or equal to 5.00

Base
Margin
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.25%
0.75%
1.25%
1.75%

Commitment
Fee
0.15%
0.20%
0.25%
0.30%
0.35%
0.40%
0.45%
0.50%

Additionally, in connection with the NMTC transaction discussed in Note 12, the Company entered into an $11.1 million term
loan with U.S. Bank. This loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.4% and matures on December 29, 2022. The loan requires quarterly
payments of principal and interest of approximately $255,000, beginning in March 2016, with a balloon payment due on the maturity date.
As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s weighted-average interest rate was 2.64%.
Long-term debt at December 31 consists of:

Revolving line of credit, maturing on June 25, 2020
$
Delayed draw term loan, maturing on June 25, 2020
Term loan, maturing on June 25, 2020, due in quarterly installments of $675,000 for the first year and
$1,000,000 thereafter, excluding interest paid separately
Term loan, maturing on December 29, 2022, due in quarterly installments of $255,006, including
interest
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs
Less current portion
$

59

2016
2015
(In thousands)
16,447 $
72,342
18,522
42,600
10,577
(1,249)
140,717
6,728
133,989 $

45,950
11,109
(1,342)
74,239
3,882
70,357
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Unamortized debt issuance costs at December 31 consist of:

Revolving line of credit
Delayed draw term loan, maturing on June 25, 2020
Term loan, maturing on June 25, 2020
Term loan, maturing on December 29, 2022

$

$

2016
2015
(In thousands)
229 $
285
283
344
146
182
591
531
1,249 $
1,342

The annual maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2016, are as follows:
Annual
Payment
Amount
(in thousands)
$
6,728
8,923
8,950
109,173
666
7,526
$
141,966

Year
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
after 2021

The amount available under the revolving credit line may be reduced in the event that the Company's borrowing base, which is
based upon qualified receivables and qualified inventory is less than $25.0 million. As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s borrowing
base was $15.0 million, including $6.1 million of eligible accounts receivable and $8.9 million of eligible inventory.
Obligations under the Credit Agreement and the NMTC loan are secured by substantially all of the Company's assets. The Credit
Agreement contains representations and warranties, and affirmative and negative covenants customary for financings of this type,
including, but not limited to, limitations on additional borrowings, additional investments and asset sales. The financial covenants, which
are tested as of the end of each fiscal quarter, require the Company to maintain the following specific ratios: fixed charge coverage
(minimum of 1.20 to 1.0) and leverage (maximum of 5.0 to 1.0 on December 31, 2016; maximum of 5.75 to 1.0 on March 31, 2017;
maximum of 5.5 to 1.0 on June 30, 2017, maximum of 4.5 to 1.0 on September 30, 2017, maximum of 4.0 to 1.0 on December 31, 2017,
and maximum of 3.5 to 1.0 on March 31, 2018 and thereafter). The Company has the right to prepay borrowings under the Credit
Agreement at any time without penalty.
The Company’s leverage ratio at December 31, 2016 was 4.26, while the fixed charge coverage ratio was 1.86.
Note 8—Income Taxes
The Company is subject to income tax in the United States and Mexico. Income from continuing operations before taxes subject to
United States and foreign income taxes for each of the three years ended December 31, were as follows:
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United States
Foreign
Total income before income taxes

$
$

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
(in thousands)
18,280 $
17,902 $
(1,058)
1,710
17,222 $
19,612 $

2014
12,169
1,690
13,859

The components of the provision for income taxes for each of the three years ended December 31, were as follows:

2016
Current:
U.S. Federal
U.S. State
Foreign

$

Deferred:
U.S. Federal
U.S. State
Foreign
Total provision for (benefit from) income taxes

$

Year ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)

(2,934) $
(352)
127
(3,159)
7,906
(568)
232
7,570
4,411 $

2014

1,945 $
(224)
99
1,820
3,930
305
4,235
6,055

$

6,086
224
464
6,774
(3,404)
981
43
(2,380)
4,394

Significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets and (liabilities) at December 31 were:
2016
2015
(in thousands)
Deferred income taxes
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accrued vacation
Plant and equipment
State investment tax credit carryforward
State net operating loss carryforward
Stock-based compensation
State income taxes - temporary differences
Indian employment and other federal credits
Intangible assets
Other
Deferred income tax liabilities, net

$

$
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1,576 $
(209)
70
(34,114)
7,721
352
1,375
(4,738)
766
(273)
140
(27,334) $

1,168
(163)
219
(25,552)
6,005
1,241
(3,590)
(103)
136
(20,639)
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The following table summarizes the differences between the U.S. federal statutory rate and the Company's effective tax rate for
financial statement purposes:

2016
Statutory tax rate
State income taxes, net of U.S. federal tax benefit
Indian employment and other federal credits
Employee and board stock compensation
State investment tax credits
Section 199 manufacturing deduction
Change in estimates
Foreign income taxes, net of U.S. federal tax credits
Acquisition costs
Other

Year ended December 31,
2015
35.0%
35.0%
4.6%
3.3%
(2.1)%
(1.2)%
0.1%
(10.0)%
(5.5)%
(1.5)%
(1.8)%
(1.1)%
0.6%
1.0%
0.1%
25.6%
30.9%

2014
35.0%
7.9%
(0.9)%
(0.1)%
(0.9)%
(2.6)%
(10.4)%
0.3%
2.4%
1.0%
31.7%

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the effective tax rate was lower than the statutory rate primarily due to South Carolina
Investment Tax Credits (“SCITC”) and Oklahoma Investment Tax Credits (“OITC”) associated with investments in the Company’s
manufacturing operations in Barnwell, South Carolina and Pryor, Oklahoma, respectively, and federal credits, including Indian
Employment Credits (“IEC”), foreign tax credits and research and development credits.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the effective tax rate was lower than the statutory rate primarily due to OITC associated
with investments in the Company’s manufacturing operations in Pryor, Oklahoma, manufacturing tax deductions and IEC.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, the effective tax rate was lower than the statutory rate primarily due to a change in
estimates recognized in 2014, as the Company believes certain deferred tax liabilities will be recognized at amounts and rates other than
previously estimated. The effective tax rate for 2014 was also lowered by manufacturing tax deductions and OITC associated with
investments in the Company’s manufacturing operations in Pryor, Oklahoma. Additionally, in 2014, Orchids began recording current and
deferred income taxes in the state of California and the country of Mexico due to impacts of the Fabrica Transaction (see Note 2). Taxes
related to California increased the Company’s effective tax rate by approximately 3.1%. The Company’s earnings in Mexico are subject to
the country’s 30% income tax rate. The net effect of foreign taxes was not material to the Company’s effective tax rate due to U.S. income
tax credits related to foreign-sourced income.
The Company has significant carryforwards for the State of Oklahoma which include an OITC of $3.7 million primarily
associated with the Company's $36 million investment in a new paper machine in 2006, $20 million investment in a new converting line in
2010, $26 million investment in another new paper machine and $8.3 million of assets placed in service for a new converting line in 2015,
and approximately $15 million invested in 2016, including an additional $6.5 million of assets placed in service for the new converting line
and investments in tissue liberation and heating and air upgrades. The Company believes that its future state taxable income will be
sufficient to allow realization before the OITC expires in varying amounts from 2028 through 2036. Accordingly, deferred tax assets have
been recognized for this credit.
The Company has significant carryforwards for the State of South Carolina, which include a SCITC of approximately $0.4
million, primarily associated with the Company's $28 million investment in new converting lines. The Company believes that its future
state taxable income will be sufficient to allow realization before the SCITC expires in ten years. Accordingly, deferred tax assets have
been recognized for this credit.
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The U.S. tax code requires that certain types of income produced by non-U.S. subsidiaries be currently taxed without regard to
actual distribution (Subpart F income). Income earned by Orchids Mexico meets the definition of Subpart F income. As a result, U.S.
current and deferred federal income tax has been recorded on these earnings. Upon remittance of these earnings, no significant incremental
U.S. tax is expected.
Based upon a review of its income tax filing positions, the Company believes that its positions would be sustained upon an audit
and does not anticipate any adjustments that would result in a material change to its financial position. However, the 2014 Tax return has
been selected for audit by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company recognizes interest related to income taxes as interest expense and
penalties as selling, general and administrative expenses. The tax years 2013 through 2016 remain open to examination by major taxing
jurisdictions in which the Company files income tax returns.
Note 9—Earnings per Share
During the first quarter of 2013, the Company granted restricted stock to certain employees. These awards include a nonforfeitable
right to receive dividends and therefore are considered to participate in undistributed earnings with common shareholders. Therefore, the
Company calculates basic and diluted earnings per common share using the two-class method, under which net earnings are allocated to
each class of common stock and participating security. The computation of basic and diluted net income per common share for the years
ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:

Net income
Less: distributed earnings allocable to participating securities
Less: undistributed earnings allocable to participating securities
Distributed and undistributed earnings allocable to common shareholders

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
$
12,811 $
13,557 $
9,465
(3)
(7)
1
$
12,811 $
13,554 $
9,459

Weighted average shares outstanding
Effect of stock options
Weighted average shares outstanding - assuming dilution

10,286,373
62,901
10,349,274

Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Stock options not considered above because they were anti-dilutive

1.25
1.24
614,250

9,778,167
66,054
9,844,221
$
$

1.39
1.38
598,000

8,462,875
75,877
8,538,752
$
$

1.12
1.11
555,000

Note 10—Stock Incentives
In April 2014, the Orchids Paper Products Company 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) was approved. The 2014 Plan
replaced the Orchids Paper Products Company 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”) and provides for the granting of stock options
and other stock based awards to employees and Board members selected by the Board's compensation committee. The Company's policy is
to issue shares of remaining authorized common stock to satisfy option exercises under the 2014 Plan. A total of 400,000 shares may be
issued pursuant to the 2014 Plan. As of December 31, 2016, there were 164,200 shares available for issuance under the 2014 Plan. The
exercise price of each option is generally equal to the arithmetic mean of the high and low sales price per share of the Company's common
stock on the grant date. Options granted to Board members under the Plan generally vest immediately. Options granted to employees
generally vest over a service period of zero to five years or are market-based and vest when the share price of the Company’s common
stock closes at or above a certain percentage of the purchase price of the option for three consecutive business days. Options granted with
market-based vesting expire if they remain unvested five years after the grant date. Options granted under the 2014 Plan have a 10-year
life.
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Stock options with time-based vesting conditions
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model to estimate the grant date fair value of stock options issued with
time-based vesting conditions, as this model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. Option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected
stock price volatility. Estimated volatility is calculated based on actual historical volatility of the Company's common stock from the
Company's initial public offering date to the grant date. The Company's dividend yield assumption is based on the expected dividend yield
as of the grant date. Expected life is calculated based on the average of the service period and the contractual term of the option, using the
simplified method for "plain vanilla" options, due to limited available exercise information. The Company expenses the cost of these
options granted over the vesting period of the option based on the grant-date fair value of the award.
The following table details the options granted to certain members of the board of directors and management that were valued
using the Black-Scholes valuation model and the weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option valuation model for those
grants during 2014, 2015 and 2016:

Grant
Date
May 2014
Jun 2014
May 2015
Nov 2015
Jan 2016
May 2016
Sep 2016

Number
of
Shares
35,000
5,000
40,000
68,000
5,000
40,000
20,000

Exercise
Price
$
29.65
30.09
22.49
29.58
27.77
31.33
28.48

Grant
Date
Fair
Value
$
7.50
7.67
4.64
7.37
6.56
7.57
4.53

Risk-Free
Interest
Estimated
Rate
Volatility
2.62%
41%
2.63
41
2.13
40
2.32
40
2.00
40
1.74
40
1.36
30

Dividend
Yield
4.72%
4.65
6.23
4.73
5.04
4.47
4.92

Expected
Life
(in years)
5
5
5
6
6
5
6

In 2015, 3,750 of time-based options granted in 2005 expired unexercised.
Stock options with market-based vesting conditions
The Company uses a Monte Carlo option valuation model to estimate the grant date fair value of stock options issued with marketbased vesting conditions, as these options include a market condition. Option valuation models require the input of highly subjective
assumptions including the expected stock price volatility, dividend yield and expected life of the option. Estimated volatility is calculated
based on a mix of historical and implied volatility during the expected life of the options. Historical volatility is considered since the
Company’s initial public offering and implied volatility is based on the publicly traded options of a three-company peer group within the
paper industry. The Company's dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s average historical dividend yield and current
dividend yield as of the grant date. Expected life is calculated based on the average of the service period and the contractual term of the
option, using the simplified method for "plain vanilla" options. The Company expenses the cost of these options granted over the implicit,
or derived, service period of the option based on the completed Monte Carlo models.
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During 2014 and 2015, the Board of Directors granted options to purchase 145,000 and 28,600 shares, respectively, of the
Company’s common stock to certain members of management. These options will become exercisable in four equal tranches, if at all, if and
when the share price of the Company’s common stock closes at or above a certain percentage of the purchase price of the option for three
consecutive business days, in accordance with the following vesting schedule:
Share price required to achieve vesting
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Tranche 3
Tranche 4

$

2014 options
34.79
42.35
51.43
60.50

$

2015 options
29.56
36.00
43.71
51.43

Any unvested portion of the options shall expire five years from the date of grant and the options shall terminate ten years after
the date of grant. The following table details the options granted to certain members of management that were valued using the Monte
Carlo valuation model and the assumptions used in the valuation model for those grants during 2014 and 2015:

Jan 2014
Jan 2014
Jan 2014
Jan 2014
Feb 2014
Feb 2014
Feb 2014
Feb 2014
May 2014
May 2014
May 2014
May 2014
Sep 2015
Sep 2015
Sep 2015
Sep 2015

Grant Date
-Tranche 1
-Tranche 2
-Tranche 3
-Tranche 4
-Tranche 1
-Tranche 2
-Tranche 3
-Tranche 4
-Tranche 1
-Tranche 2
-Tranche 3
-Tranche 4
-Tranche 1
-Tranche 2
-Tranche 3
-Tranche 4

Number
of
Shares
10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
25,000
25,000
25,000
25,000
1,250
1,250
1,250
1,250
7,150
7,150
7,150
7,150

Exercise
Price
$ 31.13
31.13
31.13
31.13
30.88
30.88
30.88
30.88
28.19
28.19
28.19
28.19
25.24
25.24
25.24
25.24

Grant
Date
Fair
Value
$ 5.64
5.46
5.03
4.27
5.51
5.35
4.88
4.15
5.06
4.74
4.02
3.29
4.44
3.92
3.11
2.36

Risk-Free
Expected
Interest
Estimated
Dividend
Life
Rate
Volatility
Yield
(in years)
1.98%
31%
4.50%
5.15
1.98
31
4.50
5.58
1.98
31
4.50
5.97
1.98
31
4.50
6.25
1.98
31
4.60
5.17
1.98
31
4.60
5.60
1.98
31
4.60
5.99
1.98
31
4.60
6.27
2.03
31
4.70
5.36
2.03
31
4.70
5.78
2.03
31
4.70
6.14
2.03
31
4.70
6.39
1.82
34
5.20
5.20
1.82
34
5.20
5.51
1.82
34
5.20
5.77
1.82
34
5.20
5.93

Derived
Service
Period
(in years)
0.31
1.15
1.94
2.50
0.35
1.19
1.98
2.54
0.71
1.56
2.29
2.79
0.40
1.02
1.54
1.87

In 2014, none of these options vested, as the share price of the Company’s common stock did not reach any of the share prices
required for vesting. Additionally, 25,000 options granted in January 2014 were forfeited when an employee left the Company in 2014. In
2015, Tranche 1 of the options granted in September 2015, or 7,150 options, vested when the share price of the Company’s common stock
closed above $29.56 for three consecutive business days. Additionally, 25,000 options granted in February 2014 and 5,000 options granted
in May 2014 were forfeited when employees left the Company in 2015. In 2016, Tranche 1 of the options granted in January 2014, or 3,750
options, and Tranche 1 of the options granted in February 2014, or 18,750 options, vested when the share price of the Company’s common
stock closed above $34.79 for three consecutive business days. Additionally, 18,750 options granted in February 2014 and 1,800 options
granted in September 2015 were forfeited when employees left the Company in 2016.
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Stock options issued outside of the 2014 Plan
In April 2014, the Company’s stockholders voted to approve the options granted to Mr. Jeffrey S. Schoen, the Company’s
President and Chief Executive Officer, on November 8, 2013. Upon his appointment as an officer of the Company, Mr. Schoen was
granted an option to purchase up to 400,000 shares of the common stock of the Company at a purchase price of $30.25 per share. The
option will become exercisable, if at all, if and when the share price of the Company’s common stock closes at or above a certain
percentage of the purchase price of the option for three consecutive business days, in accordance with the following vesting schedule:
Share price closes at or above the following
percentage of the option purchase price of $30.25
115% (share price $34.79)
140% (share price $42.35)
170% (share price $51.43)
200% (share price $60.50)

Number of shares that become vested
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000

These options were granted outside of the 2005 Plan and the 2014 Plan. Any unvested portion of the option shall expire five years
from the date of grant and the option shall terminate ten years after the date of grant. The Company used a Monte Carlo option valuation
model to estimate the grant date fair value of each tranche of 100,000 options, as they include a market condition. Assumptions used in the
valuation model were the same as those for the stock options with market-based vesting conditions issued to employees, which are noted
above. The Company expenses the cost of these options granted over the implicit service period of the option based on the completed
Monte Carlo models. The following table details the assumption used in the valuation model for the options granted to Mr. Schoen:

Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Tranche 3
Tranche 4

Number
of
Shares
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000

Exercise
Price
$
30.25
$
30.25
$
30.25
$
30.25

Grant
Date
Fair
Value
$
5.18
5.04
4.31
3.50

Risk-Free
Expected
Interest
Estimated
Dividend
Life
Rate
Volatility
Yield
(in years)
2.10%
30%
4.60%
4.99
2.10
30
4.60
5.42
2.10
30
4.60
5.79
2.10
30
4.60
6.04

Derived
Service
Period
(in years)
0.40
1.25
2.00
2.50

In 2016, Tranche 1 of the options granted to Mr. Schoen, or 100,000 options, vested when the share price of the Company’s
common stock closed above $34.79 for three consecutive business days.
Total option expense
The Company recognized the following expenses related to all options granted during 2016, 2015 and 2014 under the 2005 Plan,
the 2014 Plan and the Schoen options:

2016
Time-based vesting options
Market-based vesting options
Total compensation expense related to stock options

$
$
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Year ended December 31,
2015
(In thousands)
430 $
298 $
133
705
563 $
1,003 $

2014
308
1,520
1,828
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Note 10—Stock Incentives (Continued)
Summary of option activity
The following tables summarize activity related to options granted under the 2005 Plan, the 2014 Plan and the Schoen options:

Balance, December 31, 2013
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Balance, December 31, 2014
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/Expired
Balance, December 31, 2015
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Balance, December 31, 2016
Exercisable at December 31, 2016

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Number
Price
180,000 $
16.46
585,000
30.36
(5,750)
13.80
(25,000)
31.13
734,250
27.06
136,600
26.59
(11,250)
18.64
(33,750)
27.78
825,850
27.07
65,000
30.18
(28,000)
11.22
(24,550)
30.25
838,300
27.74
412,100

$

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

25.46

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value
$

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

4.83
$

103

$

50

$

606

7.25 years

$

1,271

6.92 years

$

1,253

$

$

5.75

6.56

The following table summarizes options outstanding and exercisable under the 2005 Plan, the 2014 Plan and the Schoen options as
of December 31, 2016:
Options Outstanding

Exercise price range
$7.48 - $8.58
$11.95 - $17.85
$21.70 - $31.33

Number
7,500
81,000
749,800
838,300
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Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
$
8.03
$
16.10
$
29.20

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
1.79 years
4.14 years
7.64 years

Number
7,500
81,000
323,600
412,100

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
$
8.03
$
16.10
$
28.21
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Note 10—Stock Incentives (Continued)
The following table summarizes information about stock option vesting during the years ended December 31:
Stock Options
Vested During
Fair Value
the Year
(in thousands)
180,100 $
1,062
61,750
321
46,334
344

2016
2015
2014

As of December 31, 2016, there was $359,000 of unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock options with a
time-based vesting condition for options granted in 2016 and 2015. This cost is expected to be recognized on a straight-line basis over a
weighted average period of 3.2 years. At December 31, 2016, unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock options with
a market-based vesting condition for options granted in 2015 was immaterial.
During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company received $314,000, $210,000, and $79,000,
respectively, in proceeds from the exercise of stock options. The Company realized $211,000, $23,000, and $16,000 of tax benefits related
to stock option exercises during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Excess tax benefits related to stock
option exercises are recorded to additional-paid in capital ("APIC pool") when realized and may be used to offset future tax deficiencies.
During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company recorded excess tax (deficiencies) benefits of $171,000,
($6,000), and $20,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s APIC pool was $2.0 million.
Restricted stock
In February 2013, the Company granted 16,000 shares of restricted stock to certain employees under the 2005 Plan. These awards
were valued at the arithmetic mean of the high and low market price of the Company's stock on the grant date, which was $21.695 per
share, and vested ratably over a three-year period beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date. The Company expenses the cost of
restricted stock granted over the vesting period of the shares based on the grant-date fair value of the award. The Company recognized
expense of $3,000, $44,000 and $51,000 during 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to the shares granted under the 2005 Plan.
The following tables summarize activity related to unvested restricted stock granted under the 2005 Plan as of December 31, 2016
and for the year then ended:
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Number
Fair Value
2,000 $
21.70
21.70
(2,000)
-

Balance, December 31, 2015
Vested
Balance, December 31, 2016
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The following table summarizes information about restricted stock vesting during the years ended December 31:
Restricted Stock
Vested During
Fair Value
the Year
(in thousands)
2,000 $
53
2,333
63
2,666
58

2016
2015
2014

No shares of restricted stock were granted in the years ending December 31, 2016, 2015 or 2014.
Note 11—Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk
Major customers
The Company sells its paper production in the form of parent rolls and converted products. Revenues from converted product sales
and parent roll sales in the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 were:

Converted product net sales
Parent roll net sales
Total net sales

$
$

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
(In thousands)
158,102 $ 161,052 $ 138,382
6,392
7,394
4,342
164,494 $ 168,446 $ 142,724

Credit risk for the Company was concentrated in the following customers who each comprised more than 10% of the Company's
total sales during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:
2016
Converted product customer 1
Converted product customer 2
Converted product customer 3
Total percent of net sales

2015
36%
*
14
50%

2014
34%
15
12
61%

40%
12
11
63%

*Customer did not account for more than 10% of sales during the period indicated.
At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the significant customers accounted for the following amounts of the Company's accounts
receivable (in thousands):

Converted product customer 1
Converted product customer 2
Converted product customer 3
Total of accounts receivable

$

$

*Customer did not account for more than 10% of sales during the period indicated
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2016
3,703
*
702
4,405

32% $
*
8
40% $

2015
3,434
931
2,071
6,436

32%
9
19
60%
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Note 11—Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk (Continued)
No other customers of the Company accounted for more than 10% of sales during these periods. The Company generally does not
require collateral from its customers and has not incurred any significant losses on uncollectible accounts receivable.
Paper supply agreement
On February 20, 2008, the Company signed an exclusive supply agreement with Dixie Pulp and Paper, Inc. to supply all of its
recycled fiber needs. This agreement was effective beginning April 1, 2008 and carried an initial five-year term through April 1, 2013.
However, the agreement automatically renews for successive one-year periods unless either party gives 90 days' notice. As of the date of
this report, the Company has not received notice of intention not to renew the agreement nor has the Company provided such a notice to the
counterparty, and the agreement is in effect.
Cash in excess of insured limits
Much of the Company's cash is maintained at financial institutions, which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation ("FDIC") up to $250,000 per depositor at each financial institution. At times, balances may exceed these federally insured
limits or may be contained in foreign bank accounts, which are not insured by the FDIC. The Company has never experienced any losses
related to these accounts. At December 31, 2016, the Company had approximately $8.0 million of non-interest bearing cash balances in
excess of federally insured limits. Additionally, $1.8 million of the Company’s cash was in bank accounts in Mexico, which are not insured
by the FDIC.
Note 12—New Market Tax Credit
In December 2015, the Company received approximately $5.1 million in net proceeds from financing agreements related to capital
expenditures at its Barnwell, South Carolina facility. This financing arrangement was structured with a third party financial institution (the
“NMTC Investor”) associated with U.S. Bank, an investment fund, and two community development entities (the “CDEs”) majority owned
by the investment fund. This transaction was designed to qualify under the federal New Market Tax Credit (“NMTC”) program, pursuant
to Section 45D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Through this transaction, the Company has secured low interest
financing and the potential for future debt forgiveness related to the South Carolina facility. Upon closing of the NMTC transaction, the
Company provided an aggregate of approximately $11.1 million, which was borrowed from U.S. Bank, to the investment fund, in the form
of a loan receivable, with a term of 25 years, bearing an interest rate of 1.0% per annum. This $11.1 million in proceeds plus $5.1 million of
net capital from the NMTC Investor were contributed to and used by the CDEs to make loans in the aggregate of $16.2 million to a
subsidiary of the Company, Orchids Lessor SC, LLC (“Orchids Lessor”). These loans bear interest at a fixed rate of 1.275%. Orchids
Lessor is using the loan proceeds to partially fund $18.0 million of the Company’s capital assets associated with the Barnwell facility.
These capital assets will serve as collateral to the financing arrangement. This transaction also includes a put/call feature whereby, at the
end of a seven-year compliance period, we may be obligated or entitled to repurchase the NMTC Investor’s interest in the investment fund.
The value attributable to the put price is nominal. Consequently, if exercised, the put could result in the forgiveness of the NMTC
Investor’s interest in the investment fund, and result in a net non-operating gain of up to $5.1 million. The call price will be valued at the
net present value of the cash flows of the lease inherent in the transaction.
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The NMTC Investor is subject to 100% recapture of the New Market Tax Credits it receives for a period of seven years as
provided in the Internal Revenue Code and applicable U.S. Treasury regulations. The Company is required to be in compliance with various
regulations and contractual provisions that apply to the New Market Tax Credit arrangement. Noncompliance with applicable requirements
could result in the NMTC Investor’s projected tax benefits not being realized and, therefore, require the Company to indemnify the NMTC
Investor for any loss or recapture of New Market Tax Credits related to the financing until such time as the recapture provisions have
expired under the applicable statute of limitations. The Company does not anticipate any credit recapture will be required in connection
with this financing arrangement.
The investment fund and the community development entities are considered Variable Interest Entities (VIEs) and the Company
is the primary beneficiary of the VIEs. This conclusion was reached based on the following:
·
·
·
·

The ongoing activities of the VIEs—collecting and remitting interest and fees and NMTC compliance—were all considered in the
initial design and are not expected to significantly affect performance throughout the life of the VIE;
Contractual arrangements obligate the Company to comply with NMTC rules and regulations and provide various other guarantees
to the NMTC Investor and community development entities;
The NMTC Investor lacks a material interest in the underling economics of the project; and
The Company is obligated to absorb losses of the VIEs.

Because the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIEs, they have been included in the consolidated financial statements.
There are no other assets, liabilities or transactions in these VIEs outside of the financing transactions executed as part of the NMTC
transaction.
At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the NMTC Investor’s interest of $5.2 million and $5.1 million, respectively, is recorded in other
long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet, while the outstanding balance of the amount borrowed from U.S. Bank to loan to
the investment fund of $10.0 and $11.1 million, respectively, is recorded in long-term debt, net of the current portion. At December 31,
2016 and 2015, the Company had approximately $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of debt issuance costs related to the above
transactions, which are being amortized over the life of the agreements. Unspent proceeds from the arrangement of approximately $1.3
million and $12.0 million at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, are obligated for funding the specified capital assets at the
Barnwell facility and are included in restricted cash.
Note 13—ODFA Pooled Financing
In September 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with the Oklahoma Development Finance Authority (“ODFA”)
whereby the ODFA agreed to provide the Company up to $3.5 million to fund a portion of the cost of a new paper production line before
September 1, 2020. The agreement provides for the Oklahoma state withholding payroll taxes withheld by the Company from its
employees to be placed into the Community Economic Development Pooled Finance Revolving Fund – Orchids Paper Products
(“Revolving Fund”). Each year on September 1, beginning in 2015 and ending in 2020, the ODFA will return these state withholding taxes
in the Revolving Fund to the Company, up to an amount totaling $3.5 million. These amounts are recognized as a note receivable in other
current assets in the consolidated balance sheet and in other income in the consolidated statements of income as they are withheld from
employees. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had a note receivable of $536,000 and $328,000, respectively, related to
amounts due under the ODFA pooled financing agreement. The Company recognized income of $667,000, $685,000 and $213,000 in
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to this agreement.
Note 14—Employee Incentive Bonus and Retirement Plans
The Company sponsors three separate defined contribution plans covering substantially all employees. Company contributions are
based on either a percentage of participant contributions or as required by collective bargaining agreements. Participants immediately vest
in Company contributions to each of the three plans. Contribution expense recognized by the Company was $983,000, $579,000, and
$496,000, for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
71

ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Note 15—Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

First
Quarter
Sales
Gross profit
Operating income
Net income
Basic earnings per common share
Diluted earnings per common share
Dividends per share
Price per common share
High
Low

$

$

47,743
11,381
8,282
5,409
0.53
0.52
0.35

$

30.54
24.80

First
Quarter
Sales
Gross profit
Operating income
Net income
Basic earnings per common share
Diluted earnings per common share
Dividends per share
Price per common share
High
Low

$

$

37,415
4,786
1,912
1,236
0.14
0.14
0.35

$

29.01
25.35

2016
Second
Third
Quarter
Quarter
(In thousands, except per share data)
$
39,414 $
39,628
6,873
6,215
3,993
3,425
2,568
2,213
$
0.25 $
0.21
0.25
0.21
0.35
0.35
$

35.61
27.01

$

36.01
26.89

2015
Second
Third
Quarter
Quarter
(In thousands, except per share data)
$
42,295 $
46,832
7,719
9,845
5,102
7,032
3,878
4,742
$
0.40 $
0.46
0.39
0.45
0.35
0.35
$

26.32
21.49

$

27.27
22.86

Fourth
Quarter
$

$

$

37,709
5,680
2,986
2,621
0.25
0.25
0.35
27.99
23.35

Fourth
Quarter
$

$

$

41,904
8,147
5,404
3,701
0.36
0.36
0.35
32.10
26.07

Note 16—Follow-On Stock Offering and Registration of Securities
In April 2015, the Company completed an underwritten public follow-on offering of 1,500,000 shares of its common stock at
$23.00 per share. The underwriters were granted an option to purchase up to an additional 225,000 shares for a period of 30 days, which
was not exercised. Net proceeds to the Company were $32.1 million, after giving effect to expenses incurred related to the offering.
On September 16, 2015, the Company’s shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 (the “Registration Statement”) was declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Pursuant to the Registration Statement, the Company, from time to time, may sell
common stock, warrants or units comprised of the other securities described in the Registration Statement, in a single or multiple offerings
up to a total dollar amount of $50,000,000, at prices and terms that will be determined at the time of the offering.
The Company’s willingness and ability to raise capital pursuant to the Registration Statement will depend upon a number of
circumstances, including, without limitation, the Company’s need for additional capital to fund operations, organic growth or acquisitions,
the Company’s financial and operating performance and the receptiveness of the capital markets to potential offerings by the Company. As
of the date of this report, the Company does not have any agreements with respect to the issuance of securities pursuant to the Registration
Statement.
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Dividend
On February 14, 2017, the Board of Directors authorized a quarterly cash dividend of $0.35 per outstanding share of the
Company’s common stock to be paid on April 3, 2017 to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 27, 2017.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures:
We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures," as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the "Exchange Act"), that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission
rules and forms, and that such information is collected and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizes that no matter how well conceived and operated, disclosure controls and procedures can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Our disclosure
controls and procedures have been designed, and management believes that they meet, reasonable assurance standards. Based on their
evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that, subject to the limitations noted above, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
(b) Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The management of Orchids Paper Products Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting. Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and board of
directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.
All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to
be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016. In making
this assessment, we used the criteria set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 2013. Based on our assessment under the 2013 COSO framework, we believe that,
as of December 31, 2016, the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016 has been audited by HoganTaylor LLP,
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included in this Form 10-K.
(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
As of the quarter ended December 31, 2016, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information concerning our directors is contained in our Proxy Statement to be issued in connection with our 2017 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders under the caption "ELECTION OF DIRECTORS," which information is incorporated herein by reference.
Information concerning our executive officers is contained in this report under Item 1, "BUSINESS—Executive Officers and Key
Employees," which information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K is contained in our Proxy Statement to be issued in connection with our
2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance."
Our Board of Directors adopted a Business Conduct and Ethics Policy for all of our directors, officers and employees effective
June 22, 2005, and updated the policy during 2015. We have posted our Business Conduct and Ethics Policy on our website
(www.orchidspaper.com ). In addition, stockholders may request a free copy of our Business Conduct and Ethics Policy from our Chief
Financial Officer as follows:
Orchids Paper Products Company
Attention: Rodney D. Gloss
201 Summit View Drive, Ste. 110
Brentwood, TN 37027
(803) 450-1026
To the extent required by law or the rules of the NYSE MKT, any amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of the Business
Conduct and Ethics Policy will be promptly disclosed publicly. To the extent permitted by such requirements, we intend to make such
public disclosure by posting the relevant material on our website in accordance with SEC rules.
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information concerning executive compensation is contained in our Proxy Statement to be issued in connection with our 2017
Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption "EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION," which information is incorporated herein by
reference.
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is contained in the Company's Proxy
Statement to be issued in connection with our 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption "ELECTION OF DIRECTORS" and
"SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS," which information is incorporated herein by reference.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plan
The following is provided with respect to compensation plans (including individual compensation arrangements) under which
equity securities are authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2016:

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(a)
838,300
838,300

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation plans
(excluding securities
reflected in column (a)
(c)

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(b)
$

27.74

164,200

-

164,200

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information concerning certain relationships and related transactions is contained in our Proxy Statement to be issued in
connection with our 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions "AGREEMENTS WITH NAMED EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS" and "CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS," which information is
incorporated herein by reference.
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Information concerning accountant fees and services is contained in our Proxy Statement to be issued in connection with our 2017
Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption "FEES PAID TO INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM,"
which information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) Financial Statements
The information required by this item is included in Item 8 of Part II of this report.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is included below. The rest of the schedules required by this item have been
omitted as they are not required, not applicable or are included in Item 8 of Part II of this report.
Orchids Paper Products Company and Subsidiaries
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Years ended December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016
Charged
Charge-off
(Credited) to
Against
Costs and
Allowances
Expenses
(1) (2)
(In thousands)

Balance at
Beginning of
Period
Accounts Receivable Reserve:
Year ended December 31, 2014
Bad Debt Reserve
Year ended December 31, 2015
Bad Debt Reserve
Year ended December 31, 2016
Bad Debt Reserve
Inventory Valuation Reserve:
Year ended December 31, 2014
Inventory Valuation Reserve
Year ended December 31, 2015
Inventory Valuation Reserve
Year ended December 31, 2016
Inventory Valuation Reserve

$

135

$

155

105

$

-

155

$

19

(125)

$

193

$

Balance at
End of Period

(1) $

155

-

155

-

30

100

$

198

198

239

296

141

141

434

510

65

(1) Write-off of uncollectible accounts, net of recoveries
(2) Write-off of obsolete inventory and physical inventory adjustments
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY
By:

/s/ JEFFREY S. SCHOEN
Jeffrey S. Schoen
Chief Executive Officer

By:

/s/ RODNEY D. GLOSS
Rodney D. Gloss
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 15, 2017

POWER OF ATTORNEY
Each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Jeffrey S. Schoen and Rodney D. Gloss, and each of
them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution, to sign any amendments to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and to file such amendments and any related documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and ratifies
and confirms the actions that any such attorney-in-fact and agents, or their substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done under this
power of attorney.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature
/s/ STEVEN BERLIN
Steven Berlin

Title

Date

Chairman of the Board of Directors

March 15, 2017

/s/ JEFFREY S. SCHOEN
Jeffrey S. Schoen

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and
Director

March 15, 2017

/s/ JOHN G. GUTTILLA
John G. Guttilla

Director

March 15, 2017

/s/ DOUGLAS E. HAILEY
Douglas E. Hailey

Director

March 15, 2017

/s/ ELAINE MACDONALD
Elaine MacDonald

Director

March 15, 2017

/s/ MARK H. RAVICH
Mark H. Ravich

Director

March 15, 2017

/s/ MARIO ARMANDO GARCIA
Mario Armando Garcia

Director

March 15, 2017

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

March 15, 2017

/s/ RODNEY D. GLOSS
Rodney D. Gloss
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(c) EXHIBITS
Exhibit Number

Description

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated May 17, 2013, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (SEC Accession No. 0001104659-13-058279) filed with the SEC on July 31, 2013.
3.1

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant amended May 17, 2013, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (SEC Accession No. 0001104659-13-058279) filed with the SEC on July 31, 2013.

4.1

Specimen Stock Certificate, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Amendment No. 2 to its
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (SEC Accession No. 0000950137-05-007858) filed with the SEC on June 24,
2005.

10.1#

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current
Report on Form 8-K (SEC Accession No. 0000950138-09-000048) filed with the SEC on January 26, 2009.

10.2#

Orchids Paper Products Company Stock Incentive Plan, amended May 19, 2011, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form S-8 (SEC Accession No. 0000950138-11-000411) filed with the SEC on July
1, 2011.

10.3#

Orchids Paper Products Company 2014 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s
Definitive Proxy Statement (SEC Accession No. 0001047469-14-001834) filed with the SEC on March 5, 2014.

10.4#

Employment Agreement dated February 27, 2009 and effective as of March 1, 2009, between Keith R. Schroeder
and the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC
Accession No. 0000950138-09-000171) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009.

10.5#

Executive Employment Agreement effective as of November 8, 2013, between the Registrant and Jeffrey S. Schoen,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K/A (SEC Accession No.
0001144204-14-004735) filed with the SEC on January 29, 2014.

10.6#

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement effective as of November 8, 2013, between the Registrant and Jeffrey S.
Schoen, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8- K/A (SEC
Accession No. 0001144204-14-004735) filed with the SEC on January 29, 2014.

10.7*

Supplier Agreement dated February 20, 2008 and effective as of April 1, 2008, between Dixie Pulp & Paper, Inc. and
the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q (SEC Accession No.
0000950137-080-00) filed with the SEC on May 2, 2008.

10.8

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 5, 2014, among the R Registrant, Orchids Mexico (DE) Holdings, LLC
and Fabrica de Papel San Francisco, S.A. de C.V., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC Accession No. 0001104659-14-034678) filed with the SEC on May 5, 2014.

10.9#

Orchids Paper Products Company Annual Bonus Plan, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-K
(SEC Accession No. 0001437749-15-004472) filed with the SEC on March 9, 2015.
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Exhibit Number

Description

10.10

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2015, among Orchids, U.S. Bank National
Association, as administrative agent, lead arranger and sole book runner, the lenders named therein, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as documentation agent, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8K (SEC Accession No. 0001144204-15-039721) filed with the SEC on June 29, 2015.

10.11

Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2015, among
Orchids and U.S. Bank National Association, as administrative agent, incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s
Form 10-Q (SEC Accession No. 0001437749-15-020194) filed with the SEC on November 9, 2015.

10.12

Amendment No. 2, dated as of December 29, 2015, to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of
June 25, 2015, among Orchids and U.S. Bank National Association, as administrative agent, incorporated by
reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC Accession No. 0001437749-16-023119) filed with
the SEC on January 5, 2016.

10.13

Amendment No. 3, dated as of January 19, 2017 to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of
June 25, 2015, among Orchids and U.S. Bank National Association, as administrative agent, incorporated by
reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC Accession No. 0001144204-17-003431) filed with
the SEC on January 23, 2017.

10.14

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its Directors and Officers.

21

Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—HoganTaylor LLP.

31.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Jeffrey S. Schoen.

31.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Rodney D. Gloss.

32.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Jeffrey S. Schoen.

32.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Rodney D. Gloss.

101

The following financial information from Orchids Paper Products Company's Annual Report on Form 10- K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i)
Consolidated Statements of Income for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, (ii) Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, and (v) Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements.

#

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan

*

Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
80

Exhibit 10.14
INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT
This Indemnification Agreement (this "Agreement"), dated as of [____], is made by and between Orchids Paper Products
Company, a Delaware corporation (the "Company") and [_________] (the "Indemnitee"), an "agent" (as hereinafter defined) of the
Company.
RECITALS
A.
The Company recognizes that competent and experienced persons are reluctant to serve as directors or officers of
corporations unless they are protected by comprehensive liability insurance or indemnification, or both, due to increased exposure to
litigation costs and risks resulting from their service to such corporations, and due to the fact that the exposure frequently bears no
reasonable relationship to the compensation of such directors and officers;
B.
The statutes and judicial decisions regarding the duties of directors and officers are often difficult to apply, ambiguous, or
conflicting, and therefore fail to provide such directors and officers with adequate, reliable knowledge of legal risks to which they are
exposed or information regarding the proper course of action to take;
C.
The Company and the Indemnitee recognize that plaintiffs often seek damages in such large amounts and the costs of
litigation may be so enormous (whether or not the case is meritorious), that the defense and/or settlement of such litigation is often beyond
the personal resources of directors and officers;
D.
The Company believes that it is unfair for its directors and officers to assume the risk of huge judgments and other
expenses which may occur in cases in which the director or officer received no personal profit and in cases where the director or officer was
not culpable;
E.
The Company, after reasonable investigation, has determined that the liability insurance coverage presently available to
the Company may be inadequate to cover all possible exposure for which the Indemnitee should be protected. The Company believes that
the interests of the Company and its stockholders would best be served by a combination of such insurance and the indemnification by the
Company of the directors and officers of the Company;
F.
Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of Delaware ("Section 145"), under which the Company is organized,
empowers the Company to indemnify its officers, directors, employees and agents by agreement and to indemnify persons who serve, at the
request of the Company, as the directors, officers, managers, employees or agents of other corporations or enterprises, and expressly
provides that the indemnification provided by Section 145 is not exclusive;
G.
The Board of Directors has determined that contractual indemnification as set forth herein is not only reasonable and
prudent but necessary to promote the best interests of the Company and its stockholders;
1

H.
The Company desires and has requested the Indemnitee to serve or continue to serve as a director or officer of the
Company free from undue concern for claims for damages arising out of or related to such services to the Company; and
I.
The Indemnitee is willing to serve, or to continue to serve, the Company, only on the condition that he or she is furnished
the indemnity provided for herein.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth below, the parties hereto, intending to
be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:
1. Definitions.
(a) Agent. For purposes of this Agreement, "agent" of the Company means any person who is or was a director, officer,
manager, employee or other agent of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company; or is or was serving at the request of the Company or a
subsidiary of the Company as a director, officer, manager, employee or agent of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership,
limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise; or was a director, officer, manager, employee or agent of a foreign or
domestic corporation which was a predecessor corporation of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company; or was a director, officer,
manager, employee or agent of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise at the request of, for the convenience of, or to represent the interests of such predecessor corporation.
(b) Expenses. For purposes of this Agreement, "expenses" includes all direct and indirect costs of any type or nature whatsoever
(including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and related disbursements, other out-of-pocket costs and reasonable compensation
for time spent by the Indemnitee for which he or she is not otherwise compensated by the Company or any third party, provided that the
rate of compensation and estimated time involved is approved by the Board of Directors, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld), actually and reasonably incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement and/or appeal of a
proceeding or establishing or enforcing a right to indemnification under this Agreement, Section 145 or otherwise, excluding the amount of
any settlement, judgment, fine or penalty.
(c) Proceedings. For the purpose of this Agreement, "proceeding" shall include, without limitation, the investigation,
preparation, prosecution, defense, settlement, arbitration and appeal of, and the giving of testimony in, any threatened, pending or
completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative.
(d) Subsidiary. For purposes of this Agreement, "subsidiary" means any foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, limited
liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise of which more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities (or comparable
interests) are owned directly or indirectly by the Company, by the Company and one or more other subsidiaries, or by one or more other
subsidiaries.
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(e) Miscellaneous. For purposes of this Agreement, "other enterprise" shall include employee benefit plans; references to "fines"
shall include any excise tax assessed with respect to any employee benefit plans; references to "serving at the request of the Company"
shall include any service as a director, officer, manager, employee or agent of the Company which imposes duties on, or involves services
by, such director, officer, manager, employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants, or beneficiaries; and if the
Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner the Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in the best interest of the participants and
beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan, the Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in a manner "not opposed to the best interests of
the Company" as referred to in this Agreement.
(f) Company. "Company" shall include, in addition to the resulting corporation, any constituent corporation (including any
constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had power and
authority to indemnify its directors, officers, managers, employees or agents, so that if the Indemnitee is or was a director, officer, manager,
employee or agent of such constituent corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer,
manager, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, the
Indemnitee shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Agreement with respect to the resulting or surviving corporation as
the Indemnitee would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued.
2. Agreement to Serve. The Indemnitee agrees to serve and/or continue to serve as an agent of the Company, at its will (or under
separate agreement, if such agreement now or hereafter exists), in the capacity Indemnitee currently serves (or in such other positions which
he or she agrees to assume) as an agent of the Company, so long as he or she is duly appointed or elected and qualified in accordance with
the applicable provisions of the Bylaws of the Company, any subsidiary of the Company, or any applicable other foreign or domestic
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or until such time as he or she tenders his or her
resignation in writing, provided, however, that nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to create in Indemnitee any right to
continued employment in any capacity.
3. Indemnity in Third Party Proceedings. The Company shall indemnify the Indemnitee if the Indemnitee is a party to or
threatened to be made a party to or otherwise involved in any proceeding (other than a proceeding by or in the name of the Company to
procure judgment in its favor) by reason of the fact that the Indemnitee is or was an agent of the Company, or by reason of any act or
inaction by the Indemnitee in any such capacity, against any and all expenses and liabilities of any type whatsoever (including, but not
limited to, settlements, judgments, fines and penalties), actually and reasonably incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with such action,
suit or proceeding if the Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner the Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the
best interests of the Company, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the Indemnitee’s
conduct was unlawful. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo
contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the Indemnitee did not act in good faith and in a manner that the
Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company, or, with respect to any criminal action or
proceeding, that the Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that the Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful.
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4. Indemnity in Derivative Action. The Company shall indemnify the Indemnitee if the Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to
be made a party to any proceeding by or in the name of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that the
Indemnitee is or was an agent of the Company, or by reason of any action or inaction by the Indemnitee in any such capacity, against all
expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if the
Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner the Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
Company and its stockholders, except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which the
Indemnitee shall have been finally adjudicated by court order or judgment to be liable to the Company in the performance of the
Indemnitee’s duty to the Company and its stockholders unless and only to the extent that the court in which such action or proceeding is or
was pending shall determine upon application that, in view of all the circumstances of the case, the Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably
entitled to indemnity for such expenses which such court shall deem proper.
5. Indemnification of Expenses of Successful Party. To the extent that the Indemnitee has been successful on the merits or
otherwise in defense of any proceeding referred to in Section 3 or Section 4 or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, the
Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with the
investigation, defense or appeal of such proceeding.
6. Partial Indemnification. If the Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification by the
Company for some or a portion of the expenses, judgments, fines or penalties actually or reasonably incurred in the investigation, defense,
appeal or settlement of any civil or criminal proceeding, but is not entitled, however, to indemnification for the total amount thereof, the
Company shall nevertheless indemnify the Indemnitee for the portion of such expenses, judgments, fines or penalties to which the
Indemnitee is entitled.
7. Advancement of Expenses. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Company shall advance all expenses incurred by the
Indemnitee in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement and/or appeal of any proceeding referred to in Section 3 or Section 4
hereof (including amounts actually paid in settlement of any such action, suit or proceeding). The Indemnitee hereby undertakes to repay
such amounts advanced only if, and to the extent that, it shall ultimately be determined that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified
by the Company as authorized by this Agreement or otherwise. The advances to be made hereunder shall be paid by the Company to or on
behalf of the Indemnitee promptly and in any event within thirty (30) days following delivery of a written request therefor by the
Indemnitee to the Company.
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8. Notice and Other Indemnification Procedures.
(a) Promptly after receipt by the Indemnitee of notice of the commencement of or the threat of commencement of any
proceeding, the Indemnitee shall, if the Indemnitee believes that indemnification with respect thereto may be sought from the Company
under this Agreement, notify the Company of the commencement or threat of commencement thereof, provided that the failure to provide
such notification shall not diminish Indemnitee's indemnification hereunder, except to the extent that the Company can demonstrate that it
was actually prejudiced as a result thereof.
(b) Any indemnification requested by the Indemnitee under Section 3 and/or 4 hereof shall be made no later than forty-five (45)
days after receipt of the written request of Indemnitee unless a determination is made within said forty-five (45) day period (i) by the Board
of Directors of the Company by a majority vote of a quorum thereof consisting of directors who are not parties to such proceedings, or (ii)
in the event such quorum is not obtainable, at the election of the Company, either by independent legal counsel in a written opinion or by a
panel of arbitrators, one of whom is selected by the Company, another of whom is selected by the Indemnitee and the last of whom is
selected by the first two arbitrators so selected, that the Indemnitee has or has not met the relevant standard for indemnification set forth in
Section 3 and 4 hereof.
(c) Notwithstanding a determination under Section 8(b) above that the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification with respect
to any specific proceeding, the Indemnitee shall have the right to apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for the purpose of enforcing
the Indemnitee's right to indemnification pursuant to this Agreement. The burden of proving that the indemnification or advances are not
appropriate shall be on the Company. Neither the failure of the Company (including its Board of Directors or independent legal counsel or
the panel of arbitrators) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of such action that indemnification or advances are
proper in the circumstances because the Indemnitee has met theapplicable standard of conduct, nor an actual determination by the
Company (including its Board of Directors or independent legal counsel or the panel or arbitrators) that the Indemnitee has not met such
applicable standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create any presumption that the Indemnitee has or has not met the
applicable standard of conduct.
(d) The Company shall indemnify the Indemnitee against all expenses incurred in connection with any hearing or proceeding
under this Section 8 so long as such claims and/or defenses of the Indemnitee were made or asserted in good faith.
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9. Assumption of Defense. In the event the Company shall be obligated to pay the expenses of any proceeding against or
involving the Indemnitee, the Company, if appropriate, shall be entitled to assume the defense of such proceeding, with counsel approved
by the Indemnitee, upon the delivery to the Indemnitee of written notice of its election to do so. After delivery of such notice, approval of
such counsel by the Indemnitee and the retention of such counsel by the Company, the Company will not be liable to the Indemnitee under
this Agreement for any fees of counsel subsequently incurred by the Indemnitee with respect to the same proceeding, provided that: (i) the
Indemnitee shall have the right to employ his or her counsel in such proceeding at the Indemnitee's expense; and (ii) if (a) the employment
of counsel by the Indemnitee has been previously authorized by the Company, (b) the Indemnitee shall have reasonably concluded that
there may be a conflict of interest between the Company and the Indemnitee in the conduct of such defense, or (c) the Company shall not,
in fact, have employed counsel to assume the defense of such proceeding, the fees and expenses of the Indemnitee's counsel shall be at the
expense of the Company. The Company shall not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnitee, effect any settlement of any
threatened or pending action, suit or proceeding to which the Indemnitee is, or could have been, a party unless such settlement solely
involves the payment of money and includes a complete and unconditional release of the Indemnitee from all liability on any claims that are
the subject matter of such action, suit or proceeding. Neither the Company nor Indemnitee shall unreasonably withhold its consent to any
proposed settlement. The Indemnitee may withhold consent to any settlement that does not provide a complete and unconditional release of
the Indemnitee.
10. Insurance. The Company may, but is not obligated to, obtain directors' and officers' liability insurance ("D&O Insurance")
with respect to which the Indemnitee is named as an insured. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Agreement, the Company shall not
be obligated to indemnify the Indemnitee for expenses, judgments, settlements, fines or penalties, which have been paid directly to or on
behalf of the Indemnitee by D&O Insurance. If the Company has D&O Insurance in effect at the time the Company receives from the
Indemnitee any notice of the commencement of a proceeding, the Company shall give notice of the commencement of such proceeding to
the insurer in accordance with the procedures set forth in the policy. The Company shall thereafter take all necessary or desirable action to
cause such insurers to pay, to or on behalf of the Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such proceeding in accordance with the
terms of such policy.
11. Exceptions. Any other provision herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company shall not be obligated pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement:
(a) Claims Initiated by Indemnitee. To indemnify or advance expenses to the Indemnitee with respect to proceedings or claims
initiated or brought voluntarily by the Indemnitee and not by way of defense, except with respect to proceedings brought to establish or
enforce a right to indemnification under this Agreement or any other statute or law or otherwise as required under Section 145, but such
indemnification or advancement of expenses may be provided by the Company in specific cases if the Board of Directors finds it to be
appropriate; or
(b) Action for Indemnification. To indemnify the Indemnitee for any expenses incurred by the Indemnitee with respect to any
proceeding instituted by the Indemnitee to enforce or interpret this Agreement if the material assertions made by the Indemnitee in such
proceeding were not made in good faith or were frivolous; or
(c) Unauthorized Settlements. To indemnify the Indemnitee under this Agreement for any amounts paid in settlement of a
proceeding effected without the Company's written consent, provided such consent shall not unreasonably withheld; or
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(d) Non-compete and Non-disclosure. To indemnify the Indemnitee in connection with proceedings or claims involving the
enforcement of non-compete and/or non-disclosure agreements or the non-compete and/or non-disclosure provisions of employment,
consulting or similar agreements the Indemnitee may be a party to with the Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any other
applicable foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, if any; or
(e) Claims under Section 16(b). To indemnify the Indemnitee for expenses or the payment of profits arising from the purchase
and sale by the Indemnitee of securities in violation of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any similar
successor statute; or
(f) Amounts Otherwise Covered. To indemnify the Indemnitee under this Agreement for any amounts indemnified by the
Company other than pursuant to this Agreement or amounts paid to or for the benefit of Indemnitee by D&O Insurance pursuant to Section
10 hereof.
12. Nonexclusivity. The provisions for indemnification and advancement of expenses set forth in this Agreement shall not be
deemed exclusive of, but shall be in addition to and shall not be deemed to diminish or otherwise restrict, any other rights which the
Indemnitee may have under any provision of law, the Company's Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, in any court in which a proceeding
is brought, the vote of the Company's stockholders or disinterested directors, other agreements or otherwise, both as to action in his or her
official capacity and to action in another capacity while occupying his or her position as an agent of the Company. To the extent applicable
law or the Company's Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws permit greater indemnification than as provided for in this Agreement, the
parties hereto agree that Indemnitee shall enjoy by this Agreement the greater benefits so afforded by such law or provision of Certificate
of Incorporation or Bylaws, and this Agreement shall be deemed amended without any further action by the Company or Indemnitee to
grant such greater benefits.
13. Settlement. The Company shall not settle any proceeding in any manner that would impose any fine or other obligation on
Indemnitee without the Indemnitee's written consent. Neither the Company nor Indemnitee will unreasonably withhold consent to any
proposed settlement.
14. Subrogation. In the event of payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment
to all of the rights of recovery of the Indemnitee, who shall execute all documents required and shall do all acts that may reasonably be
necessary to secure such rights and to enable the Company to effectively bring suit to enforce such rights.
15. Severability. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to require or shall be construed as requiring the Company to do or fail to
do any act in violation of applicable law. The Company’s inability, pursuant to court order, to perform its obligations under this Agreement
shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement shall be severable as provided in this Section 15. If this
Agreement or any portion hereof shall be invalidated on any ground by any court of competent jurisdiction, then the Company shall
nevertheless indemnify Indemnitee to the full extent permitted by any applicable portion of this Agreement that shall not have been
invalidated, and the balance of this Agreement not so invalidated shall be enforceable in accordance with its terms.
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16. Modification and Waiver. No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in
writing by both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions to this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of
any other provision hereof (whether or not similar) nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver.
17. Continuance of Rights; Successor and Assigns. The Indemnitee's rights hereunder shall continue after the Indemnitee has
ceased acting as an agent of the Company. The terms of this Agreement shall bind, and shall inure to the benefit of, the successor and
assigns of the parties hereto.
18. Notice. All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
deemed duly given (i) if delivered by hand and receipted for by the party addressee, (ii) if mailed by certified or registered mail with
postage prepaid, on the third business day after the mailing date, or (iii) if transmitted electronically by a means by which receipt thereof
can be demonstrated. Addresses for notice to either party are set out on the signature page hereof and may be subsequently modified by
written notice.
19. Supersedes Prior Agreement. This Agreement supersedes any prior indemnification agreement between Indemnitee and the
Company or its predecessors.
20. Interpretation of Agreement. It is understood that the parties hereto intend this Agreement to be interpreted and enforced so
as to provide indemnification to the Indemnitee to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted by law.
21. Service of Process and Venue. For purposes of any claims or proceeding to enforce this agreement, the Company consents to
the jurisdiction and venue of any federal or state court of competent jurisdiction in the state of Delaware, and waives and agrees not to raise
any defense that any such court is an inconvenient forum or any similar claim.
22. Governing Law. This Agreement and all acts and transactions pursuant hereto and the rights and obligations of the parties
hereto shall be governed, construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to principles
of conflict of law.
[Signature Page Follows]
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The parties hereto have executed this Agreement effective as of the day and year set forth on the first page of this Agreement.
ORCHIDS PAPER PRODUCTS COMPANY
By
Name:
Title:
Address:
Indemnitee:
By
Name:
Address:
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Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Orchids Mexico DE Holdings, LLC (DE), holding company for OPP Acquisition Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
Orchids Mexico DE Member, LLC (DE), holding company for OPP Acquisition Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
OPP Acquisition Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (Mexico)
Orchids Paper Products Company of South Carolina (DE)
Orchids Lessor SC, LLC (DE)

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements (No. 333-128293, 333-152815, and 333-195955) on Form S-8 and
in Registration Statements (No. 333-181817 and 333-206663) on Form S-3 of Orchids Paper Products Company of our report dated
March 15, 2017, relating to our audits of the consolidated financial statements, the financial statement schedules and internal control over
financial reporting, which appear in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Orchids Paper Products Company for the year ended
December 31, 2016.
/s/ HoganTaylor LLP
Tulsa, Oklahoma
March 15, 2017

Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302
I, Jeffrey S. Schoen, certify that:
1.
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Orchids Paper Products Company (the “Registrant”) for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2016;
2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;
4.
The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2017

/s/ Jeffrey S. Schoen
Jeffrey S. Schoen
Chief Executive Officer and President

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302
I, Rodney D. Gloss, certify that:
1.
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Orchids Paper Products Company (the “Registrant”) for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2016;
2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;
4.
The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2017

/s/ Rodney D. Gloss
Rodney D. Gloss
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906
In connection with the Annual Report of Orchids Paper Products Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2016 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jeffrey S. Schoen, Chief
Executive Officer and President of the Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date: March 15, 2017

/s/ Jeffrey S. Schoen
Jeffrey S. Schoen
Chief Executive Officer and President

Exhibit 32.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906
In connection with the Annual Report of Orchids Paper Products Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2016 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Rodney D. Gloss, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title
18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date: March 15, 2017

/s/ Rodney D. Gloss
Rodney D. Gloss
Chief Financial Officer

